
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




R00407 10/16/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 10/16/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 9/30/07 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


Administration


Administration Total:  3,650,041  1,294,204  2,355,837


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total:  667,445  382,971  284,474


Energy Efficiency Programs


Aspen Systems Corporation Production Efficiency PMC 7/1/05 12/31/07 31,196,550  25,160,830  6,035,720


Conservation Services Group, Inc. Home Energy Savings PMC 6/1/05 12/31/07 27,235,737  14,584,483  12,651,254


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/10 19,090,000  9,074,123  10,015,877


Aspen Systems Corporation Building Efficiency PMC 7/1/05 12/31/07 16,133,900  12,570,504  3,563,396


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. New Homes and Products - 


PMC


1/1/07 12/31/08 8,325,265  5,351,648  2,973,617


Science Applications International 


Corporation


NBE - PMC 1/1/06 12/31/07 7,460,911  5,787,397  1,673,514


Nexus Energy Software Internet Energy Audit 4/27/04 4/26/08 584,000  544,429  39,571


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment 


Fund


1/1/07 12/31/08 300,000  150,000  150,000


Multiple Cntractors Solar Water Heating  296,051  192,876  103,175


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 12/31/07 261,586  70,500  191,086


Research Into Action, Inc. PE Process & Impact 


Evaluation


8/6/07 4/30/08 220,000  5,180  214,820


ECONorthwest HES Impact & Process Eval. 5/25/07 2/28/08 210,000  10,348  199,652


ADM Associates, Inc. BE Impact Evaluation 1/26/06 9/30/07 190,000  135,808  54,192


HST&V, LLC PE Impact Evaluation 12/1/05 9/30/07 180,000  178,547  1,453


ADM Associates, Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation 8/1/06 9/30/07 150,000  68,876  81,124


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 8/15/10 137,500  59,117  78,383


J. Hruska Global HES QA Services 2/21/06 12/31/07 100,000  78,276  21,724


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 90,000  47,144  42,856


Opinion Dynamics Corporation ENH Process Evaluation 11/15/06 12/31/07 75,500  68,638  6,862


Northern Enterprises, LLC dba 


Sears DS No. 3409


Low Income Refrigerators 7/1/07 11/30/07 74,250  0  74,250


Ecotope, Inc. New Comm. Bldg. Baseline 


eval


6/20/06 9/30/07 74,000  58,000  16,000


Dethman & Associates BTU Program Evaluation 12/1/05 9/30/07 54,000  53,187  813


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Regional HVAC Forum 


Research


10/16/06 10/15/07 41,000  41,000  0


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 3/31/08 39,300  14,563  24,737


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Reg'l Technical Forum Sponsor. 2/28/07 2/27/08 35,000  35,000  0


Thornton Energy, Inc. dba Thornton 


Energy Consulting


Casey Project Energy Star 


LEED


4/1/07 12/31/07 25,000  1,980  23,020


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


OHSU Bldg Performance 


Review


4/19/07 6/30/08 17,000  0  17,000


HST&V, LLC Monitor SP Newsprint 


Megaprjct


4/1/07 10/31/07 15,000  3,114  11,886


Lane Community College Scholarship agreement 1/1/07 12/31/07 14,400  0  14,400


Lewis Consulting, LLC Six Sigma training program PE 8/27/07 11/30/07 13,600  1,700  11,900


Conservation Services Group New Construct HVAC Pilot 1/1/07 6/29/07 11,610  11,061  550


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2007 EE survey sponsorship 3/27/07 3/26/08 5,000  5,000  0


Entercom Portland, LLC Radio Commercials w/PECI 7/15/07 12/15/07 2,750  8,250 -5,500


Energy Efficiency Total:  112,658,910  74,371,579  38,287,332


Joint Programs


Active Telesource, Inc. Call Center Services 5/1/04 4/30/08 1,435,000  624,516  810,484


Quantum Consulting, Inc. Evaluation Services 8/1/04 8/31/07 350,000  314,876  35,124


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/07 62,000  25,747  36,253


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 52,440  17,391  35,049


RLW Analytics, Inc. Evaluation services 9/1/05 9/30/07 51,000  48,859  2,141







R00407 10/16/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 10/16/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 9/30/07 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 3/31/08 48,110  9,837  38,273


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/07 38,500  0  38,500


Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 4/30/08 33,040  33,040  0


Quantec, LLC Evaluation Consultant Services 1/1/06 10/31/07 21,700  13,763  7,938


HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 17,550  9,945  7,606


Brien Sipe Professional Services 5/1/07 12/31/07 15,000  7,230  7,770


Dorothy Payton Solar services 12/23/05 12/31/07 15,000  13,966  1,034


Joint Programs Total:  2,139,340  1,119,168  1,020,172


Renewable Energy Program


Portland General Electric PGE Bigelow Phase 1 6/18/07 6/30/28 6,000,000  0  6,000,000


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East 9/20/06 12/31/07 4,500,000  0  4,500,000


Multiple Cntractors Solar Electric  2,054,465  1,142,995  911,470


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 7/21/26 1,685,088  0  1,685,088


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 2/17/25 475,000  0  475,000


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


2/24/06 3/13/28 362,000  0  362,000


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 2/21/08 341,266  314,842  26,424


Oregon State University Anemometer Loan Program 10/1/02 9/30/07 235,906  235,906  0


RIMCO, LLC OHSU River Campus 58 kW 


PV


9/1/05 9/1/25 186,910  186,910  0


SmartPower, Inc. Market Research Consultant 6/26/07 10/31/07 93,000  75,000  18,000


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/07 87,700  74,261  13,439


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/1/26 79,815  30,761  49,054


Evergreen Energy Corporation RE consultant services 4/1/06 12/31/07 78,200  83,838 -5,638


David Barenberg dba Barenberg & 


Associates


Professional Services - RE 5/10/07 4/30/08 60,000  24,925  35,075


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


(5) PGE PV Demo Projects 9/25/06 12/31/07 55,500  22,200  33,300


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 3/31/08 50,500  9,450  41,050


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 7/14/08 49,600  0  49,600


RHT Energy Solutions RE Consultant Services 12/1/06 12/31/07 42,500  32,900  9,600


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 5 (2008) 7/1/07 6/30/08 38,391  9,598  28,793


City of Portland Bureau of 


Maintenance


Sunderland Yard Wind System 4/28/05 4/28/25 36,117  0  36,117


Hood River County Biomass Feasibility Study 12/27/06 12/14/07 36,000  0  36,000


Selma Community & Education 


Center


7kW PV Three Rivers School 12/10/04 12/10/29 35,000  0  35,000


Columbia Energy Partners, LLC Interconnection Study Grant 9/20/06 9/30/07 35,000  10,000  25,000


Hat Trick Energy & Environmental 


Consulting, LLC


RE Professional Services 4/27/07 4/30/08 34,200  28,025  6,175


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 5/25/27 32,500  0  32,500


City of Astoria Public Works Dept Astoria Hydro/Wind feasibility 3/8/07 8/31/07 25,000  0  25,000


Multnomah Board of County 


Commissioners


Wind Power feasibility study 8/29/07 6/1/08 25,000  0  25,000


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 12/31/22 24,125  0  24,125


Greater Applegate Community 


Development Corporation


Applegate Biopower Feasibility 10/2/06 12/21/07 23,963  0  23,963


Inland Pacific Energy Center LLC IPEC Biomass Feasibility Study 11/7/06 12/14/07 23,000  0  23,000


Hood River County Hydropower Feasibility Study 1/30/07 1/15/08 22,000  0  22,000


Water Environment Services, A 


Dept. of Clackamas County


Clackamas Water  biofeasibilty 6/4/07 9/30/07 21,500  0  21,500


Talent Irrigation District Talent Irrigation Hydro Study 2/15/07 3/1/08 20,000  0  20,000


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant 5/9/06 12/31/07 19,845  7,355  12,490


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/07 17,400  16,388  1,013


Oregon Cherry Growers, Inc. bio feasibility study 8/28/07 1/15/08 16,188  0  16,188


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/07 15,000  4,984  10,016


City of Woodburn Woodburn WWTP Feasibility 6/7/07 12/1/07 13,266  0  13,266


Warren Griffin Griffen Wind Project 10/1/05 10/1/20 13,150  1,070  12,080







R00407 10/16/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 10/16/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 9/30/07 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service 12/6/05 12/31/07 13,000  10,753  2,247


Northwest SEED Gervais Biopower USDA App. 12/1/06 12/31/07 12,467  12,467  0


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/07 11,400  5,637  5,763


Boise White Paper, LLC bio cogen feasibility study 9/12/07 12/31/07 9,540  0  9,540


Stimson Lumber Company bio cogen feasibility study 9/13/07 12/31/07 9,127  0  9,127


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 5/31/08 8,000  0  8,000


OSEIA-Oregon Solar Energy 


Industries Assoc


OSEIA Funding Grant 5/25/07 1/31/08 6,000  6,000  0


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy fund 


MOU


10/4/06 10/31/08 5,000  0  5,000


China Hollow, LLC China Hollow 9006 grant 4/2/07 12/31/07 4,400  3,960  440


David W. McClain RETAA 5/11/07 4/30/08 3,125  0  3,125


Sherman County Alley Community Wind Farm 9/4/07 10/31/07 2,500  2,500  0


Sherman County Brown Community Wind Farm 9/4/07 10/31/07 2,500  2,500  0


Renewable Energy Total:  17,051,154  2,355,224  14,695,931


 136,166,890  79,523,145  56,643,745Grand Totals:








 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated October 31, 2007 
 
Administrative Costs 


• Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly 
attributed to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach 
expenses 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, board, 


human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational management 
costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G does 


receive an allocated share of such expenses.) 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the organization 
and general public awareness.  


• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based upon an 


allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the pool.  
• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for accounting 


efficiency purposes. 
• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer management (call 


center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, complaint tracking, etc). The 
accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that benefited by using the ratio of calls into 
the call center by program (i.e. the allocation base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 10/31/07   


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the board 


of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, and certifying 
that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding specific 
items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements present 
an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s financial 
records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a qualified 
opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in their 


annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a designated 


category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward for expenditure to 
the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied against the 
cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked by 


program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later financial 


period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later financial 


period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 10/31/07   


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from both a 


utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and societal 


cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program costs 


plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual program/project; or 
can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total program 


funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining program 


funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a cost 


pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned to  
Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still “owned” by 
Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred out of 
the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the income statement 
for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have been 
received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive payments, 
with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy savings, 
incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 







Financial Glossary updated 10/31/07   


4 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or application 
has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be documented by programs 
using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that have 
reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive dollars until 
project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion date by project and 
by service territory must be documented in project records and in FastTrack. If project not 
demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed funds return to incentive 
pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of forecasted 


incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for payment for 


utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures in the homes or apartments of such residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as defined 


above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy measure. 
(Proposal to merge this category with Service incentives once method to determine tax 
status incorporated into FastTrack rather than requiring GL coding.) 


• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 
III. Service Incentives 


• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the final cost 
to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy 
measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home reviews and 
technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency practices 
proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or high efficiency 
lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of services 


and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC diagnosis, air 
filtration, etc. 


 
Indirect Costs 


• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning individual 
charges to programs.  


• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and depreciation. 


 
 







Financial Glossary updated 10/31/07   


5 


IT Support Services  
• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking support of 


PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized through the 


program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, quality 


assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, program 
coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management contractors under 


contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer maintenance and 


general renewable energy consulting 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a program-


specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff management, 


etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 
Program Marketing/Outreach 


• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 
communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 


• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit to the 


public. 
 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a particular 


program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 







Financial Glossary updated 10/31/07   


6 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support costs. 


Ø Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
Ø Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following categories:  


supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; occupancy expenses; 
insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; conferences and training; depreciation 
and amortization; dues, licenses, subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll 
& related expense; outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology 
department cost. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data entry 
by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on deemed 
savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for custom measures.  
They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used for 
public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution factors, 
evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working values. These 
values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during the “true-up” as a 
result of new information or identified errors. 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings at the 
time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to arrive at this 
number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is agreed to at the beginning 
of the contract year and is applied to all program measures.  This is based on the sum of the 
adjustments between working and reportable numbers in the forecast developed for the 
program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more accurate 
savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These factors are 
determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. The factors are 
determined based on the best available information from: 
• Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over effects 


and measure impacts to date; and  
• Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from electric measure 


savings.  
 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track funds 
spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration costs 
to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


 
 







Financial Glossary updated 10/31/07   


7 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of administration 


(management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for nonprofits, 


administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade ally 
network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies associated 
with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as call 
center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center per 
month. 


 
True Up 


• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how much 
energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic performance and 
our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data factor), 
anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of similar programs 
have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual evaluations of the program 
and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up Report 
(for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 years, 
especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the savings are updated 
through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








 
 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
Oct. 16, 2007, 3:00-5:00 pm 
 
Attending: Jason Eisdorfer, Tom Foley, John Reynolds, Margie Harris, Fred Gordon, Sue Meyer 
Sample, Steve Lacey and John Volkman 
 
1. Discount rate/cost-effectiveness policy: Discount rates affect Energy Trust evaluations of 
the cost-effectiveness of measures and programs, budget, and reporting. They are a key variable 
in evaluating whether Energy Trust is meeting the OPUC’s levelized cost performance measure. 
The discount rate issue will have a significant effect on the 2008 Energy Trust budget. Staff 
hopes to get board approval of a change in the discount rate at the November 14 meeting.  
 
Discount rates allow us to compare the value of energy resources with different lives and costs. 
For example, energy conservation is mostly purchased up front, when measures are installed. A 
low discount rate, like the 3% rate that Energy Trust uses, says that conservation’s future value 
will stay relatively high. A higher discount rate leads to a lower estimate of future value. 
Analytically, this may make a small difference for measures with shorter lives (like CFLs), and 
much more for measures with longer lives (like insulation). Each utility IRP uses a slightly 
different discount rate. Energy Trust uses yet another, much lower rate.  
  
OPUC staff would like the Energy Trust to use a discount rate and other assumptions that are 
consistent with those used in utility integrated resource plans (IRPs), including factors that affect 
utility system avoided costs. Under SB 838, additional Energy Trust funding will be based on 
IRPs, so consistency will assure that our funding and our investments are made on a consistent 
basis. We discussed this issue with OPUC staff in April, and since then the two staffs have 
continued to talk in a broader process in which Energy Trust, the utilities, and PUC staff are 
trying to reach agreement on avoided cost.  
 
The avoided cost discussions addressed factors such as avoided fuel and construction costs, 
savings from avoided T&D construction, avoided power delivery, CO2 benefits, the 10% 
conservation advantage from the regional power act, and hedge value of efficiency. Our 
expectation is that the avoided cost discussions will (discount rates aside) show higher avoided 
costs. However, the discussion is likely to take some time to work out.  
 
In the avoided cost discussions, staff reached tentative agreement on a 5.2% (real) discount rate. 
This is close to the utilities’ discount rates. Staff is comfortable with using this rate in cost-
effectiveness analysis if the OPUC raises its levelized cost performance measure for Energy 
Trust going forward. While this has an effect on the cost-effectiveness of measures in different 
sectors, the effect is not large and we do not expect to recommend sector changes. 
 
The policy committee is reluctant to adopt a higher discount rate without assurance of this 
change in levelized cost. It would be better to link changes in the discount rate with the other 
changes. Staff thinks that increasing the levelized cost performance measure from 2 cents to 3-
3.5 cents on an interim basis pending more definitive resolution of avoided cost issues would be 
reasonable. The increase is warranted by the reality that as we go after significantly more 
efficiency, measures are more expensive even though they are still cost-effective. For example, 







Policy Committee Notes  October 16, 2007 


2 


we expect to include home insulation as a measure if we receive supplemental efficiency funds. 
We expect our levelized cost to rise from 2.1 to 2.9 cents with supplemental funding and 
measures. This trend is well understood in Oregon and nationally. 
 
Staff feels a need to resolve the discount rate issue so it can prepare a 2008 budget. We would 
not actually use a different discount rate in cost-effectiveness screening until we reach 
agreement with the OPUC on other adjustments to avoided cost, factoring risk, etc. Staff 
proposes to check with OPUC staff before it makes a recommendation to the board. If we have 
sufficient assurance that the levelized cost performance measure for 2008 will increase along the 
lines discussed above, staff would recommend changing the board’s cost-effectiveness policy at 
the next board meeting along the lines of the attachment, so we can settle this issue for 
purposes of the 2008 budget. 
 
2. Budget: Work on the 2008 budget is still in progress. Margie will make a presentation at 
the RAC and CAC tomorrow. At this point, the budget is based on revenues from the 3% and 
gas charges because we don’t know how much or when supplemental efficiency funds may 
materialize. The budget appears to balance; we expect to largely eliminate carryover in the 
electric budget and reduce it on the gas side. Demand for solar has gone way up and we will 
have to figure out how to ration limited funds. Jason suggested Margie mention in her 
presentation not just that climate change significantly changes the context for our work, but that 
carbon regulation is likely to be in place in the next few years. 
 
3. Briefs: Updates on issues associated with program and SB 838 implementation:  


• SB 838 efficiency funding: Staff have worked with utilities on their proposals for 
supplemental efficiency funding. PGE’s lost-revenue proposal may raise concerns 
with some parties. Pacific Power’s proposal appears to be straightforward. Both are 
expected to be filed this month. 


• SB 838’s requirement that renewable funds be used only for the cost of 
“constructing and operating” projects of 20 megawatts and less in size. The OPUC 
has issued proposed rules defining this phrase. Basically, the proposal says that the 
authority to pay above-market costs to construct and operate projects refers to the 
cost developers would expect to incur for specific projects. Other costs such as 
market development and program delivery are authorized under another section of 
the law. 


• Carbon credits: We have scheduled a meeting for Oct. 26th to scope this subject 
with Bill Nesmith, Lori Koho and the strategic planning committee. After that 
meeting, we will report back to the Policy Committee. 


 







Policy Committee Notes  October 16, 2007 


3 


ATTACHMENT 
 


 
 


 
 


4.06.000-P Cost-Effectiveness Policy and General 
Methodology for the Energy Trust of Oregon 
 


History 


Source Date Action/Notes Next Review 
Date 


Board Decision February 27, 2002 Approved (R83) March 22, 2002 


Board March 22, 2002 Reviewed, Revised  April 3, 2002 


Board April 3, 2002 Reviewed, Revised 
(Minutes) 


April 2005 


Board September 7, 2005 Revised (R353) September 2008 
 
Introduction 
 
The Energy Trust of Oregon seeks a future that includes sufficient, stable, and affordable power 
available to all customers through sustained investment in energy efficiency and renewable 
resources that reduce the economic and environmental costs of using gas and electricity. To 
properly evaluate such investments, the Energy Trust of Oregon (Trust) evaluates energy saving 
projects and measures and analyzes how to compare their economic cost compares to 
alternative sources of gas and electric energy. In the past the Oregon Public Utility Commission 
(OPUC), the Northwest Power and Conservation Council (NWPPCC) and the Northwest 
Energy Efficiency Alliance (Alliance) have all used similar approaches and assumptions to analyze 
the cost-effectiveness of energy efficiency investments. This policy encompasses three generic 
perspectives – Consumer, Utility System, and Societal. It describes the key variables or 
economic model inputs that define these perspectives and allow the analyst to compare the cost 
of energy efficiency to conventional sources of gas and electrical energy.  
 
Policy  
 
The Energy Trust of Oregon adopts the Utility and Societal perspectives, as described below, as 
its primary perspectives for evaluating energy efficiency projects. It will also use the utility-
system perspective as an additional tool to assure that the kWh saved per dollar invested by the 
Trust is reasonable. The Consumer perspective is used to help design projects. 
 
The societal cost definition is in alignment with the OPUC docket no. UM-551’s definition of 
Total Resource Cost (Societal) perspective as including total costs and total benefits in cost 
effectiveness calculations. The following costs will be included in the societal perspective: 


1. Trust incentives paid to the participant  







Policy Committee Notes  October 16, 2007 


4 


2. Trust administrative costs  
3. Monitoring, evaluation and non-incentive costs of PMCs and Energy Trust staff  
4. Oregon and local government  administrative costs associated with incentives 
5. The participants remaining out-of-pocket costs for the installed cost of the measures 


 
The cost of tax credits to the State of Oregon will not be included, because they are considered 
to be a transfer, not a net cost to society. However, to the extent that they are significant, the 
administrative costs of those tax credits will be considered. 
 
The Energy Trust will include the following benefits: 


1. the value of the electrical and/or gas energy saved based on (1) the Regional Technical 
Forum long-term forecast of wholesale market prices for electricity and (2) the NW 
Natural gas price forecast for gas, as long as it is reasonably consistent with the Regional 
Technical Forum forecast of gas prices for power plant fuel.  


2. non-energy benefits as quantified by a reasonable and practical method and described in 
situations where they cannot practically be quantified  


3. for electricity, bulk system transmission capacity benefits (both line loss and avoided 
transmission construction.  


4. for electricity, transmission and distribution benefits, both line losses and avoided 
Transmission and Distribution construction.  


5. natural gas capacity benefits are of a lesser magnitude and difficult to quantify, so the 
Energy Trust will not quantify them. Natural gas delivery loss benefits are also modest in 
magnitude. Local delivery losses will be considered to the extent that they are included 
in NW Natural price forecasts. Gas transmission losses are difficult to quantify and will 
be described.  


 
In addition, the Energy Trust will apply in its analysis the 10% credit for energy efficiency as 
required under the Northwest Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-551. This credit 
recognizes the benefits of conservation in addressing risk and uncertainty. 
 
Both the Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-551 also suggest consideration of external costs 
such as environmental costs associated with air pollution. The Trust will initially use a credit of 
$15.00 per ton of carbon dioxide and will update that figure as information improves. 
 
Methodology 
 
The following additional decisions have been made about implementation of this policy: 
• For the near-term, the Pro-cost model, using marginal costs from the Aurora model, will be 


used to analyze the costs and savings of efficiency programs. The selection and specifics of 
these tools will be updated as time, resources, and opportunities permit to maximize 
transparency, time-dependent variations in resource value, and reasonableness. 


• The Energy Trust of Oregon will adopt a 5.2% discount rate for comparing the costs and 
benefits of efficiency investments to other investments.  


• The Energy Trust of Oregon will develop estimates of line losses specific to Oregon based 
on prior utility filings if this provides an improvement over Regional Technical Forum 
estimates, and then update these with better information when it is available. 


 
The Energy Trust of Oregon will investigate the use of data from prior PGE and PacifiCorp 
filings to enhance estimates used by the RTF for avoided transmission and distribution costs 







Policy Committee Notes  October 16, 2007 


5 


attributable to efficiency measures. The Energy Trust of Oregon will work over the next several 
months with PGE, PacifiCorp, the NWPPC, and others to improve these estimates. 
 
The economic comparison will be presented as a benefit-to-cost ratio except for the consumer 
perspective that (for reference) will be presented as a two simple payback, one with non-
electric benefits and one without non-electric benefits. The final decision on cost effectiveness 
will be based on the benefit-to-cost ratio for the Societal and Utility System perspectives (must 
pass both if data permits use of both) over the appropriate project period along with 
description and Board consideration of non-quantified costs and benefits. The Energy Trust will 
also consider other factors in selecting programs, as specified in the various strategic and action 
planning documents of the Energy Trust. 
 
The cost-effectiveness analysis will include impact on the action of customers who do not 
directly participate and long term market effects (e.g., impact on long-term price, sales, or 
efficacy of efficient technologies beyond the direct program participants) for projects where 
such effects are a significant and likely result. 
 
In conclusion, an Energy Trust project should be reviewed from both the Utility system and the 
Societal perspectives, and if the Societal benefit-to-cost ratio is greater than 1.0, it should be 
considered cost effective. 
 
 
 Adopted on September 7, 2005, by the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors 
 








E:\BOARD PACKETS\2007 Files\07 11 14\Final\Evaluation Committee Report October 2007.doc 


 
 


 
Evaluation Committee Report 
October 19, 2007 
 
Evaluation Committee Notes 
 
The Evaluation Committee met on October 19, 2007, with Debbie Kitchin, chair; Alan Meyer, 
board member;  Philipp Degens, Evaluation Manager; Phillip Kelsven, Evaluation Analyst;  Steve 
Lacey, Director of Energy Efficiency;  Matt Braman; Planning Analyst; Danielle Gidding, Planning 
Analyst; Tom Eckman, Northwest Power and Conservation Council;  Ken Keating,  Evaluation 
Expert.  For the first agenda item also present was: Kendall Youngblood, Residential Sector 
manager, Julie Van Dyne, PECI; Marissa O’Brien, PECI; and Spencer Moersfelder, Business 
Sector Manager was present for the last item on the agenda.  The meeting began at 10:00 AM 
with an overview of the meeting’s agenda.   
 
Phillip Kelsven presented the 2006-2007 Energy Star Homes Process Evaluation.  The evaluation 
documents the program’s structure, goals, and performance as well as provides 
recommendations on how to improve the program.  The evaluation’s highlights include: 
 


• The overall housing market slowdown is affecting the Energy Star Homes program 
• Satisfaction is high among program staff, strategic partners, builders, and consumers 
• Consumer awareness of Energy Star Homes is moderate among single family home 


buyers and high among manufactured home buyers 
• Move to market verification is going slower than expected 


 
Recommendations include: 
 


• Provide actual housing numbers and relative proportions of the market to add context 
to the report 


• Increase marketing to consumers to stimulate demand for Energy Star Homes 
• Change program goals from a raw number of homes or savings to something like a 


percent of market share or some other figure which is not simply a reflection of the 
health of the overall housing market 


• Continue to train and educate real estate agents about the benefits of Energy Star 
Homes 


• Work to get verifiers other than Earth Advantage into the market 
 
Discussion about the evaluation included: 
 


• Earth Advantage being the only market verifier is not a significant problem 
• Energy Trust should coordinate with NEEA on marketing to consumers 
• Re-consider the amount of effort and incentives provided to the manufactured housing 


market. 
• Lack of awareness of Energy Star Homes among Energy Star home buyers is 


disappointing 







Evaluation Committee Report    October 19, 2007 


 2 


 
Phil Degens presented results of the Energy Trust Economic Impacts report.  The report 
analyzes the impact that 2006 Energy Trust programs and spending have on the Oregon 
economy.  Highlights of the report include:   
 


• The base case is if the System Benefits Charge funding is returned to utility customers 
to spend 


• As a result of Energy Trust programs and spending: Oregon output increased by $38 
million, 400 jobs were created, wages increased by $12 million, business income 
increased by $3 million. 


 
Discussion about the evaluation include: 
 


• The numbers are too precise for a model that estimates economic impacts 
• The reason for doing the study is to inform policy makers of the effects of Energy Trust 


on the Oregon economy 
• Energy Trust spending on program administration and implementation is more likely to 


stay in the Oregon economy than if is returned to consumers 
 
Phil Degens presented results of the Infrared Radiant Heater Study for Building Energy Efficiency 
and New Building Efficiency Programs.  The report analyzes the validity of savings estimates and 
studies the decision to install radiant heating.  Highlights of the report include:   
 


• Simulation modeling validates Energy Trust savings estimates 
• Free ridership for Existing Buildings is 15% and 46% for New Buildings.  Spillover is 8% 


for Existing Buildings. These estimates were based on a small sample. 
• Knowledge of the BETC is high and played a role in the decision to install radiant 


heaters 
• Keep providing incentive for radiant heaters 


 
Discussion about the study included: 
 


• The savings estimates should be presented in the report 
• Is it possible that including radiant heaters can add to overall building energy load?  Only 


a couple of sites that added radiant heaters to an area that would remain un-heated can 
cancel out savings 


 
Phil Degens presented results of the Monitoring and Evaluation of the SP Newsprint 
Megaproject.  The report summarizes early evaluation efforts of this megaproject.  Highlights of 
the report include:   
 


• Savings estimates are 7.5% (6.7 MW) 
• Project success is dependent upon wastepaper stream which is in high demand 
• Monthly data from plant is provided which is sufficient but not optimal for proper 


evaluation of the project, daily data from plant operations is needed 
• Savings estimates probably are overly optimistic due to assumptions made in the savings 


calculation 
 
Discussion about the study included: 







Evaluation Committee Report    October 19, 2007 


 3 


 
• Energy Trust should be provided with the proper data for evaluation given that a $1 


million incentive was provided 
• A motor load assumption of 100% is likely an incorrect assumption 
• Savings estimates need to be realistic 


 
Phil Degens presented results of the Retrocommissioning (RCx) portion of the Building Tune up 
and Operations Process Evaluation.  The evaluation documents the program’s structure and 
performance as well as provides recommendations on how to improve the program.  Highlights 
of the report include:   
 


• PMC recruited 8 buildings into the program by June 2006, and 6 buildings implemented 
measures 


• Service providers are satisfied and believe a sustained role for them in projects would 
benefit program 


• 3 out of 4 participants are satisfied with program, with 1 being neutral 
• Participants received the most value from the retrocommissioning study 
• Continue incentives for retrocommissioning in the Existing Buildings program 


 
Discussion about the study included: 
 


• It is hard to get building owners to talk about retrocommissioning 
• It is important to get experts to sell the program to building owners 
• Retrocommissioning has long timelines  


 
The Evaluation Committee meeting concluded at 1:20 PM. 
 
The next Evaluation Committee is scheduled for December 14, 2007 from 10:00-1:00. 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 


 








 


 
 
 
Staff Report 
November 14, 2007 


This report from Margie Harris is on behalf of all staff and spans the period September 17, 2007, 
through October 26, 2007. Items not otherwise addressed in this board packet are described 
here. 


General 
• Collaborated with PGE and Pacific Power to update estimated projections of additional 


conservation costs and savings for their OPUC energy efficiency plan filings seeking 
incremental funding for customers under 1 aMW 


• Margie spoke about the Energy Trust of third-party delivery to a variety of audiences 
interested in learning about our model and results. Forums included elected officials 
from throughout the country at the Council for State Governments-West; the Green 
and High Performance Buildings conference; the American Council for an Energy 
Efficient Economy - Energy Efficiency as a Resource Conference; the NW Energy 
Coalition 26th Anniversary Meeting; and, the San Diego Regional Economic 
Development Commission visit to Portland. 


• Margie shared remarks with Greg Abel, Mid American Holdings Company, PacifiCorp 
CEO, Pat Reiten and Vice President Community Relations, Pat Egan at the well-attended 
October 23rd key business customer breakfast sponsored by Pacific Power  


• Energy Trust, NW Energy Efficiency Alliance and NW Power Planning and Conservation 
Council staff participated in discussions with California Public Utility Commissioner Dian 
Grueneich and her staff regarding joint west coast collaboration on major new energy 
efficiency initiatives being crafted by California 


• Vicky Liskey, Elaine Prause and Margie toured Energy Trust projects in Klamath Falls, 
including the cogeneration plant operated by PPM and presented an award to Collins 
Products for their efficiency projects. Representatives from the regional office of the 
Oregon Economic and Community Development Department and the Oregon Institute 
of Technology were among those visited; Vickie was a terrific host and guide! 


• Participated in OPUC rulemaking public hearing focused on the Renewable Energy Act 
"constructing and operating" language 


• Tom Foley and Margie presented the Second Quarter report to the OPUC on 
September 20th 


 
Program Planning and Evaluation 


Residential 
• Having completed a first-phase project involving testing units for functionality and finding 


acceptable results, began research design for a second-stage pilot home energy monitor 
project 


Commercial and Industrial 
Cost-effectiveness analyses completed for: 


• Several measures for existing greenhouses 
• Photoluminescent exit signs 







Staff Report November 14, 2007 


Page 2 of 9 


NW Alliance Evaluations 
Market progress evaluation reports completed for the following programs in the last 3 months 
and are available on the NW Alliance website (www.nwalliance.org): 


• Evaluation of the Industrial Efficiency Alliance #3 
• Evaluation of the EnergyIdeas Clearinghouse #6 
• Evaluation of the Local Government Associations Support Program #5 


Efficiency Programs 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® New Homes 
• Signed nine new builders to the program during September, including Legend Homes, a 


large builder with a construction history of 350 homes annually 
• Collaborated with the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) to develop a 


consistent regional method to measure new homes built and the market penetration 
rates of ENERGY STAR new homes 


• Initiated new home market research to determine market characteristics for drafting an 
ENERGY STAR® market penetration performance metric to be added to the 2008 PMC 
contract amendment 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® Products 
• Solicited participation in the Change a Light CFL Fundraiser and the Solar 4R Schools 


contest to over 19,000 educators and advocacy groups, with a solar panel prize to be 
awarded to the school that sells the largest number of CFLs through the Change a Light 
fundraising program 


• Coordinated the fall launch of the NEEA Change a Light fall promotion and the 
Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) specialty CFL lighting promotion in retail stores 
across the state 


Home Energy Solutions—Existing Homes 
• Multifamily outreach with PGE lead to building assessments for 2000 units and the 


Spectrum trade show provided 100 new contacts for future building assessments in 
multifamily buildings 


• Home Energy Solutions Existing Home program represented the Energy Trust at seven 
successful trade shows throughout September 


• Single family participant incentive volume remains strong, staying above 1,000 
applications every month since March 


Business Energy Solutions—New Buildings  
• Continued to receive project notices and applications at a rate of 1.5 per day 
• Received support from the Conservation Advisory Committee to: 
§ Increase incentive cap for Custom Track to $300,000 
§ Increase incentive cap for Standard Track to $100,000 
§ Increase the building size for the buildings that the LEED Track addresses for 


buildings greater than 100,000 square feet 


Business Energy Solutions—Existing Buildings 
• Represented at several events, including: Johnson Air Products HVAC Fair, Oregon 


Restaurant Association Leadership Conference, International Facility Managers 







Staff Report November 14, 2007 


Page 3 of 9 


Association Annual Fall Symposium, Building Owners and Managers Association Product 
and Services Expo and Oregon Drycleaners Association Fall Meeting 


Business Energy Solutions—Production Efficiency 
• Filled the Technical Manager and Industrial Coordinator positions and both new 


employees are currently shadowing their counterparts at Lockheed Martin during this 
transition phase 


• Cascade Energy Engineering was chosen as the new PDC for the Small Industrial 
Initiative from a group of four respondents. Staff is negotiating with Cascade Engineering 
to bring the runner-up, Lockheed Martin, onto the delivery team. Staff believes that 
combining the technical expertise of Cascade Engineering and the proven outreach and 
delivery acumen of Lockheed Martin will create an excellent team with the best 
resources for success. This is a new avenue staff is exploring in the program services 
contracting process.   


• Presented SP Newsprint with a $1,000,000 incentive for completion of their $6.5M de-
ink project, estimated to result in savings of 6.54 aMW savings  


 
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance 
• Residential Sector 


2009 NW ENERGY STAR Homes Oregon Requirements: Program met with Energy 
Trust, Earth Advantage and ODOE to discuss the 2009 ENERGY STAR Homes 
specifications from the 2008 residential code change 


 
Building Performance Services (PBS) continuing education training: Approximately 16 
people attended the BPS training in August featuring the new ENERGY STAR tech tips 
 
Builder co-op advertising: Processed $9300 in coop and model home incentives for 
Energy Trust builders 
 
The 2007 Fall Change-A-Light will launch this fall and four field representatives to visit 
260 Energy Trust sponsored Oregon retailers throughout the state to ensure that the 
product as well as marketing materials are effectively in place and available to consumers  


  
• Commercial Sector 


Through BetterBricks, Legacy hospital staff finalized their Strategic Resource 
Management Plan, with Energy Trust to complete building energy assessments for the 
four Oregon campuses, complementing BetterBricks’ scoping of O&M and tune-up 
opportunities 


Live presentations of the BOMA Energy Efficiency Program (BEEP) series were 
completed for 2007, with very strong attendance at all presentations 


The 80 PLUS consumer electronics efficiency specification program was responsible for 
1,150 qualifying units being shipped into Energy Trust territory in Q3 2007 


 
• Industrial Sector 


Sabroso Woodburn’s five energy teams began implementing Lean Manufacturing, with 
each team identifying energy-saving projects for specific plant systems 
 







Staff Report November 14, 2007 


Page 4 of 9 


The Blue Heron EnVINTA One-2-Five report and recommendations were presented to 
the Blue Heron management team, actively engaging staff and gaining comprehensive 
energy management planning support for the mill   


Renewable Energy 


Open Solicitation 
• Met with 12 cities, counties and agencies to discuss potential solar and hydro projects 
• Worked with Solar Program to launch a new solar incentive for governments, 


nonprofits and other non-taxable entities 
• Assisted in development of Multnomah County solar RFP, which was released in 


September 
• Worked with RAC to gain approval for a 4.4 kW microhydro project, the first 


residential hydropower project to receive Energy Trust assistance 
• Presented to Oregon Geothermal Working Group, Oregon Association of Clean Water 


Agencies, Beaverton Kiwanis, and Portland Lion’s Club 


Utility Scale 
• Both Biglow Canyon (125 MW for PGE ) and GoodNoe Hills (94 MW for Pacific 


Power) are on track to be completed by the end of the year 


Wind 
• Kicked off the Small Wind Program with a trade ally meeting with 15 potential allies 


attending 
• Met with Oregon Trail Wind Farm, LLC to discuss their 10 MW community wind 


project in Sherman County 
• Met with Hood River County High School to discuss a small wind demonstration 


project to be located at the school 
• Provided wind resource feasibility studies for Bodewig Family Wind Farm and Sherman 


County Wind Farm 
• The Mar-Lu Community Wind project Letter of Intent has been redrawn at the request 


of the project owner 


Biopower 
• With the Oregon Association of Clean Water Agencies, hosted a workshop for agency 


personnel and consulting engineers on clean energy opportunities in the wastewater 
sector 


• Signed funding agreement for 15.8-megawatt Warm Springs Biomass project 


Solar 
• Expanded commercial solar electric incentives to encourage larger system sizes, 


nonprofit/government participation and third party ownership models that leverage 
federal tax incentives 


• Observed focus groups conducted by market research firm Smart Power to determine 
effective messaging for residential consumers considering solar energy systems 


• Provided solar electric program training to 40 prospective trade ally contractors 
• Participated in ODOE rulemaking workshops for 50% BETC, high performance homes 


and 1.5% solar on public buildings 







Staff Report November 14, 2007 


Page 5 of 9 


• Attended Solar Power 2007 conference and met with national solar contractors and 
investors planning to enter Oregon’s solar market 


• Worked on the steering committee for, exhibited and presented at the 2nd annual NW 
Solar Expo, which had double the attendance of 2006 


• Presented an award to Solar Oregon for delivering effective solar educational 
workshops that tripled Energy Trust’s residential outreach in 2007 over 2006 


Communication, Marketing and Outreach 
 
Call Center/Customer Service  


• Spoke at Coos Bay’s first Tour of Green & Solar Homes  
• Helped organize video of Coos Bay solar tour, and continued work with local Eco Living 


Group to provide information on Energy Trust in Coos Bay  
• Presented solar information at Roseburg’s Tour of Green and Solar Homes  
• Presented Energy Trust information for Telephone Pioneers group in Beaverton  
• Attended Solar Sunday event in Coos Bay – lead-in for Tour of Solar Homes 
 
 


Call Volume through September 2007 
 


 


Website 
• Launched a new Commercial Solar section on the website complete with information 


on standard commercial incentives, non-profit/government incentives, a FAQ on third-
party ownership and an online incentive estimator tool  


• Completed work on a new training calendar for trade professionals that lists regional 
training sessions offered by the Oregon Department of Energy, Bonneville Power 
Administration and Energy Trust  







Staff Report November 14, 2007 


Page 6 of 9 


• Reworked several key measure pages, including gas furnace, heat pump and multiple 
measure bonus, to make them more user-friendly in light of the many incentive offerings 
and promotions 


• Posted trade ally pages for the new Small Wind program 
• Added several new manufacturer rebate offers to the promotions page 
• Worked to make more online forms spam protected 
• Finished work on the Building Simulation Users’ Group (BSUG) tool, which includes an 


automated online sign-up, continuing education information for all BSUG members and 
the capability to send out group announcements  


 
Website Visits through September 2007 


 
 


Trade Ally Coordination 
• Launched trade ally training calendar  
• Held meeting to review residential weatherization specs with trade allies  
• Held first southern Oregon trade ally roundtable meeting  
• Developed description and began recruiting for trade ally coordinator position  
• Began development of centralized trade ally enrollment form  
• Met with Home Energy Solutions and Existing Buildings trade ally coordinators for 


planning  


Community Energy 
• Attended quarterly meeting of the Corvallis Sustainability Coalition, which completed a 


“vote by mail” unanimously endorsing collaborating with Energy Trust on a community 
energy pilot project 


• Attended initial meeting of the Sustainability Coalition’s community energy planning 
committee and reviewed list of possible elements of the campaign 


• Planned second meeting and three-hour workshop to prioritize list of campaign 
elements 


• Obtained baseline information on Corvallis demographics and energy use  







Staff Report November 14, 2007 


Page 7 of 9 


• Began scheduling free solar and efficiency assessments for wineries participating in the 
governor’s winery Carbon Neutral Challenge 


Events, Speaking Engagements and Sponsorships 
• Participated in 52 energy/conservation-related events during the period  
• Presented at the Portland Fall Home and Garden Show  
• Staffed booths at four home shows around the state, totaling 13 days  
• Sponsored five Building Smart Training Series for radiant heating and tankless water 


heating  
• Staffed a booth and presented at League of Cities Annual Conference 


Creative Products 
• Created 12 new and resized advertisements: 8 commercial, 2 residential, 1 renewable 


and 1 general 
• Produced and released 3 newsletters: Synergy (general, monthly), Insider (for trade 


allies, bimonthly) and Pit Stop (internal, monthly) 
• Created 2 new case studies representing the Existing Buildings, New Buildings and 


Production Efficiency programs 
• Created 1 new direct mailer for the Existing Homes program  
• Created a trade ally roundtable postcard 


News Releases and Media Events 
• Distributed 3 press releases: CAPECO Refrigerator Replacement program in Pendleton, 


SP Newsprint project completion and presentation of $1 million incentive check, Fall 
Change a Light, Change the World promotion announcement 


• Outreach through ENERGY STAR New Homes 
• Responded to media inquiries on energy issues 
• Coordinated KOIN television tape of a Home Energy Review at the home of the 


reporter 
• Continued to build a pipeline of stories and press releases for 2007 and 2008 
• Continued to garner news coverage about Energy Trust programs in local newspapers 


around the state   


Utility Co-promotions 
• Cascade Natural Gas: Rinnai tankless water heating sweepstakes for Bend-area 


customers continued through Oct. 15; October bill insert on high efficiency gas furnaces 
and limited-time bonus incentive, plus standard incentive 


• NW Natural: Rinnai tankless water heating sweepstakes for Portland, Salem and Eugene 
customers through October 15 


• Pacific Power:  October heat pump campaign - newsletter story, bill insert and direct 
mail on high efficiency heat pumps and incentives; Energy Connections small business 
newsletter story on solar incentives and West Bend Property Company’s solar case 
study; Energy Insights large business newsletter story on production efficiency incentives 
and Yo Cream case study; Energy Star Steward award collaboration with Pacific Power 
for Oct. 24 presentation 


• PGE: Collaborative September 12 workshop on multifamily energy efficiency; September 
online newsletter story on winterizing and Energy Trust incentives; October heat pump 
campaign – October Update and online newsletter stories, bill insert and direct mail on 
high efficiency heat pumps and incentives 







Staff Report November 14, 2007 


Page 8 of 9 


Operations, Contracts, Human Resources, Finance and 
Information Technology 


Finance 
• Developed flash report and other budget process improvements 
• Completed draft 2008 budget, 4th 2007 quarter forecast and began 2009 projections 
• Worked with planning and evaluation to complete quality control checks on 2008 


budget savings estimates  
• Contracted with Virtual Information Executives, LLC to help validate and address the 


Moss Adams Enterprise Architecture Study recommendations and to initiate 
development of an IT strategic plan 


• Attended the Oregon Economic Forum in October 
• Implemented new method to manage incentives in FastTrack and Great Plains 
• Monitored Gold Mine/Great Plains accounts to prevent duplication 
• Participated in risk assessment interviews with Controller and PMC’s 
• Reviewed demonstrations of product/services for tracking insurance certificates and 


began reference checks 
• Contacted vendors to verify company and EIN status 
• Began work on vendor records to facilitate annual preparation of W-9 and 1099 form 


preparation 
• Researched, compiled information for and completed IRS filing 
• Assisted PMC with IRS form W9 filing requirements and in using new pre-incentive 


import reports  
• Published August and September financial statements 
• Processed special incentive imports as requested 
• Continued processing of over 500 incentive checks weekly 


Human Resources 
• Hired Tricia McGuire as Industrial Technical Manager for the Production Efficiency 


program in the energy efficiency department. Tricia was most recently with Intel in 
Phoenix. She has a background in industrial engineering and brings to us her experience 
in project and program management. 


• Hired Ted Light as Industrial Sector Coordinator for the Production Efficiency program 
in the energy efficiency department. Ted was most recently with Teach for America and 
has a BS from Purdue University 


• Hired Lura Griffiths as the renewable energy intern. Lura is in her junior year at Oregon 
Institute of Technology and will be assisting the solar staff with various project work. 


• Hired Peter Catching as the Manager of Planning & Economic Analysis in the planning 
and evaluation department, filling the vacancy of Jill Steiner. Peter has held various 
positions at PacifiCorp and has been on the adjunct faculty at Portland State University. 


• Lars Stewart accepted the permanent position as IT Administrative Assistant, 
transitioning from her prior contractor role. Lars recently relocated to the Portland 
area from California where she was a leasing specialist. 


• Currently recruiting for following positions: Commercial Solar Project Manager in the 
renewable energy department, Trade Ally Coordinator in outreach and 
communications, Lead Business Systems Analyst in the IT department. 


• Solicitation is underway by our benefits consultant vendor for the 2008 health care 
package renewal  







Staff Report November 14, 2007 


Page 9 of 9 


• Conducted Oregon Natural Step workshop for staff on October 25. This organization 
was founded on the principle that businesses and organizations can reduce their impact 
on the environment while enhancing their overall efficiency and effectiveness. This is in 
line with Energy Trust mission and may lead to increased future collaboration. 


• Encouraged 7 of 10 employees to try biking to work during the annual Bike Commute 
Challenge, in which Energy Trust placed second in its category of nearly 200 companies 


Legal and Contracts 
• Completed guidebook for nonprofit/government participation in solar projects and third 


party ownership models that leverage federal tax incentives 
• Completed work on Allied Technical Assistance Contracts for conversion of Production 


Efficiency Program 


Information Technology 
• Engaged Jason King as a contract network engineer to replace the former contractor, 


Martin Staudacher 
• Loaded values into the Q3 quarterly report directly from Great Plains and FastTrack 


utilizing the automatic processes developed for the Q2 report 
• Released an enhanced version of FastTrack project task that supports program specific 


definition of tasks, subtasks and milestones as requested by PMCs 
• Released new reports to assist finance in auditing that all paid incentives match approved 


incentives and that all approved incentives have matching paid incentives 
• Released reports for PMC's and Accounts Payable to use to identify duplicate vendor 


(participant) contacts which will improve accuracy and efficiency of 1099 reporting 
• Issued updated FastTrack documentation for forecasting, site attributes, and measure 


changes 
• Provided staff training on use of Outlook and presentation equipment 


 








  
 
 
 


CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting Oct. 17, 2007 


 
Attending from the Council:            
Suzanne Dillard, ODOE 
Joe Esmonde, IBEW #48 
Andria Jacobs, City of Portland Office of Sustainable Development 
Lori Koho, OPUC 
Karen Meadows, BPA (replacing Ken Keating) 
Mathew Northway, EWEB 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
   
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Fred Gordon 
Diane Ferington 
Danielle Gidding 
Margie Harris 
Steve Lacey 
John Reynolds, Board of Directors  
Jan Schaeffer 
Spencer Moersfelder 
 
Others attending; 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Paul Berkowitz, CSG 
David Lee, SAIC 
 
 
1. Introductions  
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions.  
 
2. 2007 year-end projections and 2008 draft budget 
Margie Harris reported national trends in the industry and among regulatory and government officials, 
among them: 


• Climate change is real; carbon regulation is coming 
• Need to get 80% reduction of 1990 carbon dioxide levels by 2050 
• Energy efficiency and renewable energy are centerpiece solutions; movement to capture all cost-


effective energy efficiency by doubling efforts 
• California is committed to achieving zero net energy new homes by 2020 and commercial 


buildings by 2030 
• Need for workforce training 
• 800% increase in past 4 years in venture capital for renewable energy and energy efficiency 
• World manufacturers of wind turbines doubling output between now and 2010; shortfall will 


continue until then 
• National solar conference in ’05 drew 2,000 attendees; 5,000 in ’06 and 11,000 in ’07 


 
She noted Energy Trust growth: 


• Projects completed, from 21,000 in ’04 to 112,000 in ‘08 
• Number of participants from 140,000 in 2004 to 1.5M projected in ‘08. 


 







CAC Notes – Oct. 17, 2007     


 2


New audiences are coming forward to be “sustainable” and “green.” Energy Trust must define our focus 
and role in this more “crowded” operating environment. What do we need to learn about new markets 
and participants? Beyond technical assistance and incentives, what activities can/should we leverage? 
When should we lead, let others lead, partner or not participate? 
 
By end 2007, she said we expect to exceed the electric best case goal. Gas savings are expected to 
exceed the conservative case goal. Renewable energy programs are anticipated to exceed their 
conservative goals. Carryover balances are going down, as they should. By the end of ’08, we will have 
spent down our gas carryover by $2 million. We are predicting very little electric funding left over by 
the end of next year.  
 
Themes for the efficiency action plan and budget for ’08: 
 


• Increase efforts to penetrate deeper into existing markets 
• Further reduce gas carryover 
• Implement community energy pilot(s) – Corvallis 
• Continued emphasis on integrating renewables into efficiency delivery channels 
• Continued NEEA funding 
• More direct management for program delivery 


- Direct contracts with PDCs and ATACs;  
- Adding trade ally coordinator to register and support trade allies centrally rather than 


through each program 
• Contemplates higher levelized costs (3-3.5 cents/kWh) 


 
She reviewed program areas of emphasis: 
 


• Existing homes: continue growth in Home Performance with ENERGY STAR;  
• New homes: increase ENERGY STAR new home market share; promote high performance 


home construction and specialty CFL uptake 
 
Lori asked how Energy Trust is collaborating with ODOE on educating builders on the changed 
residential code expected mid year ’08. Margie said we are coordinating on this.  
 


• Existing commercial: concentrate on food services, lodging, office, and health care 
• New buildings: bolster ’09 pipeline and concentrate on developing small to medium construction 


design-build market 
• Industrial: expand pipeline through greater PDC outreach; expand small-medium customer 


offerings, including horticulture/nurseries 
 
Margie presented a budget table. She explained the projected savings of 25.1 aMW is lower than in ’07, 
which included the benefit of a megaproject. She reviewed expenditures by sector, which reflect 
generally the same apportionment as in ’07.  
 
She reviewed new initiatives being planned with utilities in anticipation of incremental efficiency funding 
as allowed by the Renewable Energy Act (SB 838). These include near-low-income (60-80% of federal 
median income); increased activity in multifamily lighting, targeting commercial laundries and grocery 
stores; and increased support for small to medium new construction, and integrating renewables. Core 
program initiatives would scale up commensurate with available revenues. About $15.6 million could be 
coming our way through SB 838 incremental funding, of which we would expect to spend $9 million. 







CAC Notes – Oct. 17, 2007     


 3


Steve said we expect to ramp up steadily over the next three years when programs reach steady state 
and revenues will match expenditures.  
 
She summarized areas of emphasis for efficiency spending in 2008:  
 


• Leverage marketplace interest and momentum carbon reduction and sustainability  
• Emphasize innovation by simplifying forms and application processes and offering more 


prescriptive measures 
• Invest in new technologies through field testing of new equipment, participating in national 


forums 
• Conduct market research and enhance activities to promote awareness, education and training 
• Seek new partnerships through community based programs and collaboration with key regional 


and national allies 
 
She noted focus on improving internal processes, implementing findings from the IT Enterprise 
Architecture Study. The communications and outreach themes will focus on cross-program integration, 
customer focus, deeper program collaboration in marketing plans and communications, greater 
outreach, centralized trade ally administration and support, website improvements and community 
energy launch. 
 
She said we expect to increase the portion of spending on program support and administration from 
6.5% this year to 6.6%-8.1% (with and without SB 838). She noted 4 new position requests driven by 
increased volume and SB 838. Suzanne asked if these positions resulted from bringing Production 
Efficiency in house; Margie said the two positions associated with that change have already been 
approved and hired.  
 
Karen Meadows noted the reference to “pilot” community energy project and asked, if it’s successful, 
whether we intend to apply the model to other communities. Margie replied that we do.  
 
Andria Jacobs wonders why average megawatts from 2007 to 2008 are flat, while Energy Trust has seen 
such increases in volume. Margie said factors include no megaproject, downturn in the housing market, 
and the need to do more hand-holding to support the next tier of would-be participants. Karen noted a 
strategic decision to focus on niche markets rather than simply raise incentives.  
 
John Reynolds asked if the avoided utility cost is rising as we increase our levelized costs. Margie said 
avoided cost is about 6 cents/kWh. John noted even with a higher avoided cost, we are projecting an 
average cost of efficiency well below the avoided cost level. 
 
Joe Esmonde asked how we propose to reach the near-low-income group. Margie said we would work 
through existing organizations such as Community Action Program agencies.  
 
Mat Northway noted the bulk of the efficiency savings falls at 4 cents/kWh. The low volume of more 
expensive potential savings suggests cost of acquisition would be higher. He concludes it makes sense to 
go for all cost-effective efficiency.  
 
Answering a question from Karen, Margie explained Energy Trust is limited to cost-effective efficiency 
acquisition but can pay up to 100% of the above market costs of renewable energy projects.  
 
 
 







CAC Notes – Oct. 17, 2007     


 4


3.  Electric utility incremental funding rate filing update 
Lauren Shapton said PGE expects to file to receive incremental efficiency funding next week. She said 
$13 million will be directed to Energy Trust.  
 
Steve said Pacific Power expects to file at the end of October, pending upper management approval. He 
thinks the amount will be in the neighborhood of $4 million. He thinks they will show this charge on a 
line item on the bill rather than include it in a blended rate. PacifiCorp anticipates keeping a small 
percentage of the revenues for coordination and marketing support of ET programs. 
 
4. New Buildings program 2008 incentive changes 
Spencer Moersfelder explained proposed changes. Incentive custom track cap would be increased from 
$200,000 to $300,000. On a unit basis incentives will remain at 10 cents/kWh and 80 cents/therm. 
Although not many projects are large enough to earn the maximum amount, Spencer said offering a high 
amount creates a buzz in the marketplace.  
 
Joe Esmonde asked what measures the incentives would be spent on. Spencer said typical choices are 
lighting, motors, HVAC and controls.  
 
Spencer said he proposes to increase the cap on standard track incentives from $50,000 to $100,000. 
Standard/prescriptive incentives remain the same. Markets are responding well to current incentives.  
 
He said we propose to offer design incentives in addition to equipment incentives. In custom track, the 
design incentive could amount to 50% of the total incentive, capped at $25,000. For standard track 
projects, a $500 design incentive would be available to projects that receive $3,000 or more in 
equipment incentives.  
 
John Reynolds asked if the design incentive would support designers using the UO Daylighting Lab. 
Spencer replied that the offer of separate design incentives provides more support for such activities.  
 
Spencer said the LEED track would incorporate a new savings calculation methodology. We will accept 
the energy modeling required by LEED, based on ASHRAE 90.1. and recalculate the savings based on 
current Oregon code. An analysis has been performed to estimate the typical loads for buildings under 
the Oregon code compared to the code used by LEED. Energy Trust will pay for the share of savings 
above Oregon code. Incentive is paid after LEED certification.  
 
Fred noted LEED now requires two energy points and asked if we will support getting these points or 
only the third point. Spencer said we are continuing to support all LEED points until we have 
determined whether owners can acquire the first two LEED points without Energy Trust support. By 
shifting to the different model, we can serve buildings of any size and occupancy type.  
 
Spencer proposes to incorporate a commissioning track. Commissioning incentives have been offered 
on a pilot basis. We have exhausted the pilot budget. Incentives will remain 3 cents/kWh and 2 
cents/therm and are capped at $40,000. 
 
John Reynolds noted many critics of LEED believe it doesn’t require enough energy points. He favors 
Energy Trust supporting acquisition of the third point. Fred suggested that we wait to be informed by an 
evaluation study we have underway. Until we have those results, we will not know whether owners 
would go after any LEED without our funding.  
 







CAC Notes – Oct. 17, 2007     


 5


Steve asked if the CAC wanted this item brought back for a second review next month as council 
members all supported the proposed changes without a second review.  
 
Joe said he’s talked with plumbing, sheetmetal and electrical contractors, offering to get them together 
with Energy Trust. As soon as he’s able to “get the cats together,” he’s going to host the meeting. He 
told them that Energy Trust is working to simplify forms.  
 
The next meeting will be Nov. 28, 2007. This will provide a second opportunity to comment on the budget 
before it is finalized by the board in mid December. .  








 1


Notes from Renewable Energy Advisory Council  
September 19, 2007 
 
Attending from RAC 
Kyle Davis, Pacificorp 
Carel DeWinkel, Oregon Department of Energy Trust of Oregon 
Angus Duncan, Bonneville Environmental Foundation 
Troy Gagliano, RNP 
Thor Hinckley, PGE 
Jeff King, Northwest Power & Conservation Council 
 
Attending from Energy Trust 
Kacia Brockman 
Danielle Gidding 
Fred Gordon 
Betsy Kauffman 
Jan Schaeffer 
Adam Serchuk 
Peter West 
 
Others attending 
Sven Anderson, ODOE 
Dave Bugni 
Jim Deason 
Dan Dettmer, Advanced Energy Systems 
Joe Esmonde, IBEW #48 
Alan Hickenbottom, Tanner Creek Energy 
Mark Olson, Dynaelectric 
Maia Ozguc, MO and Company 
Robin Rabiroff, E.C. Company 
Cliff Schrock, E.C. Company 
 
1. Welcome and introductions 
 
Peter asked for self introductions. There were no comments on the agenda. July 
meeting notes were approved without changes  
 
2. Large-scale solar electric project 
 
Peter reviewed a proposal by ProLogis, a worldwide owner of distribution facilities, 
proposes to install solar electric systems on up to 17 of its buildings in PGE territory 
with capacity of 3.5-4.7 MW. The project requires $3.4 million from the Energy Trust. 
Funds would come from unspent funds in the 2007 Utility Scale budget. It would be 
contingent on the project meeting the minimum size proposed, commissioning the 
installations and acceptance by PGE.  
 







 2


PGE supports the project both to help customers access more green power and as an 
effective source of peak power. The installations would provide power directly to the 
distribution system and will not be net-metered  
 
The project could more than double the 2.5 MW solar PV Energy Trust has installed 
since inception.  
 
Carel DeWinkel said it’s an exciting proposal. Since it’s the first very large solar 
installation, it would be good to monitor its output. Thor Hinckley said PGE intends to 
do this. They want to monitor it to see how it fits into its model of distributed 
generation.  
 
Kyle Davis said it’s a terrific project. He hopes to learn if there is anything unique a 
utility needs to integrate such a large project into its operations. Peter said there is a 
report describing the interconnections to every substation. He will ask ProLogis if they 
are willing to disclose this.  
 
Peter concluded the sense of the group is one of strong support for the project. All 
agreed.  
 
Carel said ODOE is working on some other large central station projects, in the 
Christmas Valley area, for instance. He asked if these developers were to ask for Energy 
Trust funds, would there be limitations related to the ProLogis project. Peter said if the 
project were to come in as a Pacific Power project, we would have less available 
funding, and supporting the project would be more difficult. If it were a PGE project, we 
have more funding. We have a master agreement in place with PGE that would allow 
fast-tracking the project. Adam Serchuk noted that money collected starting Jan. 1, 
according to SB 838, would be available only to projects 20 MW and less. 
 
Robin Rebiroff asked if the ProLogis project is considered one aggregated project or 
separate projects on each building. Peter said we are considering it to be one project.  
 
Alan Hickenbottom asked if funding ProLogis would constrain funding for other, non-
solar programs. Peter said it would not.  
 
Peter said the proposal will go to the board Oct. 3. If the board approves it, we intend 
to negotiate a contract by the end of October.  
 
Jon Miller asked what would become of the green tags. Peter said PGE would receive 
them and retain them on behalf of Energy Trust for the benefit of ratepayers. At this 
point Energy Trust is paying the entire above market cost and the cost per tag exceeds 
current market value.  Consequently, per our green tag policy, Energy Trust ensures 
that all the tags are retained for benefit of ratepayers.  If we do not provide all the 
necessary funding for a project to reach financial viability or the effective price for the 
tag from our funding is less than market value, we will take proportionately fewer tags. 
 







 3


3. Small Scale Hydro Project 
 
Betsy Kauffman introduced David Bugni, a professional engineer, who proposes to install 
a 4.4 kw system on his property on Suter Creek. The project is expected to be 
completed in January 2008. Mr. Bugni previously obtained a water right for 1 cubic foot 
per second (cfs) from the creek. He uses this to support a small aquaculture operation. 
He has applied for and received an additional water right for 3 cfs that he will use to 
operate the microhydropower project. Betsy noted Suter Creek is not a protected 
stream.  
 
The project will provide 25,000 kWh of electricity and will be net-metered. Project cost 
is $52,799, including $27,869 in cash and $25,930 in donated labor and engineering 
services from Mr. Bugni. Energy Trust will offer a $13,391 incentive. The project has 
been reviewed by 20 agencies and met all requirements of those agencies.  
 
Betsy noted benefits of the project to Energy Trust include serving as an example to 
rural landowners of a grid-tied, properly permitted microhydro project. It allows Energy 
Trust to fund hydroelectric generation in a safe, fish-friendly fashion. It also allows 
Energy Trust to fund a non-solar renewable power project in PGE service territory.  
 
Kyle Davis suggested doing a case study to document all that David had to do to obtain 
these approvals. Betsy said Energy Trust intends to do a case study on the process and 
the project. David said he originally intended to write a paper on the technologies 
selected, as they are not commonly used. He intends to construct the project and then 
test it for a couple of months to optimize its production. David and several RAC 
members discussed the technologies employed and opportunities for exploring their 
optimum function.  
 
Alan Hickenbottom asked how far systems like this one might scale up. David said he 
knows of successful installations of up to 100 kW. Most of the work has been done in 
British Columbia and in developing countries in Africa and Asia.  
 
Thor Hinckley said PGE has installed a microhydro system in Opal Creek that has 
worked very well.  
 
Peter concluded the that the  group is highly supportive of this project. All agreed. 
 
As it is under $50,000, Margie can sign the contract without board approval.  
 
4. SB 838 rulemaking 
 
The rulemaking will cover the definition of costs eligible for renewable public purpose 
charge funding. While SB 1149 said funds could cover the above-market costs of 
renewable energy, SB 838 says “constructing and operating” costs of renewable energy 
systems are eligible. Most stakeholders involved in creating SB 838 recall the intent was 







 4


to make the definition of eligibility more inclusive. ICNU and some others think 
otherwise.  
 
Sven Anderson mentioned more rulemaking workshops on BETC and other matters, 
and noted there is information on the ODOE website on rulemaking procedures, 
schedule and staff positions on rules.  
 
Adam noted yesterday Energy Trust hosted a meeting of clean water operators that 
drew 35 attendees. Attendees were curious whether projects starting today would be 
eligible for the increased BETC passthrough amount. They concluded it would be safer 
to wait. Sven Anderson said the amount will be retroactive and said they will work to 
get that message out.  
 
5. Renewable program activities 2008-2009 
 
Peter noted the budgeting process has begun. Today staff will present the program areas 
of focus, without attaching dollars.  
 
Biopower. Adam Serchuk presented his expectations for 2008, which include beginning 
commercial operation at Rough and Ready and Columbia Blvd projects; rolling out the 
dairy initiative, including a standard incentive offer; developing a strategic partnership 
with the wastewater sector, including exploring potential for an “energy independence” 
campaign for wastewater treatment plants based on best efficiency practices and onsite 
generation.  
 
He noted risks inherent in working with the wood products industry.  
 
Adam emphasized the importance of strategic partnerships. For the dairy initiative, he 
has created a partnership among Energy Trust, the OSU Dairy Extension Agency and 
the Dairy Association. Energy Trust will fund a position in the association to reach out 
to dairies to explore potential for biomass projects; the Dairy Extension Agency will 
oversee that individual’s work. He said we hope in 2008 to have 3-6 dairies seriously 
looking at these products. He said we expect to work with NW Natural on its new 
Smart Energy product, intended to fund new biopower projects at dairies.  
 
Kyle noted the issue is not the technology but commitment at a dairy to provide the 
necessary care and service. He asked if it is a more economical use to clean up the 
methane to put it into the gas distribution system or to use it to generate electricity. 
Adam said this depends on many factors yet unknown. Our position is to support 
whatever is best for the dairy.  
 
Adam described the opportunity to build a regional bio-waste management solution to 
deal with animal byproducts, including carcasses, and food wastes. Currently there are 
no rendering plants in Oregon. He is exploring whether dairies or wastewater 
treatment plans might accept such wastes in a quest for energy independence. Sven 







 5


Anderson asked if Mark Kendall is involved; Adam said he is not aware. Sven said Mark 
is interested in digesters; he will inform Mark.  
 
Angus Duncan observed that the looming threat of regulations driving dairy operations 
to rationalize what it does with manure has had the perverse effect of stalling 
cooperation from dairy operators. Adam noted that when we first made contact with 
the dairy association two years ago, they indicated need for only a dozen digesters. 
Now they anticipate need for 48, based on their sense that regulations are coming soon, 
either through the legislature or legal action. Angus noted the cleaning up of methane 
for use as gas is a better solution than generation. Operating and maintenance costs of 
generation are high. Also, suppliers of cow manure can come and go, affecting 
generation potential. The gas company could moderate these effects by blending 
methane gas with natural gas. He thinks Intermountain Gas in Idaho may be further 
along than others in developing consumer-ready methane. Adam noted that few dairies 
have access to gas; running a pipeline may not make financial sense.  
 
Angus noted Three-Mile Canyon Farm couldn’t make generation pencil out. Peter said 
his impression is that the biomass project there did pencil out, with Energy Trust’s 
incentives, but the owners had other reasons not to move forward. Since then the 
transmission opportunity with PGE has dried up, and the farm has chosen to seek 
different technology without Energy Trust support.   
 
Carel recalled Wisconsin was successful in getting Farm Bill grants for dairy biomass, but 
they were unable to get anything in the ground. Adam said Wisconsin tells us there are 
a half dozen projects being built.  
 
Adam noted the dairy projects are orders of magnitude smaller than wood biomass. 
Wastewater projects will be on the same scale as dairies – 100 MW. The Columbia 
Wastewater project is 1.4 MW.  
 
The sense of the group was the program was heading in the right direction with the 
right activities, while noting this is a difficult  set of sectors to tap. 
 
Open solicitation. Betsy Kauffman said she has different intentions for PGE and Pacific 
Power.  
 
For PGE, 2008 will be a pipeline-building year. She is exploring potential for pressure 
reduction valves in municipal water treatment systems. She wants to issue an RFP for 
feasibility studies for municipal hydro projects. She also wants to explore better utilizing 
the state’s Renewable Energy Feasibility Fund (REFF). During the first two rounds of 
REFF, there were few applications from PGE service territory. She will examine sharing 
the cost of grant-writing consultants, and offer cost-share for municipalities applying for 
REFF funding.  
 
For Pacific Power, the focus will be on moving forward projects that we’re already 
aware of. This includes funding existing applications for a geothermal and a hydro 







 6


project, and one other project that may come out of feasibility studies. She will continue 
outreach and communication to be aware of projects that may be coming in. She will 
launch a dedicated effort to improve the quality of applications from the Pacific Power 
service territory to REFF.  
 
Betsy hopes to fund a solar thermal electric demonstration project. Fred Gordon asked 
what the scale the demonstration project would be; Betsy needs to explore this. Kyle 
said he has had some discussions. Thor said PGE is looking at one small project using a 
combined solar electric and water heating system. Betsy explained the technology she 
wishes to explore uses the sun to make steam to generate power.  
 
She also will monitor developments in wave R&D. The commercial projects will be very 
expensive; there may be no role for Energy Trust.  
 
The group was supportive of the program’s direction. 
 
Solar electric. Kacia Brockman said she plans to see the program ride the commercial 
wave with the 50% BETC. She noted folks are not signing contracts until the BETC rules 
are in place, so she has no commitments. She expects in 2007 to support installation of 
1 MW capacity. She expects installed capacity to increase significantly in 2008, although 
it is very hard to predict by how much. The commercial cap on incentives has been 
increased from 50 kW to 100 kW; she doesn’t expect to expand that further in ‘08. 
Kacia noted the upcoming launch of a nonprofit incentive to tap the educational value of 
solar on nonprofits, schools and nonprofit buildings. She thinks the third-party financing 
model will be applied in this sector. She wants to foster growth in the installer base to 
maintain balance between local supply and demand. In addition, she hopes to expand 
market opportunities to include homebuilders and commercial architects/engineers. She 
will continue to leverage the City of Portland Solar Now! campaign to increase 
participation in PGE service territory.  
 
Kacia’s plans for ’08 emphasize public education and awareness building through 
publicity, solar workshops, new messaging informed by focus groups, solar home tours, 
Green + Solar magazine and NW Solar Expo. OSEIA will be engaged to support installer 
training. A continuing focus is to build relationships with large national integrators, 
including third party owners.  
 
Mark Olson questioned the amount of money spent on business development. For 
instance, IBEW offers installer training. Kacia said we’ve been financial supporters of the 
IBEW training.  She further noted that the LRT apprenticeship spending level is very 
small, as is the grant to OSEIA for installer training. Peter said we will have the 
expenditure levels available for discussion in October. Mark reiterated his sense that 
more money should be directed to reducing a commercial customer’s installation costs.  
Peter explained we are experiencing an insufficient supply of trained installers on the 
residential side. The funding we re talking about is quite small, but leveraged highly by 
the training centers and OSEIA.RAC members continued to discuss this topic. Fred 
asked whether expanding Energy Trust’s quality control role would be useful. Sven 







 7


asked Kacia to work carefully with Christopher Dymond and others at ODOE.  Kacia 
noted that we have worked closely with Chris and will continue to do so. 
 
Aside form the one installer’s concerns one item, the group was supportive of the 
direction of the program.  The dissenting issue will be addressed in review of the actual 
budget amounts at the next RAC. 
 
Wind. Peter presented on this program, as Alan Cowan and Erin Johnston are in offsite 
meetings. He noted the community wind initiative would continue supporting USDA 
grants to qualify a pipeline of projects. Of the 3 project still alive from the 4 that 
emerged from the RFP process a year and a half ago, none are in the ground, principally 
due to lack of turbines. Prognosis for installation of these projects is unclear; we may 
need to look for other, better capitalized projects. We hope to bring 1-2 community 
wind projects on line next year, and to identify 2-3 PGE 10 MW projects for 2009. The 
second edition of the Community Wind Guidelines will be published.  
 
The other part of the program is the small wind program, to be rolled out Oct.31. The 
program strategy continues to be to confirm sufficient wind resources through OSU but 
also to develop a simplified web-based wind resource tool for small wind. We hope to 
get 7-10 small wind projects operating by end of the year.  
 
Jeff King noted RAC discussed turbine supply issues last year. He wondered what came 
of a move to secure community-scale turbines through John Deere. Peter said this 
entity did obtain turbines but changed their business model; they are now functioning as 
a developer. Peter agreed the issue for community wind remains the same as last year.  
If we can’t find viable community scale projects by spring of ’08, we will need to 
reconsider the community wind push and possibly scale down to smaller turbines. Kyle 
agreed and noted that, even if turbines are located, it will be challenging to find projects 
that can be built in time to claim the PTC by end ’08. Adam asked Kyle’s insights into 
whether the PTC will be extended. Kyle said the issue could get tangled up in 
presidential election politics.  
 
Cliff Schrock is pleased at the prospect of finding small wind sites in the Portland area.  
 
Joe Esmonde said IBEW Local 48 will install a small wind system as soon as he can 
obtain FAA approval.  
 
Troy Gagliano announced he is taking a position as a wind developer at Enxco. Peter 
invited him to continue participating on RAC in his new capacity; the council continues 
to have an open position for a wind developer. He will also welcome a new 
representative from RNP.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 11:25 am.  
 
 
 







 8


 








 


 
 
 
78th Board Meeting 
Wednesday, November 14, 2007 12:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 noon Call to Order (Tom Foley) 1 


• Approve agenda   
• October 3 meeting minutes   Action 


 
12:15 p.m. Don Hammerstrom, Pacific Northwest Natural Laboratory  Information 
 Grid Wise Program presentation 
 
12:45 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 


 
12:50 p.m. President’s Report 
 
1:00 p.m. Committee Reports    
    
 Finance Committee (John Klosterman) 2 Information 
 
 Audit Committee (Julie Hammond)  Information 
   
 Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer) 3 Information 
 
 Program Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 4 Information 


 
 Strategic Planning Committee (Rick Applegate)  Information 
 
1:30 p.m. Staff Report (Margie Harris) 5  


• Highlights  Information 
• 3rd Quarter Report  Information 


 
1:45 p.m. Break 
 
 
2:00 p.m. Draft 2008-2009 Action Plan and 
 Draft 2008 Budget Separate Document Information 
 
 
4:00 p.m. Adjourn 
 


Please note: the next meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
will be held Wednesday, December 12, 2007, 12:00 noon 


at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor,  
Portland, Oregon 







Agenda  November 14, 2007 


   2 


INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
                             
Tab 1 Call to order 


• Agenda 
• October 3 meeting minutes    


 
Tab 2 Finance Committee 


• Notes from October 31 meeting 
• Dashboard 
• Incentive forecast 
• August monthly financials 
• September monthly financials 
• Financial glossary  


 
Tab 3 Policy Committee  


• Notes from October 16 meeting 
 
Tab 4 Program Evaluation Committee 


• Notes from October 19 meeting 
 
Tab 5 Staff report 


• Highlights 
• 3rd Quarter Report (to be distributed at the Board Meeting) 
 


Separate Draft 2008-2009 Action Plan and 
Document Draft 2008 Budget  
 
Tab 6 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes October 17 
• RAC notes September 19 
• RAC notes October 17 
 


 








 1


 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on October 17, 2007 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Thor Hinckley, PGE 
Lori Koho, OPUC 
Frank Vingola, UOSRML 
Jeff King, NWPCC 
Carel DeWinkle, ODOE 
Jesse Jenkins, RNP 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Lizzie Giles 
Peter West 
Kacia Brockman 
Alan Cowan 
Adam Serchuk 
Betsy Kauffman 
Danielle Gedding 
Dave McClelland 
 


Attending from the Board: 
John Reynolds, University of Oregon 
 
Others attending: 
Jessica Morrison, David Evans and 
Associates 
Virinder Singh, Hat Trick Energy and 


Environment 
Mark Olson, Dynalectric 
Joe Esmunde, IBEW #48


1. Welcome and Introductions 


Peter convened the meeting at 9:40 am. The September notes were adopted without change.  


2. Emerging Renewable Technologies 


Virinder Singh from Hat Trick Energy and Environment Consulting presented his findings from 
the review of emerging renewable technologies commissioned in response to SB 838's mandate 
that public purpose funds focus on renewable energy projects less than 20 MW. The goal of the 
review was to provide Energy Trust and its stakeholders with context on the technologies 
available, recent project developments, suppliers, and permitting issues. It offers considerations 
for Energy Trust and its stakeholders as they think about whether and how to enter these 
markets 


The focus was on technologies or technology applications without a large presence in Oregon 
today. Information was gathered through interviews with developers, manufacturers, utilities, 
financiers, and independent experts, in addition to an extensive review of the available literature. 
 
The key findings were: “Large-scale” PV (over 1 MW) is an opportunity today; solar thermal 
Dish stirling is worth watching; solar trough and tower projects will likely be above 20 MW; 
wave is immature, but aggressive in-state activity merits Energy Trust's involvement; small 
geothermal has up-front risks, but represents a new and promising opportunity for Oregon; fuel 
cells with biogas is not an active market segment today. 







DRAFT RAC notes – 10/17/2007 


 2


Solar: Parabolic troughs, Power towers, Dish Stirling, and Photovoltaics 
 
There is a lot of development in Spain with troughs and power towers thanks to EU and state 
subsidies. In the U.S., the Southwest is looking to trough, power tower, and dish technologies 
because of RPSs. California is focused on PV, with large incentives for 1 MW+ projects. 
 
Oregon's solar resource, while inferior to the Southwest, still offers project opportunities. The 
State receives 6-6.5 kWh/m/day in southern Oregon east of the Cascades. The solar resource is 
not as ideal for concentrating solar thermal as other states, and what resource is available is 
located far from transmission. 
 
Southern Oregon offers power marketing opportunities to other states, which are willing to 
offer more for projects. However, there are challenges with existing transmission to the south. 
PacifiCorp has a proposed new line which may open up opportunities for solar in Southern 
Oregon. California is willing to pay $85/MWh, but their RPS requires green tag delivery. 
 
PV and Dish Stirling can be done successfully under 20 MW. Troughs and power tower projects 
in the future will be at least 30 MW with limited modularity. PV and Dish Stirling offer a better 
opportunity to Energy Trust based on modularity and desired project size. The performance 
risk for all these solar technologies will go down over time, but Dish Stirling has a longer way to 
go and still needs to be proven in a commercial setting. PV is the most proven and trusted 
technology.  
 
Peter asked for a cost estimate for these technologies. Virinder replied that trough is about 
$3.9/watt, Dish Stirling $6/watt, and PV $5/watt. These are installed costs and do not account 
for operations and maintenance. 
 
The type of incentive desired by developers depends on the maturity of the technology. 
Without the federal investment tax credit (ITC), non-PV projects will go away due to cost and 
risk. In Oregon, the Business Energy Tax Credit (BETC) can mitigate ITC impact for PV 
projects. 
 
Power tower and trough projects face higher development thresholds than Dish Stirling and PV 
due to water use permit, RCRA and air permitting. There are also FAA challenges for towers, 
which are 377 feet high. Troughs and towers have longer development lead time, so RFPs need 
to take the permitting lead time into account. 


Wave 
 
There are currently four wave energy projects in Oregon with preliminary permits, and three 
projects have pending preliminary permits. Developers typically obtain a FERC permit for a site 
bigger than eventual project footprint. There is a mixture of hope and concern about the 
volume and size of possible projects off the Oregon coast. 
 
Adam asked if there were seven separate developers for the seven permitted projects. Virinder 
replied that some of the projects were being developed by the same companies with multiple 
sites. 
 
There is no sense of a “winning” technology nor of the actual costs associated. The required 
incentive level may change over time and for the same project. Opportunities for small pilot (5 
MW and less) projects may arise more quickly than expected, possibly within the next 2 years. 







DRAFT RAC notes – 10/17/2007 


 3


 
Adam asked about the capacity factor for these projects. Virinder replied that there is a lot of 
variability – range from 17% to 35%. 
 
Federal policy needs to mature to make wave energy competitive with other renewables (there 
are currently no federal incentives for wave energy), and utility participation will be important 
for early projects. The utilities are raising concerns and offering opportunities for projects up-
front. The near-term ratepayer benefits will be small, but the State can reap longer-term 
benefits from the economic development and clean energy supply. 
 
While Oregon is generating a lot of interest in wave energy, California beckons. The wave 
energy resource is similar in both states, and there are plentiful incentives and lots of load in 
California. In order to be a major player, Oregon needs to maintain its efforts. 


Geothermal 
 
There are three big, existing projects under development in Oregon: Newberry Crater 
(Deschutes County), Crump Geyser (Lake County), and Neal Hot Springs (Malheur County). 
 
The emergence of a new binary technology may open the market up for projects in the 250 kW 
to 5 MW range. In Lakeview and Klamath County, Oregon Institute of Technology and Chevron 
Energy Solutions are looking for support for projects.  
 
Small, binary projects are poised for growth, but face high initial costs and risk hurdles. Up-front 
drilling is the biggest challenge, but dual uses (power and heat) help potential project viability. 
Co-investment by Energy Trust's renewable energy and energy efficiency programs (for the dual 
uses) could be of assistance. Federal lands need to be available to access all the good in-state 
resources. Oregon BLM has been very slow in lease processing compared to other Western 
states. 
 
Oregon faces tough competition from California and Nevada for investment, which have long-
standing state RPSs. They also have more rapid lease processing by federal agencies. On the 
other hand, California offers an attractive market for Oregon developers, and Energy Trust can 
leverage California’s dollars. 


Fuel cells with biogas 
 
Fuel cells with biogas are a thin market today. There were 35 projects through 2004, but only 6 
new projects since. There are performance challenges and low market penetration. Biogas 
powers just 2% of the global stationary fuel cells, and fuel cells are in only a tiny portion of 
landfills with energy projects. There are only two firms are actively seeking biogas projects. 
However, there are plentiful incentives: $4.50/watt in California compared to $1.30/watt for 
microturbines. 
 
The biogas market is a low priority for the fuel cell industry, and fuel cells are not the top 
choice for biogas generators. Breweries may offer some potential in Oregon, but regardless of 
source, substantial incentives are required for new projects. 
 


Conclusions 
 







DRAFT RAC notes – 10/17/2007 


 4


In the near-term, PV is the solution, but it is a high-cost solution. Longer term solar troughs and 
power towers may be available, but they will continue to be expensive. It is better to let other 
states lead on these Wave may be further out but warrants watching and consideration. 
Geothermal is closer and worth considering, but drilling risks are a high-cost and high-risk item 
and overall costs are a little uncertain for the small applications. Fuel cells with biogas and Dish 
Stirling have potential to be lower cost, but are also long-term.  


3. 2008 RE Budget 


Peter presented the 2007 accomplishments and plans for 2008. In 2007, Staff expects 77.3 aMW 
of new projects to be completed, including GoodNoe Hills and Biglow Canyon Wind Farms. 
This will represent a cumulative total of 94.1 aMW of projects on-line since 2003. Another 2.6 
aMW (2 projects) will be delayed to 2008. Staff has reserved funds and received Board approval 
for an additional 16 aMW (7 projects) that have final contracts pending or in process. If all the 
pending projects come on line, we will have achieved 112 aMW of new generation with funds 
from 2002-2007. 
 
Forty-two feasibility studies were conducted or initiated in 2007. Staff developed new program 
offerings for PV (incentive for non-taxable entities with or without third-party financers) and 
Small wind. New, strategic partnerships were coordinated with the efficiency programs for 
dairies and wastewater treatment plants. And, staff re-crafted the green tag policy. 
 
Solar    
The volume in the solar program increased 95% over 2006. We completed 200 projects totaling 
1.1 MW, 57% of which were commercial installations, and committed to an additional 63 
projects totaling 495 kW. Staff created strategic partnerships for outreach with OSEIA, Solar 
Oregon and the City of Portland Office of Sustainable Development’s Solar Now! Campaign. 
Staff held 30 seminars and presentations reaching more than 1,700 people, and held 6 trainings 
for more than 240 industry members which lead to approval of 20 new solar contractors. 
 
The caps for commercial projects were increased and a new incentive for non-taxable entities 
was rolled out. A standard application process for third-party owned systems was developed 
and launched, and Energy Trust completed a feasibility study of PV for OMSI. 
 
Wind  
The 3 community wind projects were delayed to 2008 due to tight turbine supply. Staff 
conducted and initiated 5 feasibility studies and secured 3 USDA grants for feasibility studies, 
leveraging $222,840 in additional funds. The program loaned two (20-30m) anemometers, for a 
total of 22 since 2003. Staff began a phase-out of the Anemometer Loan Program and re-
orientate customers to a web-based tool. Energy Trust installed one tall tower (50m), for a total 
of 5 since 2006. Three new sites will be added in support of the new USDA grants. The small 
wind program supporting turbines <250 KW was launched. 
 
Open Solicitation    
The program supported 2 hydro projects scheduled for completion in 2008 and provided 
funding for 2 large, solar projects scheduled for completion in 2008. Swalley Hydropower is 
scheduled for completion in 2009. Staff conducted or initiated 20 feasibility and scoping studies 
and met with 25 agencies, organizations, and municipalities to present program offerings. 
The program identified credible third-party financers and has continued to act as an incubator 
For new program offerings such as non-taxable entities. Staff launched the Multnomah County 
solar RFP, and demonstrations of small wind led to a separate standard offer under the wind 
program. 







DRAFT RAC notes – 10/17/2007 


 5


 
Biopower  
Rough & Ready’s 1.2-MW biomass CHP is slated to be completed in November. Portland’s 1.7-
MW biogas generator should be on-line in early 2008. Funding was approved for the 15.8 MW 
biomass CHP at Warm Springs Forest Products. Staff conducted and initiated 16 feasibility 
studies. The program also supported USDA applications and market analysis for animal 
byproducts. The Dry Creek Landfill’s 3.2-MW project came on line. The program initiated a 
coordinated outreach effort to Dairies, with the ETO PE program, the OR Dairy Farmers 
Association and OSU, Wastewater treatment plants, with Oregon Association of Clean Water 
Agencies 
 
Budget Overview 
Themes for the 2008 budget include the maturation of a successful set of base programs; 
addressing the increase of volume and demand; and finish the transition to a focus on projects 
20 MW or smaller (as a result of SB 838). There is a greater customer need for Energy Trust 
presence before and during project development: more technical assistance, project evaluation 
and market validation. Serving the role of the neutral party for reviewing is still important.  
 
The goals for 2008 are to bring on line the commitments from 2007, commit to an additional 9 
aMW of new projects (to be on line 2009-2010), continue to support a range of resources and 
technologies, and link with PGE on their 2008 PGE RFP for new resources. 
 
To respond to SB 838, Staff will incorporate the new offerings from 2007, continue to build the 
pipeline of new projects and expand efforts in OSP for hydro and small geothermal. Programs 
will strive to meet emerging opportunities for wastewater treatment plants (biogas), dairies, 
large PV (in PGE only). The programs will develop a proactive approach for new markets and 
technologies, and add staff to help meet growth. 
 
New Revenues for 2008 
In Pacific Power there will be $4.9 million, and in PGE, $7.8 million. From prior years there will 
be an additional $5.8 million from Pacific Power and $16.5 million from PGE. This includes $7.1 
million in contracted funds for projects to be completed in 2008-2009and $ 6.1 million in other 
board-approved projects for 2008. The majority of carry-over funds are from un-utilized utility-
scale budgets. 
 
The total budgets for 2008 will be $ 10.81 million in Pacific Power, and $ 24.19 million for PGE. 
As a share of the total budgets, expenditures are anticipated to be 86% Incentives, 5% Delivery 
& Management, 1% Planning & Evaluation, and 8% other costs.  


 
2008 RE Draft Budget and Generation 


Programs Total costs Range in aMW 


 $ million % Total Conservative Best Case 


Biopower $10.85 31.0% 3.78 8.78 


Open Solicitation 8.97 25.6% 2.07 3.18 


Solar Electric 9.01 25.7% .43 .57 


Utility Scale .24 .7%   







DRAFT RAC notes – 10/17/2007 


 6


Wind 5.93 17.0% 2.75 3.93 


Total $35.00 100.0% 9.03 16.46 


 
2008 RE Draft Budget: Pacific Power and PGE 


Programs Pacific Power PGE 


 $ million % Total $ million Total 


Biopower $2.84 26.2% $8.01 33.1% 


Open Solicitation 2.82 26.1% 6.15 25.4% 


Solar Electric 2.62 24.2% 6.39 26.4% 


Utility Scale .20 1.9% .04 .2% 


Wind 2.33 21.6% 3.60 14.9% 


Total $10.81 100.0% $24.19 100.0% 
 
 
Challenges for 2008 will include the possibility of the expiration of the federal tax credits. 
Managing differences in opportunity for each utility continues to be an issue, and staff will 
continue to develop broader opportunities for PGE. 
 
Lori asked what the outlook for PV prices looks like with less expensive technology and 
additional manufacturers coming online. Peter replied that there are promises of 50% reduction 
in the cost of modules in the next five years. This may translate into a 20% or less reduction in 
cost for the end consumer. We are being conservative in our estimates of price decline. Frank 
added that he does not believe the price of panels will begin to decrease for several years due 
to increasing demand. By 2010, as new manufacturing facilities get up and running, we may finally 
see cost declines.  
 
Managing booming expectations for large-scale solar is another challenge staff will face. 
Interconnection requirements and processes is a concern for all of the programs. The strong 
resentment of green tag policy by a few potential program participants, including the City of 
Portland, will continue to test Energy Trust’s creativity. 
 
Growth and managing the changes brought by SB 838 will bring their own set of challenges: re-
focusing on smaller projects; meeting the needs of new partners requiring more technical 
assistance; creating new project opportunities; digging deeper in existing markets; coping with 
longer lead times; filling the need for different financial offers. 
 
Carel said that he likes the balance of program activities and appreciated the overview. Peter 
replied that he realized that the 1.5% for solar was not mentioned, but it will be a challenge that 
requires coordination with ODOE. 
 







DRAFT RAC notes – 10/17/2007 


 7


Jesse asked if solar thermal was on the efficiency side, and Peter confirmed that it is. Thor asked 
if direct use geothermal is also treated as efficiency, and Betsy confirmed that is the case. Frank 
said that there is a huge budget increase from 2007, and asked if it is expected that all this 
funding will be spent in 2008. Peter said that this budget anticipates that all the funding will be 
added to 2008. This will make 2009 a difficult transition year. The logic is that the money will 
allow us to make projects happen. It also allows us to take advantage of a good, larger project 
that crops up in PGE. 
 
Carel said that the Renewable Energy Working Group is considering a regional focus on 
renewables from an economic development perspective. For example, working with Lake 
County on a renewable energy plan. Peter said that Energy Trust already partners with the 
Oregon Department of Economic Development, which has resulted in some opportunities. 
Adam added that Energy Trust has collaborated actively with a handful of studies that we are 
co-funding. 
 
Betsy said that there have been discussions about regional workshops for municipalities and 
counties that would explore economic development.  
 
Jesse asked if the influx of dollars in 2008 would necessitate additional funding for staff. Peter 
said that there is a position currently open to support commercial activity in solar. A new staff 
member will be added to the wind program in 2008 as a part of the budget, and we will propose 
increasing a current half-time position to full-time later in 2008 (if this proves necessary). 
 
Staff will need preliminary budget comments form the RAC by 10/31. The first draft of the 
budget will be presented to the Board 11/14. Final RAC comments are due by 11/21, and the 
final budget will be brought before the board on 12/12. The next RAC will focus on staff 
responses, the 2009 budget, and other budget comments. 


4. Public Comments 


Carel announced that the Harvesting Clean Energy conference will be held in Portland on Jan 
27-29. The website will have the initial program description up soon. Adam added that Energy 
Trust is a co-sponsor of this event.  
 
Peter clarified that Jesse will temporarily be the official RAC member from RNP until a staff 
position is filled. Chris Taylor from Horizon Energy is currently a RAC member but has not 
attended a meeting for 12 months. Policy requires that the RAC evaluate his membership status. 
Peter added that he would like to extend an offer of RAC membership to Robert Grott at the 
Northwest Environmental Business Council, Jon Miller of OSEIA, a representative from Enxco 
and potentially an interested engineer at CH2MHill.  The group was supportive. Peter invited 
additional suggestions. 
 
 
Peter adjourned the meeting at 11:40 am. 








 
 
 
 


Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 77th Meeting 
October 3, 2007 
 
Board members present:  Rick Applegate (via telecommunication), Jason Eisdorfer, Tom Foley, Julie 
Hammond, Al Jubitz, Debbie Kitchin, John Klosterman, Vickie Liskey, Caddy McKeown, Alan Meyer, 
Preston Michie, Bill Nesmith, John Reynolds  
 
Board members absent: John Savage    
 
Staff attending:  Fred Gordon, Margie Harris, Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Linda Rudawitz, Sue Meyer 
Sample, Jan Schaeffer, John Volkman, Peter West, Kendall Youngblood 
 
Others attending:  Jeremy Anderson, WISE; Bill Edmonds, NW Natural; Joe Esmonde, IBEW #48; 
Lori Koho, OPUC; Bob Stull, PECI  
 
 
Business Meeting 
President Tom Foley called the meeting to order at 12:14 pm.  
 
August 8, 2007, meeting minutes.  
 
MOTION: Approve minutes from the August 8, 2007, meeting minutes.  
 


Moved by: John Reynolds Seconded by: Alan Meyers 


Vote: In favor: 8  Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on October 3, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Preston Michie, Debbie Kitchin, Al Jubitz and Jason Eisdorfer joined the meeting. 
 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


2 


Consent Agenda 
 
 
Contribution to supplemental employee retirement plan 
 


RESOLUTION #448 
AUTHORIZING A CONTRIBUTION TO THE ENERGY TRUST 
SUPPLEMENTAL EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN FOR THE  


BENEFIT OF MARGIE HARRIS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
WHEREAS:  


The Energy Trust's Executive Director Evaluation Committee has completed its review 
of an independent salary survey indicating that the executive director's current salary is 
well below salary for comparable positions. The committee recommends that the 
board approve a $7,000 contribution to the Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan 
for the executive director's benefit. 


It is RESOLVED: 


 That the Board of Directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes a $7,000 
contribution to the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Supplemental Employee Retirement 
Plan, for the benefit of Margie Harris, executive director. 


 
 


Moved by: Vickie Liskey Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


Vote: In favor: 12 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
 
Adopted as part of the consent agenda on October 3, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Contract execution policy 
 


RESOLUTION #449 
APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE ENERGY TRUST  


CONTRACT EXECUTION POLICY 
 


WHEREAS: 


1. For Energy Trust programs administered by program management contractors 
(PMCs), the executive director signs a contract with the PMC, typically subject to 
board approval of the contract’s basic terms.  







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


3 


2. Once a program management contract is signed, incentive payments are authorized by 
approved PMC personnel. These payments are processed using standardized forms 
that have been developed by Energy Trust staff and the Energy Trust legal department. 


3. Once incentive payments are authorized by PMC personnel, checks are signed by 
authorized Energy Trust signatories. All expenditures are subject to the Energy Trust 
finance department’s system of internal controls, audits, etc. 


4. With the transition of the production efficiency (PE) program in-house and 
responsibility to approve incentives to Energy Trust, Energy Trust’s current contract 
execution policy would require incentive payments to be signed by the executive 
director. This process could become a barrier to project initiation or cause delays 
compared to the current PMC procedure. 


5. In addition, current policy authorizes department directors to sign agreements not 
involving a dollar expenditure. Most contracts not involving dollar expenditures are 
confidentiality agreements in which specific staff are allowed to review confidential 
information if they agree not to disclose it. These agreements often apply to the 
individual staff member who is given access to the information, not to department 
directors or Energy Trust as an organization 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.:  
amends the Energy Trust contract execution policy as follows:  
 
Contract Execution and Oversight Policy  
 
Purpose:  The Energy Trust Board of Directors has delegated to the Executive Director authority 
to execute all contracts on behalf of the organization consistent with the bylaws, PUC grant 
agreement and governing law. This policy regulates the implementation of this authority. 
 
Policy: 
1. All contracts shall be consistent with the bylaws, PUC grant agreement and governing 


law. 
 
2. The Energy Trust legal department shall review as to form all contracts before 


submitting them to the Executive Director. 
 
3. Contracts over the amount of $500,000:   


o No contract will be executed unless the Board of Directors has first reviewed and 
approved its basic terms.  


o When it approves basic contract terms, the Board may instruct the Executive 
Director to bring a final contract back to the Board for review and approval before 
the contract is executed. 


o The Executive Director shall not execute contract amendments that make major 
changes in contract terms (e.g., more than 10% change in funds obligated, more 
than 20% change in energy saved or produced, time by which savings will be 
achieved) unless the Board of Directors has first reviewed and approved the basic 
terms of the change. 


 
4. Contracts under $500,000:  The Executive Director or, if the Executive Director is 


unavailable, the General Counsel or corporate officer designated by the Executive 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


4 


Director, is authorized to execute contracts involving less than $500,000 without Board 
review or approval of basic terms. 


 
5. For programs managed directly by Energy Trust staff, incentive agreements that 


involve less than $500,000, and are processed in accordance with standardized program 
forms and procedures that have been reviewed by the legal department may be 
approved by the relevant department director or management-level staff designated by 
the department director.  


 
6. Personnel contracts and agreements: The Executive Director or, if the Executive 


Director is unavailable, the General Counsel or corporate officer designated by the 
Executive Director, may execute personnel contracts or contracts for personal or 
professional services without Board review or approval of basic terms. 


 
7. Contracts not involving a dollar expenditure may be signed by the relevant director or 


his/her designated manager(s). 
 
8. The Executive Director shall maintain contract records required for an independent 


audit. 
 
 


Moved by: Vickie Liskey Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


Vote: In favor: 12 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 


Adopted as part of the consent agenda on October 3, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Renewable Energy Program 
 
John Reynolds introduced discussion of a proposal to place 3.5-4.7 MW of solar electric on as many as 
17 ProLogis buildings in PGE territory. Peter West said the project was brought to us by PGE and fits 
within the PGE Master Agreement. Output from the proposed systems will exceed our cumulative total 
installations in Oregon to date. ProLogis is one of the largest owners of warehouse buildings in Oregon, 
with 19 buildings in PGE territory. PGE is interested in having the power delivered into their grid. The 
buildings will be qualified facilities (QF) under the Public Utilities Regulatory Policy Act (PURPA). The 
approach is complex. Energy Trust would provide $3.4 million for at least 3.5 MW total capacity on as 
few as six buildings or as many as 17. Peter said ProLogis has installed large systems in Europe and this 
would be their first U.S. project using this approach. ProLogis believes the solar systems are appreciated 
by their customers and add value to their buildings.  
 
Alan Meyer asked if ProLogis is providing the remaining $22 million. Peter said yes, with a combination 
of its own and investor funds.  
 
Preston Michie asked how many kilowatt hours the facility would produce. Peter said a 3.5 MW system 
would deliver 3.5 million kilowatt hours per year. In this area, 1 watt of solar produces 1 kilowatt/year.  







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


5 


 
Al Jubitz asked about the value of the rooftops and how many square feet of rooftop is required. Kacia 
Brockman said about 100 square feet is required per kilowatt of solar capacity. Julie Hammond noted 
during the morning tour of the OSHU Center for Health and Healing, the engineers said the latest trend 
in siting solar is to consider the entire skin of a building.  
 
Bill Nesmith joined the meeting. 
 
 


RESOLUTION #453 
APPROVING FUNDS FOR A SOLAR PROJECT WITH PROLOGIS 


 
WHEREAS: 


1. ProLogis proposes to install a total of 3.5 - 4.7 MW of solar photovoltaic (PV) 
generation on as many as 17 ProLogis buildings in the Portland General Electric (PGE) 
service territory. 


2. The above-market costs of the project are estimated to be $3,405,000 or less.  


3. Even at the low end, the project would be the Energy Trust’s largest single PV venture, 
exceeding the Solar Electric program’s total installed capacity during the last four 
years. 


4. Energy Trust funding of an estimated $0.97/watt would be by far the lowest it has ever 
paid per unit for solar. In comparison, the standard incentive program provides 
$1.50/watt.  


5. Over the first 20 years of operation, the clean power produced by the project will help 
avoid over 42,700 tons of CO2 emissions. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
approves an agreement with ProLogis consistent with the following basic terms:  


1. ProLogis will deliver a project of at least 3.5 MW. 


2. When bids are finalized and accepted by ProLogis, staff will re-calculate above-market 
costs. 


3. Energy Trust will provide a maximum of $3,405,000. 


4. Green tags will be delivered to PGE and held in trust by PGE for the benefit of 
ratepayers for compliance with Renewable Energy Act obligations.  
 


 


Moved by: John Reynolds Seconded by: Julie Hammond 


Vote: In favor: 12 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 


Adopted on October 3, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


6 


Rick Applegate left the meeting due to poor teleconference capability. 


 
Energy Efficiency Program 
Jason Eisdorfer introduced a proposal to revise the New Homes performance compensation goal. Steve 
Lacey said the proposal would adjust Energy Trust’s contract with PECI in recognition of the slowdown 
in the new home construction market. The current best-case contract goal is 611,800 annual therms. 
Staff had predicted a mild downturn in establishing this goal but did not anticipate the large size of the 
downturn. The number of new permits has fallen, and unsold homes on the market have increased 
nearly 50%. Despite this, Steve said PECI has obtained an impressive 8% market share for ENERGY 
STAR® New Homes.  
 
Kendall Youngblood said the conservative case contract goal is 75% of the best case goal, or just over 
459,000 therms. She noted products and new manufactured homes are included in this goal. The 
resolution proposes to adjust only the New Homes portion, reducing it by 50%. On the multifamily side, 
the resolution proposes adjusting the goal downward by 50% in light of a six-month delay in EPA 
approval of multifamily measures to be promoted by the program. The levelized cost was 25 cents per 
therm. It will go up to $.45, which is close to the cost-per-therm performance measure of 40 cents per 
therm.  
 
Steve explained that the New Homes budget would remain the same. PECI is spending budgeted funds 
and pursuing the tighter market. The incentives budget, while underspent because of lower market 
activity, is not included in the PECI contract budget and will be carried forward into 2008.  
 
Al Jubitz wondered whether the PECI administration budget should be reduced in proportion to the 
reduction in incentives. Kendall said PECI will underspend by year’s end; unspent funds will roll into the 
2007 carryover of next year’s budget. Steve said PECI must do the originally planned amount of 
outreach and training to keep the market moving, keep the pipeline filled and builders engaged. Kendall 
said we are recruiting builders at a record level, but they are not building homes. As soon as the market 
turns around, these new builders will be ready to go.  
 
Preston Michie asked what the penetration rate is of new efficient appliances in new homes. In a down 
market, having efficient appliances may be a competitive advantage.  
 
Alan Meyer asked if the adjustment is for 2007 only. Steve said this is so. The goal for 2008 will be 
established in the course of developing the 2008 budget. Alan wondered if there should be an increase 
in the appliance goal to offset the reduction in new home construction. Kendall said washer sales have 
exceeded expectations, but, at three therms per washer, it is hard to accumulate savings. 
 
Julie Hammond asked where PECI is now compared to goal. Bob Stull, PECI, said currently they are at 
30-35% of the therm goal for the year. He noted that he expects to exceed the 2007 kWh goal by 16%. 
He said PECI actively goes out to recruit new builders. For instance, Renaissance Homes agreed to build 
100% ENERGY STAR homes but they have stopped building spec homes. Julie asked whether if the goal 
is dropped by 50%, whether they will meet the best case (therm) goal. Bob said it will be a stretch to 
meet the adjusted best case goal but he thinks they will meet the conservative case goal. She asked if 
PECI is reaching out statewide. Bob said they have signed up seven new builders in Southern Oregon, 
and have increased penetration in the Willamette Valley. He said they are also developing new gas 
measures.  
 
John Klosterman asked what penalties would be imposed if the goal is not adjusted and PECI fails to 
meet its conservative case goal. Steve explained that the monthly retainage of invoiced dollars will not 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


7 


be released if they fail to meet the goal. Bob said the amount of money at stake is $140,000 if the 
conservative goal is not adjusted. Bonus incentives are paid if the contractor exceeds the best case 
goals.  
 
There was discussion of which metrics to consider in measuring the size of the downturn. Bob Stull 
noted the New Homes program works with large-volume builders, who are disproportionately affected 
by the downturn. Small builders (3-5 homes/year) are seeing less impact on their volume. Our 
projections are based on contact with the builders with whom we work, determining current year-end 
projections compared to forecasts made last year for 2007. 
 
Tom is concerned about the move from 25 cents/therm to 45 cents/therm levelized cost. Bob explained 
numbers of staff remain the same, but he is having staff direct a lot more of their effort to attracting and 
training new builders. When the major new builders brought on this year start building homes in 2008, 
we will see the value from the expenditure in 2007. Tom asked whether the smaller builders are more 
likely than previously to do green buildings. Bob said we have been working selectively with more small 
builders. We work with builders’ associations to help get the program promoted to more of their 
builders, not just the large ones. 
 
Alan suggested a short-term incentive in facets of the program other than new homes to get an uptake 
there. Preston says that is a short-term view. In the short-term, it looks as though cost per unit of 
savings has gone up; but if you take the longer view, the investment in new homes is worth it. He notes 
PECI is sharing in the risk by losing a share of profit.  
 
Margie noted we are not in a cash-constrained situation on the gas side and are aggressively pursuing all 
gas opportunities. If we were constrained, she thinks Alan’s suggestions would have merit.  
 
John Reynolds noted in spite of the downturn, the market is attractive. When business picks up again, 
we’ll be poised to achieve more market share. He agrees this is a great time to reach the builders and 
attract them to the program. Julie suggested using their downtime to educate them on green tags.  
 
John Klosterman asked whether PECI should be held accountable to achieve greater market penetration 
(and lower levelized cost). Steve thinks this has merit and will seek to incorporate a penetration metric 
in the contract terms.  
 
Al wondered whether we should adjust the goal at the end of the year based on the actual reduction in 
housing starts. Alan said he would have greater comfort framing the goal in terms of market 
penetration. Preston thinks it makes sense to make a change along these lines. Vickie noted we’re 
dealing with a contract; you can’t change the basis of the goal.  
 
Jason said he is more comfortable now supporting the proposal, so long as we address new ideas about 
framing goals in the future. Tom though it might be better to set conditions for waiving restrictions on 
retainage rather than changing the goal.  
 
Al thinks 8.5% penetration is not success. He thinks we should go after the small builders. Fred Gordon 
noted the biggest potential impact of the program is through code change. The strategy is to bring 
enough big and small builders on board so that more stringent energy building codes are accepted. This 
is poised to happen next year. Steve said nationally ENERGY STAR penetration is slightly over 2%. 
 
Tom thinks in the future we should go after a way to address the retainage rather than to change the 
goal.  







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


8 


 
New Homes performance compensation goal revision 
 


RESOLUTION #451 


ANNUAL THERM GOAL REDUCTION ADJUSTMENT AND ADJUSTMENT FOR 
ENERGY STAR NEW HOMES PROGRAM AND PECI CONTRACT 


WHEREAS: 
 
1. Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. (PECI) is the program management contractor for 


the Energy Trust Home Energy Solutions/ENERGY STAR Homes and Products 
program (“program”).  


 
2. The total best case contract annual therm goal for the current agreement between 


Energy Trust and PECI is 611,820 annual therms with a levelized cost of .25/therm.  
 
3. Since the contract was signed, the new homes market has fallen sharply throughout 


much of Oregon, driven by the decline of the real estate market, the collapse of the 
sub-prime loan market, and other factors. Although the program is retaining an 
impressive market share of ENERGY STAR homes, it cannot realistically be expected 
to achieve the current annual therm savings goals for reasons beyond control of PECI 
or Energy Trust. 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 


 
1. That the Energy Trust board of directors approves amending the January 1, 2007, 


program management contract by adjusting the best-case gas goal to 344,820 annual 
therms with a new levelized cost of $.45/therm. The conservative case will adjust 
proportionately to 258,615 annual therms at $.59/therm levelized cost. 


 
2. The executive director is authorized to sign a contract amendment consistent with this 


resolution. 
 


Moved by: Jason Eisdorfer Seconded by: Julie Hammond 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 2 [Alan Meyer was not comfortable adjusting the goal 
downward without commensurate increase in goal(s) 
for other program elements. Al Jubitz was 
uncomfortable with the methodology behind the 
recommended goal change.] 


Adopted on October 3, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 


 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


9 


Lori Koho, OPUC, commented on the amount of gas carryover. OPUC is concerned that these monies 
are not being spent down. Money was directed to the Energy Trust to make something happen, and 
now nothing is happening. Steve said we are anticipating tapping $2 million of the $7 million gas 
carryover in 2008 (please note: date corrected from 2007 to 2008 after the board meeting). Furthermore, if 
we receive SB 838 efficiency funding starting in 2008, we expect to spend even more on the gas side 
because we will be able to accelerate electric activity, and many measures require both gas and electric 
funding. We expect gas expenditures to exceed annual revenues for the next several years. In 3-4 years, 
we are likely to spend down the gas carryover.  
 
Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings Program Management Contract 
 
Jason introduced a proposal to mesh the contracting process with the budget process that would be 
reflected in the new contract with Lockheed Martin for the Existing Buildings program. John Volkman 
said we are seeking approval of program management contracts in a new format, in which much of the 
detail included in past board resolutions is left out. The board will be briefed with all of the same 
information as in the past, but resolutions will be more general. This is because budget levels and goals 
cannot be resolved and finalized until the board approves the final budget and action plan in December.  
Today, staff seeks approval to negotiate the Existing Buildings contract now and to fill in the contract 
costs and savings goals after the board has approved the 2008 budget.  
 
Greg Stiles walked the board through the proposal. He noted this is the third time the program has 
been competitively bid. Each time, Lockheed Martin was selected as the superior bidder. There were 
two bidders proposing this most recent time. The review committee consisted of three staff from 
Energy Trust and representatives from the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance and Clark Public Utility 
District. The Lockheed Martin proposal stood out, reflecting a superior understanding of the market 
sectors, and ability to ramp up if SB 838 funds materialize. It is a three-year contract with an option to 
renew for up to two years, which is a departure from the historic two-year contract with one-year 
option.  
 
Preston sought clarification that the budget controls the contract, not the other way around. He noted 
the board in effect must approve contract extensions. He proposed rewording the last sentence of the 
second “resolved” item to state that “the contract may be amended annually consistent with board’s 
approval of the annual action plan and budget.” 
 
John Reynolds observed that, over the life of Energy Trust, the ability to attract competition among 
program management contractors has gone down. Steve said he thinks the ability to offer a longer-term 
contract will make a difference, particularly in light of the strong activity in California that is attractive to 
contractors. Caddy asked why the fact that the new contract was for 3 years, with the option to extend 
for 2 years, was not reflected in the RFP. Steve said at the time we did not know whether the life of the 
public purpose fund would be extended (as it now has been through 2025). Alan Meyer wondered if we 
should have re-issued the RFP. John Volkman said the language of the RFP included disclaimers that 
terms may change. Steve said he was advised by OPUC not to include language about the possibility of 
longer-term contract terms in the RFP because the legislature had not acted on the extension of the 
public purpose charge.  
 
Jason noted the importance of not making representations to Lockheed Martin regarding contract terms 
prior to board approval of the budget in December. Bill Nesmith said he agreed with John Reynolds’ 
concerns that, by consistently choosing incumbents, potential competitors hear the subliminal message, 
“why bother responding?” Jason noted we did have a situation where the incumbent did not win a re-bid 
on a contract. Preston asked if we should award the contract to two entities. Staff noted that this would 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


10 


increase administrative costs significantly. Bill thought there may be pilots or demos to give some 
business to new entities.  
 
 
Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings program management contract 
 


RESOLUTION #450 


 
APPROVE BASIC TERMS OF A CONTRACT WITH  


LOCKHEED MARTIN TO MANAGE BUSINESS ENERGY SOLUTIONS - 
EXISTING BUILDINGS PROGRAM  


 
 
WHEREAS: 
 


1. The current Energy Trust contract with its Existing Buildings program management 
contractor terminates December 31, 2007. 


2. With assistance from a selection committee including outside parties, staff has conducted a 
fair and open procurement process to select a contractor to manage the program for the next 
3-5 years.  


3. Lockheed Martin has been selected through this process and proposed contract terms 
are in the process of being negotiated.  


4. Staff has assumed a first-year budget of approximately $5,928,000 for this program. 
This includes a first-year delivery contract cost of about $1,121,000 and incentives of 
$2,907,000.  


5. Savings could be as much as 2.3 aMW (best case) at a cost of approximately $1.9 
million per aMW and a levelized cost of $0.021 cents per kWh. Gas savings could be as 
much as 460,000 therms (best case) at a cost of $3.80 per annual therm and a levelized 
cost per unit of $0.37 per therm. 


6. The above numbers are based on assumptions. Actual savings and costs will be 
reviewed by the Energy Trust board as part of the annual budget and action plan 
decisions.  


 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. Subject to later board review of cost/benefit ratios and projected savings numbers, the 
board authorizes a contract with Lockheed Martin to manage the Business Energy 
Solutions - Existing Buildings Program from January 1, 2008, through December 31, 
2010. Provided Lockheed Martin meets certain established performance criteria in the 
final contract, the contract may be extended for up to an additional two years. 


2. First-year contract costs and savings goals will be included in the contract consistent 
with the board-approved 2008 action plan and budget. Thereafter, the contract may be 
amended annually consistent with the board's approval of the annual budget and action 
plan decisions.  







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


11 


3. The executive director is authorized to sign an initial contract and any contract 
amendments consistent with this resolution and board-approved action plans and 
budgets.  


4. To maximize program savings and benefits, staff may reallocate funds among 
categories within the program budget as long as such reallocation is consistent with the 
board-approved annual budget and action plan decisions.  


5. Before extending this contract beyond December 31, 2010, staff will report to the 
board on Lockheed Martin's progress and staff's recommendation whether to extend 
the contract for up to two years. See Appendix I for extension criteria. Contract terms 
for the extension period would remain as approved in the most recent action plans, 
budgets and contract at the time of the extension. Absent board objection to extending 
the contract, the executive director is authorized to sign the contract extension.  


 
Moved by:  Al Jubitz Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 


 
Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 
 Opposed: 0 


 


Adopted on October 3, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 


APPENDIX I 
Contract Extension Metrics 
 


1. Cross program referrals   
a. Problems don’t arise 
b. Appreciable savings being realized in referred programs 
c. Procedure for working well with other programs that will facilitate smooth referral process 


2. Project pipeline  
a. Based on goals and available funding, balancing next year’s savings and budget targets 


3. Innovation 
a. Adding new measures  
b. Adjusting/reducing incentive levels 
c. New delivery approaches (reaching focused market sectors and/or customers) 


4. Teamwork 
a. How well PMC staff works with Energy Trust staff (flexibility and responsiveness) 


5. Satisfactory execution of contract statement of work deliverables  
a. Program savings 
b. Levelized cost goals 
c. Budget management 
d. Data management 
e. Customer services 
f. Marketing 
g. Quality control 


 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


12 


Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes Program Management Contract 


Jason introduced a proposal to award the Existing Homes program management contract to 
Conservation Services Group. Steve introduced Diane Ferington, who described the selection process. 
While there were four companies expressing intent to propose, only one did—CSG, the incumbent. 
The selection committee included three Energy Trust staff and representatives of the US Environmental 
Protection Agency and Eugene Water and Electric Board. She said the proposal was strong, reflected a 
lot of creative thought, included good ideas for spending SB 838 money, and supported integration of 
solar. The proposed contract runs for three years with the option to extend for two years.  


Preston said he is impressed with the approach of including “outsiders” on the selection panels. He 
thinks these kinds of folks bring valuable expertise. He assumed the same language change as in the 
previous resolution would be made to the second “resolved” bullet.  


Diane explained reasons why two of the prospective proposers chose not to submit.  
 


RESOLUTION #447 
APPROVE BASIC TERMS OF A CONTRACT WITH  
CONSERVATION SERVICES GROUP TO MANAGE  


HOME ENERGY SOLUTIONS-EXISTING HOMES PROGRAM 
 
 
WHEREAS: 


1. The current Energy Trust contract with its Home Energy Solutions program Program 
Management Contractor (PMC) terminates December 31, 2007. 


2. With assistance from a selection committee including outside parties, staff has 
conducted a fair and open procurement process to select a contractor to manage the 
program for the next 3-5 years.  


3. Conservation Services Group, Inc. ("CSG") has been selected through this process and 
proposed contract terms are in the process of being negotiated.  


4. Staff has assumed a first-year budget of approximately $12,765,000 for this program, 
including a first-year delivery contract cost of approximately $3,986,000 and incentives 
of $6,281,000.  


5. Savings could be as much as 2.37 aMW (best case) at a cost of approximately $3.25 
million per aMW and a levelized cost of $0.021 cents per kWh. Gas savings could be as 
much as 808,961 therms (best case) at a cost of $6.26 per annual therm and a levelized 
cost per unit of $0.31 per therm. 


6. The above numbers are based on assumptions. Actual savings and costs will be 
determined based upon the Energy Trust board-adopted annual budget and action plan 
decisions.  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. Subject to later board review of cost/benefit ratios and projected savings numbers, the 
board authorizes a contract with CSG to manage the Home Energy Solutions - Existing 
Homes program from January 1, 2008, through December 31, 2010. If CSG meets 
certain established performance criteria in the final contract, the contract may be 
extended for up to an additional two years. 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


13 


2. First-year contract costs and savings goals will be included in the contract consistent 
with the board-approved 2008 action plan and budget. Thereafter, the contract may be 
amended annually consistent with the board's approval of the annual budget and action 
plan decisions.   


3. The executive director is authorized to sign an initial contract and any contract 
amendments consistent with this resolution and board-approved action plans and 
budgets.  


4. To maximize program savings and benefits, staff may reallocate funds among 
categories within the program budget provided such reallocation is consistent with the 
board's annual budget and action plan decisions.  


5. Prior to extending this contract beyond December 31, 2010, staff will report to the 
board on Conservation Services Group's progress and staff's recommendation whether 
to extend the contract for up to two years. See Appendix I for extension criteria. 
Contract terms for the extension period would remain as approved in the most recent 
action plans, budgets and contract at the time of the extension. Absent board objection 
to extending the contract, the executive director is authorized to sign the contract 
extension.  


 
 


Moved by:  Julie Hammond Seconded by: Preston Michie 
 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: o 
  


 Opposed: 0 
 


Adopted on October 3, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 


 
APPENDIX I 
Contract Extension Metrics 
 


6. Cross program referrals   
a. Problems don’t arise 
b. Appreciable savings being realized in referred programs 
c. Procedure for working well with other programs that will facilitate smooth referral process 


7. Project pipeline  
a. Based on goals and available funding, balancing next year’s savings and budget targets 


8. Innovation 
a. Adding new measures  
b. Adjusting/reducing incentive levels 
c. New delivery approaches (reaching focused market sectors and/or customers) 


9. Teamwork 
a. How well PMC staff works with Energy Trust staff (flexibility and responsiveness) 


10. Satisfactory execution of contract statement of work deliverables  
a. Program savings 
b. Levelized cost goals 
c. Budget management 
d. Data management 
e. Customer services 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


14 


f. Marketing 
g. Quality control 


 
 
Report from Special Advisor 
 
Bill Nesmith reported Oregon will raise its residential business code by 15% next spring. Fred said there 
is overlap between the code change and the current New Homes program to maintain our incentives 
through 2008 by providing builders training to help the new code “take.” Thereafter, program incentives 
will be adjusted.  
 
Caddy said she has personal experience with a relative in Bend building a house who was unable to get 
his contractor to consider green or ENERGY STAR, arguing that too much paperwork is required. She 
thinks the code change will have a positive effect in reaching builders like him.  
 
Bill said that Business Energy Tax Credit rulemaking is a daunting challenge. There are 6-8 large solar 
companies poised to come into the state. Obviously, we can’t give all these for-profit companies 
unlimited 50% tax breaks. He said he hopes ODOE will have draft rules out in early November with a 
public hearing held on November 10. He said the passthrough amount for the 50% credit is pegged at 
33.5%, using the same methodology that established 25.5% for the RETC and 35% for the BETC. It’s a 
buyer’s market; there are prospective investors everywhere. The solar industry wanted a rate higher 
than 33.5%, but at that rate you would be unable to attract partners. 
 
Bill noted the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance recently changed the form of its board. It was a 
stakeholder organization with a 28-person board. It has become more of a funder-driven organization. 
The board has been reduced to 15 members, of which 12 are major funders. Jason asked what changes 
this augers. Bill noted they have cut back the amount of support provided to states for codes and the 
like. In the old days, Bill thought it was a market transformation organization; in theory now, at least, 
that has changed.  
 
Fred Gordon noted some of the changes in funding for specific projects are being proposed by a 
committee of the old board, and will be considered by the old board in October, prior to the change in 
board composition. Margie said we do not know if and how the new structure will change NEEA’s 
function. She thinks they will remain a force for market transformation in the region and that they will 
gain some important efficiencies from reducing the size of the board. She thinks the committee 
structure may work well. If the change is approved at the next meeting, Fred will go off the board and 
onto an expert committee; Margie will serve on the board.  
 
Bill commented on the renewable energy item acted on earlier. He noted the incentives plus tax credits 
(state and federal) for the ProLogis proposal covers over 90% of costs. He questions whether this level 
of subsidy is wise or sustainable.  
 
 


Staff Report 
 
Feature presentation: Business Energy Solutions Existing Buildings Program, Greg Stiles, Senior 
Business Sector Manager; Aaron Wines, Lockheed Martin 
 
Greg noted this was the first large Energy Trust program to be competitively bid and was launched in 
early 2003. There was little activity in that first year. In 2004 we changed the approach to the program. 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


15 


Instead of relying on trade allies for 100% of the business, Lockheed Martin hired staff. Business 
immediately went up. In 2004, 60-70% of the savings came from lighting. There was a dramatic "hockey 
stick" effect at the end of 2004. In 2005, the direct marketing began to pay off. We started filling the 
pipeline in 2005 – so much so that this was our largest year. The contribution of lighting projects began 
to fade, down to 50%, as we began to focus on mechanical projects. The large volume led to new 
problems in 2006. We thought we might be committing to projects without having enough funds to 
meet demand and instituted a reservation system. Also, the budget in 2006 was one-third lower. Some 
incentives were lowered. Rumors got out that we were out of money, although every commitment was 
fulfilled and no one was ever turned away. In 2006, lighting dropped down to 40% of total savings. The 
hockey stick effect did happen at the end of the year. In 2007 we launched targeted programs at the 
lodging industry. 2007 also marked the first time the budget and contract were well aligned. This allows 
us to manage the contract dollars very precisely. He said we still get comments about being out of 
money and use marketing and outreach efforts to dispel that misimpression.  
 
He noted the gas side of the program started later, with the financial arrangement inked in midsummer 
2003. We had custom incentives in the marketplace right away, but it took a year to launch prescriptive 
measures. Once these measures hit the marketplace, business went up and stayed there. A lot of the gas 
projects were coupled with electric projects. With the drop in the electric budget in 2006, gas savings 
went down too—not as far, but down.  
 
Al Jubitz asked why the spike happens in December. Greg said a lot of businesses are on a calendar basis 
and need to clear their books at year’s end. Alan Meyer asked if there are long lead times for gas 
projects, similar to electric projects. He noted when we closed the valve in 2006, we affected savings in 
2007.  
 
Margie asked what factors other than our reservation system could have contributed to the downturn. 
Aaron said cuts in incentives played a role. He also noted that frequent turnover of property owners 
contributes as well. Debbie said that, with better collaboration between Energy Trust and business 
partners such as BOMA, the industry is getting the message that money is available.  
 
Julie Hammond asked if there is an internal plan, with contractors on board, to speak with one voice 
about issues such as funding availability. Steve noted the new contracting system that aligns with our 
annual budget has proved critical to good coordination. Our quarterly forecasts help. Margie noted the 
forecasts were facilitated by improvements in FastTrack.  
 
Bill Nesmith left the meeting. 
 
 


Public Comments 
 
Bill Edmonds, NW Natural, spoke about the gas company’s new green power product called Clean 
Energy. Bill credited CUB, in particular Bob Jenks, with conceiving the kernel of the idea a few years ago. 
Bill explained the product permits a residential customer to pay either $6/month to become carbon 
neutral. The average home produces 4 tons of carbon per year. NW Natural’s materials emphasize the 
first action to reduce your carbon footprint is to improve energy efficiency. To address what remains, 
the program promotes carbon offsets from The Climate Trust, who invests them in biogas projects. If 
we were to partner on a biopower project with The Climate Trust, NW Natural would seek the 
greenhouse gas benefits, while Energy Trust would seek the green tags.  
 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


16 


Bill noted that 70 cents of every dollar collected goes to The Climate Trust; the rest pays for education 
and marketing and some program administration. John Reynolds asked for an example of a biogas 
project. Bill said a cow produces 120 pounds of waste per day. The way this is managed today is to put 
it in a lagoon, where it emits methane and causes wastewater problems. In Europe, such waste is run 
through digesters, which maximize the methane produced, so it can be burned to generate electricity. 
Eventually Bill hopes the methane can be cleaned up enough to run it into NW Natural gas pipelines.  
 
 


Staff Report 
 
Margie Harris noted Energy Trust business activity is growing. There has been a five-fold increase in 
number of participants, nearly a two-fold increase in number of projects, and nearly a three-fold 
increase in transactions since 2004. The solar program has experienced a 50% increase in projects, 121% 
increase in number of solar trade allies, 30% increase in web page hits, and a doubling of solar 
installations since last year. She noted the number of staff/contractor computer users (most offsite) has 
grown from 140 to 180. Margie noted we have historically been shy about requesting new positions to 
offset growth in workload and demand. She observed we are also in danger of being out of compliance 
with employment laws governing use of contractors in place of employees.  
 
At this time Margie is asking for four positions. Two are in IT: a new business systems analyst, as 
recommended in the Moss Adams report; and a permanent administrative assistant to replace a long-
term in-house contractor position. The other two positions include supporting centralized support of 
the trade ally network and a solar account project manager to address growth in volume and customer 
service. 
 
Alan Meyer asked if the board had approved adding new positions related to bringing the Production 
Efficiency program in-house. Margie said yes. Sue said this proposed staff increase is expected to 
represent less than 1% of administrative and program support costs for 2007.  
 
Approving four staff positions 
 


RESOLUTION #452 


APPROVING FOUR STAFF POSITIONS 


 WHEREAS: 


1. The Energy Trust 2007-2012 strategic plan and operations plan puts a high priority 
emphasis and focus on streamlining information technology (IT) systems, budget 
processes and program management to enhance flexibility and customer service to 
staff, system users and program participants.  


2. In 2007, Energy Trust retained Moss Adams to review Energy Trust’s IT systems 
and functions. Moss Adams recommended a number of specific improvements, 
including modifications in the IT department organization and structure. The board 
concurs that two key recommendations would be addressed by adding a new 
Business Systems Analyst and a permanent FTE Administrative Assistant.  


3. Energy Trust has identified two other critical areas where additional  staffing would 
substantially improve service to and reliance upon trade allies and program delivery 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


17 


to solar program participants: a Trade Ally/ATAC Coordinator, and a Solar 
Account Project Manager. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes the Executive 
Director to immediately recruit and hire four new permanent staff positions: a 
Business Systems Analyst, an IT Administrative Assistant, a Trade Ally/ATAC 
Coordinator and a Solar Account Project Manager.  


 


 


Moved by: Al Jubitz Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 


Adopted on October 3, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Highlights Margie introduced Tricia McGuire, new hire as Production Efficiency technical manager.  
 
 
President’s Report 
 
Tom Foley announced the Warm Springs Tribe dropped off a signed copy of the biopower project 
contract.  
 
 


Finance Committee 
 
John Klosterman introduced the finance committee report. He noted the change in the policy for 
capitalization from $2,500 per item to $5,000 per item. He noted some of the places we are underspent 
this year include salaries; he is pleased to see the addition of staff resources.  
 
Julie asked how underspending will affect achieving goals. She noted some contracts end this year and 
wondered if we were going to underspend some of them. Margie noted that approximately 50% of the 
annual savings are acquired during the last quarter of the year. She noted Steve is projecting he will 
exceed the electric best case and the conservative case gas goals by year end. She also noted Peter is on 
track for completing utility scale wind projects by year end.  
 
 


Audit Committee 
 
Julie Hammond said she is reviewing documentation for trade ally insurance. 
 
On behalf of Nancy, Julie asked board members please to respond to Nancy about proposed meeting 
schedule and dates for the 2008 calendar. 







Discussion Minutes      October 3, 2007 
 


18 


 
PacifiCorp wind project withdrawal - John Reynolds asked about the impact of PacifiCorp pulling back 
on a major wind project. Peter said we will roll the money forward into the obligation to get 20 MW 
and under projects.  
 
 


Policy Committee 
 
Jason Eisdorfer noted there was a joint policy and strategic planning committee meeting to review the 
results of the Cascade Washington study. He noted a couple of issues with rulemaking for SB 838. Lori 
commented that the Attorney General has interpreted the “constructing and operating” clause defining 
what costs are eligible for renewable energy funds. He concluded that every administering agency should 
be able to recoup the costs of administering their projects. This means she and Sue will need to review 
Energy Trust financial definitions in accordance with this interpretation.  
 
 


Program Evaluation Committee 
 
Debbie Kitchin said the committee has not met since the last board meeting. She noted some evaluation 
executive summaries in the packet. There was discussion about the high CFL failure rate (11% in this 
survey, lower in broader surveys).  
 
 


More Public Comment 
 
Joe Esmonde, IBEW #48, said he represents 4,000 members. He wants Energy Trust staff to talk to his 
contractors, along with sheet metal and mechanical contractors. They have relationships with owners 
and managers that go back many years. They have the perception that it is too hard to participate with 
Energy Trust because there is too much paperwork. Al Jubitz said based on his own experience, Joe is 
on target. He asked what can we do to computerize the application process, including tax credits. He 
was in a meeting recently with Oregon Trout, which has vastly simplified a cumbersome application 
process.  
 
Steve said we are working to create on-line forms that populate ODOE forms too and, possibly, federal 
tax forms. We are asking for funding to move further on this next year. Sue Meyer Sample said we are 
considering rolling this out with one high volume program as a pilot project.  
 
 


Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 3:35 pm 
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be  held 
Wednesday, November 14, 2007, 12:00 noon at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 
12th Floor, Portland, Oregon. The meeting is open to the public. 
 








 
 
Finance Report 
October 31, 2007 
 
The finance committee met at 3:30 pm on October 31, 2007, with John Klosterman, treasurer; Debbie 
Kitchen, board member; Alan Meyer, board member; Margie Harris, executive director (and Tina 
Turner), Sue Sample, CFO; and Pati Presnail, controller, Steve Lacey, director of energy efficiency,  in 
attendance. Tom Foley was not able to attend. 
 
 
Draft 2008 Budget and Action Plan 
 
Margie offered the draft budget presentation she will provide to the board on November 14th.  
Her presentation identified the groundswell of activity she is seeing in the industry and the impacts this 
is having on the Energy Trust. Our growth is an indication we are making a greater contribution and 
having a bigger impact. Our role in the market is likely to shift as we begin pursuing harder to obtain 
savings and generation. The 2008 budget reflects that change. She also identified the potential impact 
increased funding from SB 838 could have on the organization both in growth and volume. 
 
Highlights for Energy Efficiency: 
 


• Forecasted to exceed best case electric goals for 2007 
• 2008 electric goals budgeted to be lower with more market development, outreach and 


customer care required; also no mega-project identified at this time 
• Forecasted to exceed conservative gas goals, acquiring 93% of the best case goal for 2007. 
• 2008 gas savings adjusted to reflect downturn in new housing starts; work continues on new 


technologies; savings results fairly level with 2007 forecasted results 
• Increased emphasis focused on the commercial sector for both gas and electric, in keeping with 


resource assessment 
 
Highlights for Renewable Energy: 
 


• Forecasted results for 2007 are expected to be 77.3 aMW, exceeding the accounting based goal 
by 67% and short of the activity based goal by the same percentage; this is primarily because of a 
utility scale project withdrawn by Pacific Power late in the year and a shortfall of wind turbines 


• 2008 reflects growth in volume and demand across all renewable programs (with the exception 
of utility scale, which winds as we transition to projects 20MW or less) 


• Focus on emerging opportunities and expansion into new markets 
• Focus on meeting customer expectations 


 
OPUC Financial Performance Measures 
 


• Administrative plus program support 
o Forecasted 2007 rate to be 6.1% 
o Budgeted 2008 rate 8.1% 
o Benchmark is 11%; stretch goal is 9% 


• Levelized cost 
o Margie discussed the potential for a change in the discount rate to more closely align with 


the utilities’ rates; this would increase levelized costs 







Finance Report  October 31, 2007 


 2 


o Debbie believes the rate should remain at 3% to reflect the Energy Trust’s status as a 
nonprofit organization rather than a utility 


o The subject is still under discussion with the OPUC; it is expected to be resolved with the 
finalization of the remaining Energy Trust performance measures this winter 


Other 
 


• Management and General to continue focus on process improvements primarily in IT 
• Communication and Outreach to focus on cross-program integration, customer service and 


support efforts 
• Proposed conversions of contracted positions to FTE and requests for new FTE linked to the 


Moss Adams study, increased volume of activity and changes stemming from the Renewable 
Energy Act were also identified 


 
The committee made several suggestions to help clarify the budget presentation and materials. 
  
August and September Financial Statements 
 
Sue asked if any of the committee members had questions about the financial statements submitted to 
them by email. Alan asked about a performance measure discrepancy which was clarified, and there 
were no other questions. The committee indicated that the summarization report was very helpful in 
identifying areas where attention is warranted. 
 
2008 Finance Committee Calendar 
 
The committee discussed the proposed finance committee calendar for 2008. The proposed cancellation 
of the January meeting was approved. The proposed change in the October meeting will be finalized 
later next year. Should there be a need to re-budget in the Spring, a meeting in February may be 
scheduled. 
 
Other News 
 


• Utility Energy Efficiency Plans - Margie provided a brief update on the Energy Efficiency Plan tariff 
filings. PGE filed their plan on October 26. According to OPUC staff, the process may require 
additional time for review and approval, including a public hearing process on an open docket. 
Pacific Power is expected to file their tariff by the end of this week. Depending upon the timing 
for approval of the proposed plans and corresponding tariffs, this may require Energy Trust to 
re-budget twice to reflect anticipated additional revenue for energy efficiency from both utilities. 


 
• Committee Role and Contribution - John asked if staff was getting what they needed from the 


Board members of the committee. Sue and Margie indicated that staff does get great feedback 
from the committee in their review and questions. Staff appreciates the thorough review the 
committee provides. Margie asked if the committee members were getting what they needed 
from staff in order to fulfill their duties. The committee confirmed they are. 


 
The meeting adjourned at 4:45 pm. 
 
 
 
 








commitments made in year for future years  ($millions)
2007 2008


BioPower 0.2$               0.8$               
Open Solicitation 0.2                 0.6$               
Solar PV 1.9                 0.0$               
Utility scale 6.1                 4.4$               
Wind 0.0                 0.0$               
PROJECTS 8.4$               5.8$               


Master agreement -$              


TOTAL 8.4$               5.8$               


Renewable Energy Programs


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
Quarterly Dashboard-Third Quarter 2007 (UNAUDITED)


March 2002-September 2007 Progress Toward 
2012 Goals


145.4


5.6


16.9


Series2,  154.6 


Series2,  13.4 


Series2,  133.1 


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


300 
aMW


19 
Million 
Thms


150 
aMW


Third Quarter YTD 2007 Progress Toward 
Conservative 2007 Annual Goals


21.7


1.2


Series2,  0.6 


Series2,  114.8 


0.1
0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


24.6 
aMW


1.81 
Million 
Therms


114.9 
aMW


Public Purpose Revenue and expenses - total company
Sept 2007 YTD Budget Comparison


(in Millions)
45.5


37.9


48.7


32.0


$0


$10


$20


$30


$40


$50


$60


Revenue Expense


Budget Actual


Cash Balance Forecast
Jul 2006-Dec 2008 


based on
most recent incentive forecast


$0.0
$10.0
$20.0
$30.0
$40.0
$50.0
$60.0
$70.0
$80.0


Jul
06


Oct
06


Jan
07


Apr
07


Jul
07


Oct
07


Jan
08


Apr
08


Jul
08


Oct
08


Energy Efficiency Programs 
Incentives 2007


Commitments-to-date as % of annual budget
cumulative for the year


0%


20%


40%


60%


80%


100%


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Commitments Uncommitted budget


Energy Efficiency Programs
Incentives 2008


Commitments-to-date as % of annual draft budget
cumulative for the year


0%


20%


40%


60%


80%


100%


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Commitments Uncommitted projection


Electric spending - efficiency and renewable Sept 
2007 YTD (in Millions)


26.9


4.9


22.4


2.9


$0


$5


$10


$15


$20


$25


$30


Efficiency Renewables


Budget Actual


Gas spending - efficiency programs
Sept 2007 YTD (in Millions)


6.1


6.7


$6


$6


$6


$6


$7


$7


Efficiency


Budget Actual








INCENTIVE FORECAST


Program sector managers and program management contractors provided 2007 forecasts of incentive payments and commitments for the period beginning 
October 1. These were represented in the approved budget. Commitments for both 2007 and 2008 are represented in the following section. 
Definitions: 


1.       "Budget” and “Projection" are board-approved for 2007 and 2008, respectively. 
2.       "Forecast" is the compilation of individual program forecasts and budgets created by Program Manager Contractors (PMCs) and internal Program Managers.
3.       “Paid + Committed” is the combination of actual payments made in the first 3 Quarters of 2007, plus all commitments made as of 10/1/2007 for payments to be made 
       later in 2007 or 2008. Project commitments represent signed agreements for specific projects, which become payable upon satisfactory completion and inspection. 
4.       "Uncommitted Budget" is the difference between the Proposed Budget and future Commitments (see note 3).
5.       All numbers are expressed in millions of dollars.


ALL SERVICE TERRITORIES


1. All service territories


2007


Program
($ mil)           


Budget 1
($ mil)    


Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary 4.7                     3.9                  2.5                     0.7                     1.4                     
Production Efficiency, primary 9.9                     8.2                  6.8                     1.6                     1.4                     
All other Energy Efficiency 14.5                    13.3                8.7                     1.2                     4.6                     
Energy Efficiency 29.0                    25.4                18.0                    3.6                     7.4                     
Renewable Energy 9.4                     8.9                  8.4                     0.5                     0.5                     
All Programs 38.4                    34.3                26.4                    4.1                     7.8                     


2008


Program
($ mil)        


Projection 1


($ mil)    
Budget and 
Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary 2.9                     3.7                  0.2                     (0.8)                    3.6                     
Production Efficiency, primary 9.2                     9.0                  1.1                     0.2                     7.9                     
All other Energy Efficiency 15.7                    15.2                1.1                     0.5                     14.0                    
Energy Efficiency 27.7                    27.9                2.4                     (0.1)                    25.5                    
Renewable Energy 28.2                    26.5                5.8                     1.7                     20.8                    
All Programs 55.9                    54.4                8.1                     1.5                     46.3                    


2. Portland General Electric


2007


Program
($ mil)           


Budget 1
($ mil)    


Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary 2.7                     1.8                  1.0                     0.9                     0.8                     
Production Efficiency 5.1                     4.2                  3.3                     0.9                     0.9                     
All other Energy Efficiency 5.8                     6.1                  4.0                     (0.3)                    2.1                     
Energy Efficiency 13.6                    12.1                8.4                     1.5                     3.7                     
Renewable Energy 5.0                     7.4                  7.3                     (2.4)                    0.1                     
All Programs 18.6                    19.5                15.6                    (0.9)                    3.9                     


2008


Program
($ mil)        


Projection 1


($ mil)    
Budget and 
Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary 1.6                     2.1                  0.1                     (0.5)                    2.0                     
Production Efficiency 5.0                     4.7                  0.5                     0.3                     4.2                     
All other Energy Efficiency 6.8                     6.6                  0.6                     0.2                     6.0                     
Energy Efficiency 13.3                    13.4                1.2                     (0.1)                    12.2                    
Renewable Energy 17.4                    15.8                0.5                     1.6                     15.3                    
All Programs 30.7                    29.2                1.7                     1.5                     27.5                    


3.  Pacific Power


2007


Program
($ mil)           


Budget 1
($ mil)    


Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary 0.9                     1.3                  0.7                     (0.3)                    0.5                     
Production Efficiency 4.7                     4.0                  3.5                     0.7                     0.5                     
All other Energy Efficiency 4.5                     3.0                  1.8                     1.6                     1.1                     
Energy Efficiency 10.2                    8.2                  6.1                     2.0                     2.1                     
Renewable Energy 4.4                     1.5                  1.2                     2.9                     0.3                     
All Programs 14.6                    9.7                  7.3                     4.9                     2.4                     







2008


Program
($ mil)        


Projection 1


($ mil)    
Budget and 
Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary 0.4                     0.7                  -                     (0.3)                    0.7                     
Production Efficiency 4.2                     4.0                  0.6                     0.2                     3.4                     
All other Energy Efficiency 4.1                     4.0                  0.2                     0.1                     3.8                     
Energy Efficiency 8.7                     8.7                  0.8                     (0.0)                    7.9                     
Renewable Energy 10.8                    10.7                5.3                     0.1                     5.5                     
All Programs 19.5                    19.4                6.0                     0.1                     13.4                    


4.  NW Natural Gas


2007


Program
($ mil)           


Budget 1
($ mil)    


Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary 0.9                     0.8                  0.7                     0.1                     0.1                     
Production Efficiency -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All other Energy Efficiency 3.8                     3.9                  2.6                     (0.1)                    1.3                     
Energy Efficiency 4.7                     4.7                  3.3                     (0.0)                    1.4                     
Renewable Energy -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All Programs 4.7                     4.7                  3.3                     (0.0)                    1.4                     


2008


Program
($ mil)        


Projection 1


($ mil)    
Budget and 
Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary 0.9                     0.9                  0.0                     (0.0)                    0.9                     
Production Efficiency -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All other Energy Efficiency 4.3                     4.4                  0.2                     (0.1)                    4.2                     
Energy Efficiency 5.2                     5.3                  0.2                     (0.1)                    5.0                     
Renewable Energy -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All Programs 5.2                     5.3                  0.2                     (0.1)                    5.0                     


5.  Cascade Natural Gas


2007


Program
($ mil)           


Budget 1
($ mil)    


Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary 0.1                     0.1                  0.1                     (0.0)                    0.0                     
Production Efficiency -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All other Energy Efficiency 0.3                     0.2                  0.1                     0.1                     0.1                     
Energy Efficiency 0.4                     0.3                  0.2                     0.1                     0.1                     
Renewable Energy -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All Programs 0.4                     0.3                  0.2                     0.1                     0.1                     


2008


Program
($ mil)        


Projection 1


($ mil)    
Budget and 
Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary 0.1                     0.0                  0.0                     0.0                     0.0                     
Production Efficiency -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All other Energy Efficiency 0.4                     0.4                  0.1                     (0.0)                    0.3                     
Energy Efficiency 0.5                     0.5                  0.2                     (0.0)                    0.3                     
Renewable Energy -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All Programs 0.5                     0.5                  0.2                     (0.0)                    0.3                     


6.  Avista Natural Gas


2007


Program
($ mil)           


Budget 1
($ mil)    


Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
Production Efficiency -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All other Energy Efficiency 0.1                     0.0                  0.0                     0.0                     0.0                     
Energy Efficiency 0.1                     0.0                  0.0                     0.0                     0.0                     
Renewable Energy -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All Programs 0.1                     0.0                  0.0                     0.0                     0.0                     


2008


Program
($ mil)        


Projection 1


($ mil)    
Budget and 
Forecast 2


($ mil)           
Paid+ 


Committed 3
($ mil)                              


Fcst vs budget


($ mil)    
Uncommitted 


Forecast 4


Existing Buildings, primary -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
Production Efficiency -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All other Energy Efficiency 0.1                     0.0                  0.0                     0.1                     0.0                     
Energy Efficiency 0.1                     0.0                  0.0                     0.1                     0.0                     
Renewable Energy -                     -                  -                     -                     -                     
All Programs 0.1                     0.0                  0.0                     0.1                     0.0                     








 
 
Finance Report 
August 31, 2007 
 
Review August 2007 year to date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 
 


In the August balance sheet the most significant item of note is the change in prepaid expenses.  
The largest component of this represents the advance purchase CFL bulbs to be used in PECI’s 
“Fall Change a Light” CFL Twister promotion. Approximately $400,000 of the increase in that 
account is derived from this payment.  The prepaid amount will be reduced as the CFL bulbs are 
actually distributed. Otherwise the balance sheet accounts reflect normal monthly activity. 
Energy Trust continues to build cash balances over the year with significant expenditures 
occurring late in 2007.  We expect to finish 2007 with a little over $56 million in cash and 
escrows. Of that amount, about $6 million is anticipated to be reserved in escrow accounts. 


 
Income Statements 
 


With the exception of PGE, public purpose revenues for the month tracked pretty closely with 
budget. Collections in excess of budget in PGE service territory more than offset the shortfall 
from the loss of CRC revenue for the month.  On a year to date basis total revenue continues 
to exceed budget by about $2.2 million, with PGE representing $1.9 million of that variance. 
Their previous forecasts did not include the additional collections for the residential rate credit 
reversed earlier this year.  
Variances continue to modestly improve this month over the previous months, with both total 
revenues and total expenditures tracking more closely to budget. The residential sector 
(existing homes) is continuing to overspend its gas budget; however than variance is expected to 
come more in line with budget by year end. Revised revenue forecasts from the electric utilities 
have been incorporated into the forecasting (but not the budget) for the remainder of the year, 
but they are not expected to influence future variances significantly.  


 
Revenue 


• Public purpose revenue above budget by $2.7 million (6.6% variance).  
o PGE 2007 YTD August 


§ EE revenue variance $1.6 million 
§ RE revenue variance $.3 million 


o PacifiCorp 2007 YTD August 
§ EE revenue variance $.4 million 
§ RE revenue variance $.1 million 


o NW Natural YTD August 
§ EE revenue variance $.3 million 


o Cascade YTD August 
§ EE revenue variance .003 million 


o Avista YTD August 
§ EE revenue variance $.06 million 


• Conservation rate credit revenue variance will continue throughout year 
o Currently below budget by $1 million 
o Court ruling on BPA’s residential exchange program will increase variances for 


remainder of year, unless overturned 
o Only received $550,000 of budgeted $1.1M in PGE revenue 







Finance Report  August 31, 2007 


 2 


o Received none of budgeted $800,000 revenue from PacifiCorp 
o Not incurring/reporting any CRC related expenses for either utility 


• Interest income exceeded budget by $546 thousand (35% variance) 
o Higher invested balances than expected; result of reduced spending and more revenue 


 
Expenses 


• Expenses overall below budget by $4.6 million (14.4% variance from budget) 
o By line item 


§ Program management, delivery, marketing $911 thousand (19.6% of expense 
variance) 


• Delivery primarily in commercial sector, then industrial and residential. 
PMC marketing variance (underspent) primarily in residential sector 
where incentives are currently over budget. PMC marketing in the 
commercial sector continues to exceed budget in an effort to improve 
savings attainment 


§ Incentives $.8 million (18% of expense variance)  
• Commercial sector (69% of incentive variance) 


o New buildings—overspending incentives offsetting shortfall in 
existing buildings 


o Existing buildings—temporary delay in project completions 
• Industrial sector (24% of incentive variance) 


o Reflects shift of payment of a major project from April to 
August 


• Overspent in residential sector (-106% of incentive variance) 
o Spring lighting and washer campaigns continuing to go better 


than expected 
o Retrofit projects also much better than expected 
o New home construction underspending due to market 


conditions 
• Renewable energy (113% of incentive variance) 


o Primarily solar where expenditures for incentives are below 
budget primarily due to decisions by businesses to delay 
installations until legislation to increase the state Business 
Energy Tax Credit from 35% to 50% was enacted.  In PGE 
service territory new caps and new incentive offerings are being 
implemented to improve uptake 


§ Professional services $2.2 million (48% of expense variance) 
• Evaluations—delays in scheduling of some large evaluations  


o EB, NB and PE—work expected to begin in August 
o EH—work just began in June 


• Renewables inspection and project analyses still delayed 
• Delayed contracting of IT consultants resulting from delay in letting of 


contract for enterprise architecture study and its results 
• Administrative units-postponement of analysis and implementation 


based on study results and system evaluations 
 


o By division 
§ Energy efficiency 
§ 2.8 million underspent from budget (10%) 


• Electric efficiency under spent $3.6M 
• Continued good news-gas efficiency over spent $.8M 







Finance Report  August 31, 2007 


 3 


§ Renewable energy   
• $1.8 million under spent from budget (43%)—solar, wind and biopower 


programs 
• Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 


o 5.6%, budgeted at 8.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
o Last year August was 5.9%. Last month’s rate was 5.5%. 








AUG JUL AUG Change from Change from
2007 2007 2006 Prior Month Prior Year


Current Assets
  Cash* 64,989,776 64,970,675 50,167,788 19,100 14,821,988
  Program Deposits held in Escrow 6,950,137 6,924,889 2,168,036 25,248 4,782,101
  Receivables 37,138 57,728 39,613 (20,590) (2,475)
  Prepaid Expenses 526,950 50,186 94,262 476,764 432,688
  Advances to Vendors 488,320 833,865 1,304,417 (345,546) (816,098)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
   Total Current Assets 72,992,321 72,837,344 53,774,117 154,977 19,218,204


Fixed Assets
  Computer Hardware and Software 828,520 828,520 782,851 -                       45,668.95              
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                       -                       
  Office Equipment and Furniture 31,805 31,805 65,620 -                       (33,815.89)             


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 973,667 973,667 961,814 -                      11,853
  Less Depreciation (880,924) (874,303) (723,748) (6,621) (157,176)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 92,743 99,364 238,067 (6,621) (145,323)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 36,412 36,412 36,412 -                       -                       
  Deferred Compensation Asset 34,508 33,212 18,229 1,296 16,279


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Other Assets 70,920 69,623 54,641 1,296 16,279


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Assets 73,155,984 73,006,331 54,066,824 149,652 19,089,159


============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 4,653,941 4,284,968 3,634,113 368,973 1,019,828
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 248,028 260,478 229,526 (12,450) 18,502
  Deferred/Unearned Revenue 5,000 5,000 5,000 -                       -                       


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 4,906,969 4,550,446 3,868,639 356,523 1,038,330


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 177,060 178,467 191,021 (1,407) (13,961)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 34,508 33,212 18,229 1,296 16,279
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 13,251 13,176 750 75 12,501


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 224,819 224,855 210,000 (36) 14,819


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities 5,131,788 4,775,301 4,078,639 356,487 1,053,149


Net Assets
  Current Year Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 18,947,458 19,154,293 13,444,272 (206,834) 5,503,186
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 6,950,137 6,924,889 2,168,036 25,248 4,782,101
  Board Designated Net Assets - PGE 12,500,000 12,500,000 12,500,000 -                       -                       
  Board Designated Net Assets - P'Corp -                       -                       4,500,000 -                       (4,500,000)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 29,399,914 29,425,163 17,149,191 (25,248) 12,250,723
  Temp Restricted Net Assets-Beg of Year 226,686 226,686 226,686 -                       -                       


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Net Assets 68,024,196 68,231,030 49,988,186 (206,834) 18,036,010


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 73,155,984 73,006,331 54,066,824 149,652 19,089,159


============== ============== ============== ============== ==============
*Committed to Approved Programs


BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET


August 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







 January February March April May June July August Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,935,995$     4,713,766$     3,733,210$     3,257,960$     2,244,730$     767,185$        501,447$        (206,834)$      18,947,459$      


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 23,338           23,099           23,100           7,501             7,170             9,673             6,766             6,621             107,268$          
Deferred Rent Amortization (1,406)            (1,408)            (1,408)            (1,407)            (1,407)            (1,408)            (1,407)            (1,407)            (11,258)$           


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable (2,333)            (11,344)          8,535             (5,843)            9,599             (3,922)            (6,213)            20,528           9,007$             
Other Receivables 16,967           5,067             (4,871)            (5,500)            972                2,623             (9,708)            62                 5,612$             
Advances to Vendors 309,115         301,027         (541,037)        224,790         (638,949)        311,239         202,773         345,545         514,503$          
Other Assets 7,512             5,142             5,914             7,234             (30,582)          3,676             13,861           (478,060)        (465,303)$         
A/P - Program Subcontracts 44,061           (478,910)        65,862           270,423         1,432,136       (611,586)        986,924         335,479         2,044,389$       
A/P - Incentives (3,435,761)      -                -                -                -                -                -                -                (3,435,761)$      
A/P - Professional Services (15,222)          16,781           (13,143)          (9,489)            20,644           (28,483)          27,189           (8,497)            (10,220)$           
A/P - Operations (75,882)          31,845           (54)                18,070           57,697           (66,776)          (22,716)          41,992           (15,824)$           
Payroll and related accruals 6,620             27,020           (10,839)          15,311           (6,262)            (3,315)            9,842             (11,155)          27,222$            
Other long-term liabilities -                (2,646)            -                -                16,944           1,296             (18,740)          75                 (3,071)$            


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 813,004         4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202         1,690,018       44,349           17,714,023        


Investing Activites:


Acquisition/(Disposal) of Capital Assets (35,874)          -                -                -                -                -                (3,356)            -                (39,230)$           
Cash used in Investing Activities (35,874)          -                -                -                -                -                (3,356)            -                (39,230)            


Cash at beginning of Period 54,265,120     55,042,250     59,671,689     62,936,958     66,716,008     69,828,700     70,208,902     71,895,564     54,265,120        


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 777,130         4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202         1,686,662       44,349           17,674,793        


Cash at end of period 55,042,250$   59,671,689$   62,936,958$   66,716,008$   69,828,700$   70,208,902$   71,895,564$   71,939,913$   71,939,913$      


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2007







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-05 & 2008-F-02


2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007
January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,041,711          7,119,632        6,525,491        5,727,906        5,502,427        4,467,534        4,438,611        4,664,309        4,277,082         4,078,625        4,555,811        5,485,837         


  Investment Income 224,763            198,968           261,255           259,515           283,915           272,704           293,953           310,367           250,000           250,000           200,000           100,000           


Total cash in 6,266,474      7,318,600    6,786,746    5,987,421    5,786,342    4,740,238    4,732,564    4,974,676    4,527,082     4,328,625    4,755,811    5,585,837     


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 811,814            835,290           1,446,011        648,784           511,496           1,351,162        220,068           671,133           2,069,113         1,039,807        1,039,807        1,958,135         


    Incentives 4,008,889          1,270,029        1,511,745        976,287           1,382,467        2,198,130        2,083,920        3,111,688        3,222,453         3,290,569        4,062,453        13,496,991       


    Salaries and related expense 318,210            331,121           336,260           337,468           354,640           339,038           325,359           350,351           367,397           367,397           367,397           540,908           


    Professional services 146,199            198,709           152,383           201,102           308,139           332,535           321,770           250,599           522,381           524,281           508,156           508,556           


    General operating expenses 204,232            54,012             75,078             44,730             116,908           139,171           94,785             546,556           162,193           181,684           157,869           149,547           


Total cash out 5,489,344      2,689,161    3,521,477    2,208,371    2,673,650    4,360,036    3,045,902    4,930,327    6,343,537     5,403,738    6,135,682    16,654,137   


Net cash flow for the month 777,130            4,629,439        3,265,269        3,779,050        3,112,692        380,202           1,686,662        44,349             (1,816,455)       (1,075,113)       (1,379,871)       (11,068,300)      


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 54,265,120        55,042,250       59,671,689       62,936,958       66,716,008       69,828,700       70,208,902       71,895,564       71,939,913       70,123,457       69,048,344       67,668,472       


Ending cash & MM 55,042,250    59,671,689   62,936,958   66,716,008   69,828,700   70,208,902   71,895,564   71,939,913   70,123,457   69,048,344   67,668,472   56,600,172   


Escrow Cash Balance1


Beginning Balance 6,747,454          6,772,701        6,795,555        6,821,014        6,832,502        6,873,606        6,899,218        6,924,889        6,950,137         11,990,773       12,042,333       12,094,115       


Net Escrow Payments/Funding -                       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     5,000,000         -                     -                     (6,127,138)       


Interest Paid (accrued interest varies by month) 25,247              22,854             25,459             11,488             41,104             25,612             25,671             25,248             40,636             51,560             51,782             38,831             
Ending Escrow Balance1


6,772,701      6,795,555    6,821,014    6,832,502    6,873,606    6,899,218    6,924,889    6,950,137    11,990,773   12,042,333   12,094,115   6,005,808     
1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Actual Forecast 2007-F-05







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-05 & 2008-F-02


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow Cash Balance1


Beginning Balance


Net Escrow Payments/Funding


Interest Paid (accrued interest varies by month)


Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
January February March April May June July August September October November December


6,236,032        7,346,291        6,705,691        5,884,180        5,121,749        4,622,308        4,197,094        4,518,851        4,426,143         4,221,733        4,713,234        5,671,161        


178,187           178,187           178,187           178,187           178,187           178,187           178,187           178,187           178,187           178,187           178,187           178,187           


6,414,219    7,524,478    6,883,878    6,062,367    5,299,936    4,800,495    4,375,281    4,697,038    4,604,330     4,399,920    4,891,421    5,849,348    


1,064,373        2,192,240        2,959,117        900,635           838,273           1,736,303        850,382           850,382           1,731,311         870,029           870,029           1,915,064        


1,508,401        1,844,511        2,123,970        2,161,005        2,011,150        2,830,164        2,514,212        2,146,509        3,056,435         3,127,868        7,190,117        19,692,823       


383,834           383,834           383,834           378,890           378,890           378,890           378,890           378,890           378,890           378,890           378,890           378,890           


2,293,364        505,525           505,525           505,525           510,482           504,382           512,177           512,583           511,923           513,823           489,102           489,502           


487,451           174,764           169,967           170,650           164,394           158,363           160,679           158,769           165,101           185,176           160,982           152,410           


5,737,423    5,100,874    6,142,413    4,116,705    3,903,189    5,608,102    4,416,340    4,047,133    5,843,660     5,075,786    9,089,120    22,628,689   


676,796           2,423,604        741,465           1,945,662        1,396,747        (807,607)          (41,059)            649,905           (1,239,330)       (675,866)          (4,197,699)       (16,779,341)     


56,600,172       57,276,968       59,700,572       60,442,037       62,387,699       63,784,446       62,976,840       62,935,781       63,585,686       62,346,356       61,670,490       57,472,791       


57,276,968   59,700,572   60,442,037   62,387,699   63,784,446   62,976,840   62,935,781   63,585,686   62,346,356   61,670,490   57,472,791   40,693,450   


6,005,808        5,953,389        5,873,209        5,723,946        5,512,569        5,399,372        5,264,230        5,022,833        4,910,085         4,828,872        4,607,906        4,510,853        


(78,077)            (105,552)          (174,143)          (235,484)          (136,607)          (158,020)          (263,467)          (134,058)          (102,106)          (241,212)          (116,616)          (79,357)            


25,657             25,373             24,880             24,107             23,410             22,878             22,070             21,310             20,894             20,246             19,563             19,226             


5,953,389    5,873,209    5,723,946    5,512,569    5,399,372    5,264,230    5,022,833    4,910,085    4,828,872     4,607,906    4,510,853    4,450,722    


Forecast 2008-F-02







August YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,732,551 2,315,145 417,406 21,546,651 19,611,420 1,935,231


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,580,341 1,611,288 (30,947) 13,866,474 13,276,900 589,574


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 314,632 335,585 (20,953) 7,738,498 7,472,052 266,446


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 23,714 27,360 (3,646) 678,116 675,265 2,851


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 13,070 27,800 (14,730) 107,881 166,800 (58,919)
------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 4,664,309 4,317,178 347,131 43,937,621 41,202,437 2,735,183


Conservation Rate Credit - PGE -                     183,333 (183,333) 550,000 916,667 (366,667)


Conservation Rate Credit - Pacificorp -                     133,333 (133,333) -                     666,667 (666,667)
------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------


Total Conservation Rate Credit -                    316,667 (316,667) 550,000 1,583,333 (1,033,333)


Revenue from Investments 289,839 193,753 96,085 2,096,432 1,550,025 546,407
------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 4,954,147 4,827,598 126,550 46,584,053 44,335,796 2,248,257
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 1,352,294 1,401,287 48,993 9,928,909 10,839,613 910,705


Incentives 3,111,688 2,724,590 (387,099) 12,235,677 13,075,185 839,508


Salaries and Related Expenses 339,196 367,397 28,201 2,719,669 2,953,577 233,908


Professional Services 242,102 522,381 280,279 1,901,215 4,140,784 2,239,569


Supplies 1,186 3,354 2,168 15,874 35,333 19,459


Telephone 1,272 6,346 5,074 25,069 50,767 25,698


Postage and Shipping Expenses 936 3,196 2,259 5,137 38,717 33,580


Occupancy Expenses 30,833 31,610 777 252,688 251,311 (1,378)


Noncapitalized Equipment and Depreciation 15,249 32,530 17,281 162,058 225,886 63,828


Call Center 12,574 15,961 3,387 110,732 145,908 35,176


Printing and Publications 18,215 11,392 (6,823) 66,298 116,333 50,036


Travel 10,884 16,517 5,633 65,618 139,134 73,516


Conference, Training and Meeting Expenses 17,087 19,249 2,161 81,597 150,819 69,222


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 0 1,500 1,500 338 12,000 11,662


Insurance 4,880 5,000 120 36,277 40,000 3,723


Miscellaneous Expenses 200 2,124 1,924 1,378 15,825 14,447


Dues, Licenses and Fees 2,386 4,641 2,255 28,062 40,567 12,504


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 5,160,982 5,169,073 8,092 27,636,595 32,271,760 4,635,165


============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (206,834) (341,476) 134,641 18,947,458 12,064,036 6,883,422
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


IS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 20,819,110 1,345,476 22,164,586 -                           22,164,586
Payroll and Related Expenses 595,187 432,778 1,027,965 671,460 261,668 933,128 1,961,093
Outsourced Services 932,683 263,898 1,196,581 178,618 163,557 342,175 1,538,756
Planning and Evaluation 455,257 54,782 510,039 9,445 9,445 519,484
Customer Service Management 207,276 22,359 229,635 -                           229,635


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 23,009,513 2,119,292 25,128,805 859,524 425,225 1,284,749 26,413,554


Program Support Costs


Supplies 2,765 2,254 5,019 3,249 2,188 5,437 10,456
Postage and Shipping Expenses 332 843 1,175 2,274 429 2,703 3,878
Telephone 2,054 1,855 3,909 1,565 323 1,888 5,797
Printing and Publications 32,285 3,654 35,939 3,411 22,463 25,874 61,813
Occupancy Expenses 56,419 40,848 97,267 54,712 25,576 80,288 177,555
Insurance 8,100 5,864 13,964 7,855 3,672 11,527 25,491
Equipment 2,381 1,724 4,105 2,309 1,108 3,417 7,522
Travel 22,860 10,696 33,556 19,536 864 20,400 53,956
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 15,390 7,176 22,566 44,899 3,195 48,094 70,660
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 250 250 88 88 338
Depreciation & Amortization 5,018 3,633 8,651 4,866 2,275 7,141 15,792
Dues, Licenses and Fees 19,551 708 20,259 4,861 2,468 7,329 27,588
Miscellaneous Expenses 417 126 543 349 86 435 978
IT Services 509,849 83,715 593,564 125,912 41,744 167,656 761,220


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 677,421 163,344 840,765 275,887 106,389 382,276 1,223,041


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 23,686,934 2,282,636 25,969,570 1,135,411 531,614 1,667,025 27,636,595


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.6%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2007







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $16,691,934 $10,652,252 $7,738,498 $678,116 $107,881 $35,868,682 $4,854,717 $3,214,222 $8,068,939 $43,937,621
Conservation Rate Credit 550,000 550,000 550,000
Revenue from Investments 2,096,432 2,096,432


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 17,241,934 10,652,252 7,738,498 678,116 107,881 36,418,682 4,854,717 3,214,222 8,068,939 2,096,432 46,584,053
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 746,865 515,493 465,774 38,863 14,998 1,781,993 272,520 160,255 432,775 2,214,768
  Program Delivery 3,570,902 2,789,494 1,135,774 106,951 50,390 7,653,511 9,735 58,219 67,954 7,721,465
  Incentives 5,446,732 2,964,544 2,403,282 123,976 19,623 10,958,157 701,515 576,007 1,277,522 12,235,679
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 311,282 199,091 161,006 10,448 3,449 685,276 45,298 31,203 76,501 761,777
  Program Marketing/Outreach 451,561 315,639 628,847 31,770 14,398 1,442,215 46,494 28,072 74,566 1,516,781
  Program Legal Services 3,335 2,300 3,399 167 46 9,248 20,536 2,904 23,440 32,688
  Program Quality Assurance 28,107 19,436 26,906 1,966 731 77,146 -                -                -                77,146
  Outsourced  Services 108,448 37,602 47,195 1,443 -                194,688 95,134 49,040 144,174 338,862
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 68,980 48,012 86,654 3,107 523 207,277 10,073 12,286 22,359 229,636
  IT Services 217,183 135,168 144,163 9,923 3,411 509,849 52,766 30,950 83,716 593,565
  Other Program Expenses 71,853 44,240 48,099 2,878 504 167,574 49,530 30,099 79,629 247,203


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 11,025,249 7,071,020 5,151,099 331,493 108,074 23,686,934 1,303,601 979,035 2,282,636 25,969,570
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 482,033 309,151 225,210 14,493 4,725 1,035,612 56,995 42,804 99,799 1,135,411
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 206,037 127,291 92,473 8,103 1,289 435,193 58,012 38,409 96,421 531,614


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


  Total Administrative Costs 688,070 436,442 317,683 22,596 6,014 1,470,805 115,007 81,213 196,220 1,667,025
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


  TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 11,713,319 7,507,462 5,468,782 354,089 114,088 25,157,739 1,418,608 1,060,248 2,478,856 27,636,595
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 5,528,615 3,144,790 2,269,716 324,027 (6,207) 11,260,943 3,436,109 2,153,974 5,590,083 2,096,432 18,947,458
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/06 (Note 5) 11,385,547 (8,445,630) 6,870,551 93,292 117,839 10,021,599 25,517,626 9,189,002 34,706,628 4,348,508 49,076,735
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 18,654,162 (4,140,840) 9,140,267 417,319 111,632 24,182,542 28,953,735 13,042,976 41,996,711 1,844,940 68,024,196


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2006 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


IS-ST-YTD-001-bu


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
YEAR TO DATE BY PROGRAM / SERVICE TERRITORY


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 1,837,959 1,320,298 3,158,257 2,777,685 69,421 2,847,106 6,005,363 5,829,505           (175,858)          
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 2,055,719 1,383,620 3,439,339 1,508,116 242,582 114,087 1,864,785 5,304,124 5,654,405           350,281           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 412,073 310,661 722,734 -                         722,734 744,383              21,649             


------------------------------------------------------------ ---------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Residential 4,305,751     3,014,579  7,320,330       4,285,801     312,003  114,087  4,711,891        12,032,221   12,228,293   196,072     


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 1,177,519 797,509 1,975,028 711,481 19,631 731,112 2,706,140 4,237,925           1,531,785         
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 1,723,705 590,350 2,314,055 470,193 22,455 492,648 2,806,703 3,001,416           194,713           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 629,235 474,380 1,103,615 -                         1,103,615 1,235,272           131,657           


------------------------------------------------------------ ---------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Commercial 3,530,459     1,862,239  5,392,698       1,181,674     42,086    -          1,223,760        6,616,458     8,474,613     1,858,155  


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 3,488,201 2,337,447 5,825,648 1,307 1,307 5,826,955 6,500,211           673,256           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 388,908 293,197 682,105 -                         682,105 756,047              73,942             


------------------------------------------------------------ ---------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Industrial 3,877,109     2,630,644  6,507,753       1,307            -          -          1,307               6,509,060     7,256,258     747,198     


------------------------------------------------------------ ---------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 11,713,319   7,507,462  19,220,781     5,468,782     354,089  114,087  5,936,958        25,157,739   27,959,164   2,801,425  
------------------------------------------------------------ ---------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 210,047 50,163 260,210 -                         260,210 642,110              381,900           
Open Solicitation 360,146 39,640 399,786 -                         399,786 577,634              177,848           
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 632,376 767,579 1,399,955 -                         1,399,955 2,093,367           693,412           
Utility Scale Projects 117,597 18,125 135,722 -                         135,722 277,858              142,136           
Wind 98,442 184,741 283,183 -                         283,183 721,623              438,440           


------------------------------------------------------------ ---------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 1,418,608     1,060,248  2,478,856       -               -          -          -                   2,478,856     4,312,592     1,833,736  
------------------------------------------------------------ ---------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 13,131,927   8,567,710  21,699,637     5,468,782     354,089  114,087  5,936,958        27,636,595   32,271,756   4,635,161  


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2007







MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


YTD YTD
QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER


ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


Outsourced Services $35,652 $91,159 $55,506 $155,832 $289,590 $133,758 $18,226 $53,875 $35,649 $163,557 $182,342 $18,785


Legal Services 7,404 26,460 19,056 22,787 70,560 47,773 960 960 2,560 2,560


Salaries and Related Expenses 169,142 247,919 78,777 671,460 675,517 4,057 65,430 86,794 21,364 261,668 231,451 (30,217)


Supplies 86 2,762 2,677 592 7,367 6,775 150 150 946 400 (546)


Telephone 357 338 (19) 875 900 25 1,500 1,500 4,000 4,000


Postage and Shipping Expenses 221 788 566 1,357 2,100 743 13,150 13,150


Noncapitalized Equipment 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 300 300 28 800 772


Printing and Publications 23 150 128 145 400 255 4,170 2,375 (1,795) 20,937 29,533 8,597


Travel 6,539 13,525 6,986 19,530 36,067 16,537 91 1,625 1,534 861 4,333 3,472


Conference, Training & Mtngs 15,304 30,140 14,836 44,893 81,373 36,481 817 2,875 2,058 3,192 7,667 4,475


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 4,550 4,550 88 12,000 11,912


Miscellaneous Expenses 47 300 253 349 800 451 86 (86)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 1,365 1,231 (134) 4,516 6,723 2,207 70 1,191 1,121 2,307 3,177 870


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 20,155 29,952 9,797 77,631 79,555 1,924 9,173 12,113 2,939 36,289 32,172 (4,118)


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 32,413 71,411 38,998 125,912 190,319 64,407 10,746 23,675 12,929 41,744 63,097 21,353


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 2,526 5,003 2,477 9,445 13,337 3,892
------------------ -------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ---------------------- ------------------ -------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 291,234 535,688 244,454 1,135,411 1,476,608 341,197 108,724 187,433 78,709 531,614 574,682 43,067
========== ============== ============= ========== ========== ============ ========== ============== ============= ========== ========== ============


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 2nd  Month of Quarter
Exp-Prog-YTD-002


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Two Months and Year to Date Ended August 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-
$5,000


$10,000
$15,000
$20,000
$25,000
$30,000
$35,000
$40,000
$45,000
$50,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry


Mar
ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t


(i
n


 t
h


o
u


sa
n


d
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2007


$-
$1,000
$2,000
$3,000
$4,000
$5,000
$6,000
$7,000
$8,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry


Mar
ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2007


$-


$500


$1,000


$1,500


$2,000


$2,500


$3,000


$3,500


Ja
nu


ary
Feb


rua
ry


Marc
h


Apri
l


May


Ju
ne Ju


ly
Aug


us
t


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s) Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-


$2,000


$4,000


$6,000


$8,000


$10,000


$12,000


$14,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry


Mar
ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Budget


Actual








R00407 9/21/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 9/21/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 8/31/07 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


Administration


Administration Total:  3,732,358  1,231,195  2,501,162


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total:  660,085  311,325  348,760


Energy Efficiency Programs


Aspen Systems Corporation Production Efficiency PMC 7/1/05 12/31/07 31,196,550  22,252,812  8,943,738


Conservation Services Group, Inc. Home Energy Savings PMC 6/1/05 12/31/07 27,235,737  13,264,952  13,970,784


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/10 19,090,000  8,383,031  10,706,969


Aspen Systems Corporation Building Efficiency PMC 7/1/05 12/31/07 16,133,900  11,848,332  4,285,568


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. New Homes and Products - 


PMC


1/1/07 12/31/08 8,325,265  3,639,036  4,686,229


Science Applications International 


Corporation


NBE - PMC 1/1/06 12/31/07 7,460,911  5,156,808  2,304,103


Nexus Energy Software Internet Energy Audit 4/27/04 4/26/08 584,000  505,580  78,420


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment 


Fund


1/1/07 12/31/08 300,000  150,000  150,000


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 12/31/07 261,586  47,548  214,038


Research Into Action, Inc. PE Process & Impact 


Evaluation


8/6/07 4/30/08 220,000  0  220,000


ECONorthwest HES Impact & Process Eval. 5/25/07 2/28/08 210,000  10,348  199,652


ADM Associates, Inc. BE Impact Evaluation 1/26/06 9/30/07 190,000  135,808  54,192


Multiple Cntractors Solar Water Heating  186,785  177,856  8,929


HST&V, LLC PE Impact Evaluation 12/1/05 9/30/07 180,000  178,547  1,453


ADM Associates, Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation 8/1/06 9/30/07 150,000  68,876  81,124


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 8/15/10 137,500  59,117  78,383


J. Hruska Global HES QA Services 2/21/06 12/31/07 100,000  68,331  31,669


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 90,000  39,630  50,370


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Sgl Fam Load Research 


MOU


7/21/05 7/31/07 87,500  76,139  11,361


Northern Enterprises, LLC dba 


Sears DS No. 3409


Low Income Refrigerators 7/1/07 11/30/07 74,250  0  74,250


Ecotope, Inc. New Comm. Bldg. Baseline 


eval


6/20/06 9/30/07 74,000  58,000  16,000


Opinion Dynamics Corporation ENH Process Evaluation 11/15/06 9/30/07 68,500  37,009  31,491


Dethman & Associates BTU Program Evaluation 12/1/05 9/30/07 54,000  48,580  5,420


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Regional HVAC Forum 


Research


10/16/06 10/15/07 41,000  41,000  0


Cascade Natural Gas Corporation Cascade WA Study 4/30/07 7/31/07 40,000  23,386  16,614


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Reg'l Technical Forum Sponsor. 2/28/07 2/27/08 35,000  35,000  0


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 3/31/08 26,500  10,199  16,301


Thornton Energy, Inc. dba Thornton 


Energy Consulting


Casey Project Energy Star 


LEED


4/1/07 12/31/07 25,000  1,980  23,020


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


OHSU Bldg Performance 


Review


4/19/07 6/30/08 17,000  0  17,000


HST&V, LLC Monitor SP Newsprint 


Megaprjct


4/1/07 10/31/07 15,000  2,154  12,846


Lane Community College Scholarship agreement 1/1/07 12/31/07 14,400  0  14,400


Lewis Consulting, LLC Six Sigma training program PE 8/27/07 11/30/07 13,600  0  13,600


Conservation Services Group New Construct HVAC Pilot 1/1/07 6/29/07 11,610  10,561  1,050


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Regional Server Study 1/31/07 6/30/07 7,500  7,500  0


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2007 EE survey sponsorship 3/27/07 3/26/08 5,000  5,000  0


Entercom Portland, LLC Radio Commercials w/PECI 7/15/07 12/15/07 2,750  0  2,750


Energy Efficiency Total:  112,664,844  66,343,119  46,321,725


Joint Programs


Active Telesource, Inc. Call Center Services 5/1/04 4/30/08 1,435,000  601,548  833,452







R00407 9/21/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 9/21/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 8/31/07 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


Quantum Consulting, Inc. Evaluation Services 8/1/04 8/31/07 350,000  314,876  35,124


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/07 62,000  23,477  38,523


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 52,440  10,271  42,169


RLW Analytics, Inc. Evaluation services 9/1/05 9/30/07 51,000  48,859  2,141


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 3/31/08 48,110  9,117  38,993


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/07 38,500  0  38,500


Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 4/30/08 33,040  33,040  0


Quantec, LLC Evaluation Consultant Services 1/1/06 10/31/07 21,700  13,763  7,938


HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 17,550  9,945  7,606


Brien Sipe Professional Services 5/1/07 12/31/07 15,000  2,920  12,080


Dorothy Payton Solar services 12/23/05 12/31/07 15,000  13,966  1,034


Joint Programs Total:  2,139,340  1,081,781  1,057,559


Renewable Energy Program


Portland General Electric PGE Bigelow Phase 1 6/18/07 6/30/28 6,000,000  0  6,000,000


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East 9/20/06 12/31/07 4,500,000  0  4,500,000


Multiple Cntractors Solar Electric  1,857,357  964,893  892,464


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 7/21/26 1,685,088  0  1,685,088


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 2/17/25 475,000  0  475,000


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


2/24/06 3/13/28 362,000  0  362,000


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 2/21/08 341,266  310,509  30,757


Oregon State University Anemometer Loan Program 10/1/02 9/30/07 235,906  231,780  4,127


RIMCO, LLC OHSU River Campus 58 kW 


PV


9/1/05 9/1/25 186,910  186,910  0


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/07 87,700  72,609  15,091


SmartPower, Inc. Market Research Consultant 6/26/07 10/31/07 80,000  0  80,000


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/1/26 79,815  30,761  49,054


Evergreen Energy Corporation RE consultant services 4/1/06 12/31/07 78,200  69,863  8,337


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


(5) PGE PV Demo Projects 9/25/06 12/31/07 55,500  22,200  33,300


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 7/14/08 49,600  0  49,600


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 3/31/08 43,000  7,350  35,650


RHT Energy Solutions RE Consultant Services 12/1/06 12/31/07 42,500  32,900  9,600


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 5 (2008) 7/1/07 6/30/08 38,391  3,199  35,192


City of Portland Bureau of 


Maintenance


Sunderland Yard Wind System 4/28/05 4/28/25 36,117  0  36,117


Hood River County Biomass Feasibility Study 12/27/06 12/14/07 36,000  0  36,000


Selma Community & Education 


Center


7kW PV Three Rivers School 12/10/04 12/10/29 35,000  0  35,000


Columbia Energy Partners, LLC Interconnection Study Grant 9/20/06 9/30/07 35,000  10,000  25,000


Hat Trick Energy & Environmental 


Consulting, LLC


RE Professional Services 4/27/07 4/30/08 34,200  13,775  20,425


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 5/25/27 32,500  0  32,500


David Barenberg dba Barenberg & 


Associates


Professional Services - RE 5/10/07 4/30/08 30,000  10,756  19,244


City of Astoria Public Works Dept Astoria Hydro/Wind feasibility 3/8/07 8/31/07 25,000  0  25,000


Port of Morrow Port of Morrow biomass feas. 2/8/07 7/31/07 25,000  0  25,000


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 12/31/22 24,125  0  24,125


Greater Applegate Community 


Development Corporation


Applegate Biopower Feasibility 10/2/06 10/1/07 23,963  0  23,963


Inland Pacific Energy Center LLC IPEC Biomass Feasibility Study 11/7/06 9/15/07 23,000  0  23,000


Hood River County Hydropower Feasibility Study 1/30/07 1/15/08 22,000  0  22,000


Water Environment Services, A 


Dept. of Clackamas County


Clackamas Water  biofeasibilty 6/4/07 9/30/07 21,500  0  21,500


Talent Irrigation District Talent Irrigation Hydro Study 2/15/07 3/1/08 20,000  0  20,000


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant 5/9/06 12/31/07 19,845  7,355  12,490


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/07 17,400  16,388  1,013


Oregon Power Solutions, LLC RETAA 5/24/07 5/31/08 16,953  16,953  0







R00407 9/21/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 9/21/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 8/31/07 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


Oregon Department of Agriculture Animal by-product assessment 5/25/07 10/15/07 15,000  0  15,000


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/07 15,000  4,984  10,016


City of Woodburn Woodburn WWTP Feasibility 6/7/07 12/1/07 13,266  0  13,266


Warren Griffin Griffen Wind Project 10/1/05 10/1/20 13,150  1,070  12,080


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service 12/6/05 12/31/07 13,000  10,518  2,482


Northwest SEED Gervais Biopower USDA App. 12/1/06 12/31/07 12,467  12,467  0


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/07 11,400  0  11,400


Oregon Power Solutions, LLC RE Consultant Services 4/5/06 3/31/08 11,000  2,000  9,000


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 5/31/08 8,000  0  8,000


OSEIA-Oregon Solar Energy 


Industries Assoc


OSEIA Funding Grant 5/25/07 1/31/08 6,000  6,000  0


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy fund 


MOU


10/4/06 10/1/07 5,000  0  5,000


China Hollow, LLC China Hollow 9006 grant 4/2/07 12/31/07 4,400  0  4,400


David W. McClain RETAA 5/11/07 4/30/08 3,125  0  3,125


Sherman County Alley Community Wind Farm 9/4/07 10/31/07 2,500  0  2,500


Sherman County Brown Community Wind Farm 9/4/07 10/31/07 2,500  0  2,500


Renewable Energy Total:  16,811,644  2,045,240  14,766,404


 136,008,271  71,012,660  64,995,611Grand Totals:








 
 
Finance Report 
September 30, 2007 
 
Review September 2007 year to date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 
 


The most significant item of note in the September balance sheet is the change in Advances to 
Vendors which represents our normal quarterly advance payment to NEEA. Last month’s 
prepaid advance purchase of approximately $400,000 for CFL bulbs to be used in PECI’s “Fall 
Change a Light” CFL Twister promotion remains in that account. The prepaid amount will be 
reduced as the CFL bulbs are actually distributed; the first report of that usage will arrive in 
October. Otherwise the balance sheet accounts reflect normal monthly activity. 
Cash and investment balances declined slightly in September.  We expect to finish 2007 with a 
little under $65 million in cash and escrows. Of that amount, about $18 million is anticipated to 
be reserved in escrow and board designated accounts. Staff are currently in the process of 
forecasting all year end costs (normal forecasts only include incentives) to give us a better 
perspective of where we will finish the year from a cash perspective. 


 
Income Statements 
 


With the exception of PGE, public purpose revenues for the month tracked pretty closely with 
budget again this month. Collections in excess of budget in PGE service territory more than 
offset the shortfall from the loss of CRC revenue for the month.  On a year to date basis total 
revenue continues to exceed budget by about $2.4 million, with PGE representing $2.3 million 
of that variance. PGE’s previous forecasts did not include the additional collections for the 
residential rate credit decision which was reversed earlier this year.  
Variances continue to modestly improve this month over the previous months, with both total 
revenues and total expenditures tracking more closely to budget. The residential sector 
(existing homes) is continuing to overspend its gas budget; however than variance is still 
expected to come more in line with budget by year end..  


 
Revenue 


• Public purpose revenue above budget by $3.2 million (6.9% variance).  
o PGE 2007 YTD August 


§ EE revenue variance $1.9 million 
§ RE revenue variance $.4 million 


o PacifiCorp 2007 YTD August 
§ EE revenue variance $.5 million 
§ RE revenue variance $.2 million 


o NW Natural YTD August 
§ EE revenue variance $.3 million 


o Cascade YTD August 
§ EE revenue variance .005 million 


o Avista YTD August 
§ EE revenue variance - $.07 million 


• Conservation rate credit revenue variance will continue throughout year 
o Currently below budget by $1.35 million 
o Court ruling on BPA’s residential exchange program will increase variances for 


remainder of year, unless overturned 







Finance Report  September 30, 2007 


 2 


o Only received $550,000 of budgeted $1.1M in PGE revenue 
o Received none of budgeted $800,000 revenue from PacifiCorp 
o Not incurring/reporting any CRC related expenses for either utility 


• Interest income exceeded budget by $637 thousand (37% variance) 
o Higher invested balances than expected; result of reduced spending and more revenue 


 
Expenses 


• Expenses overall below budget by $5.9 million (15.5% variance from budget) 
o By line item 


§ Program management, delivery, marketing $828 thousand (14.1% of expense 
variance) 


• Delivery primarily in commercial sector, then industrial and residential. 
PMC marketing variance (underspent) primarily in residential sector 
where incentives are currently over budget. PMC marketing in the 
commercial sector continues to exceed budget in an effort to improve 
savings attainment 


§ Incentives $1.8 million (31% of expense variance) Forecasted to be about 12% 
below budget by year end., but with all EE programs exceeding conservative 
goals and most exceeding best case electric goals. Expect to achieve 
conservative case gas goals, except in new homes. 


• Commercial sector (45% of incentive variance) 
o New buildings—overspending incentives offsetting shortfall in 


existing buildings 
o Existing buildings 


§ BTO-pilot project $160K from delays in project 
completions 


§ Existing buildings-although underspent, program doing 
well in acquiring savings through lighting projects. 
Buildings in market transition are not doing expensive 
mechanical projects 


• Industrial sector (11% of incentive variance) 
o Program focusing on rebuilding pipeline and creating future 


commitments; forecasted to come in below budget at year end 
by approximately $1.6 million 


• Overspent in residential sector (-14% of incentive variance) 
o Spring lighting and washer campaigns continuing to go better 


than expected 
o Retrofit projects also much better than expected, particularly in 


gas projects 
o New home construction underspending due to market 


conditions 
• Renewable energy (58% of incentive variance) 


o Primarily solar where expenditures for incentives are below 
budget primarily due to decisions by businesses to delay 
installations until legislation to increase the state Business 
Energy Tax Credit from 35% to 50% was enacted.  In PGE 
service territory new caps and new incentive offerings are being 
implemented to improve uptake. Secondarily in Wind, where 
feasibility studies are lagging. 


 
 







Finance Report  September 30, 2007 


 3 


§ Professional services $2.5 million (43% of expense variance) 
• Evaluations—delays in scheduling of some large evaluations  


o EB, NB and PE—work beginning in Fall 
o EH—work began in June 


• Renewables inspection and project analyses still delayed 
• Delayed contracting of IT consultants resulting from delay in letting of 


contract for enterprise architecture study and its results 
• Administrative units-postponement of analysis and implementation 


based on study results and system evaluations 
 


o By division 
§ Energy efficiency 
§ $3.9 million underspent from budget (12%) 


• Electric efficiency under spent $4.5 million 
• Continued good news-gas efficiency over spent $.6 million 


§ Renewable energy   
• $2.0 million under spent from budget (40%)—solar, wind and biopower 


programs 
• Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 


o 5.7%, budgeted at 8.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
o Last year September was 5.9%. Last month’s rate was 5.6%. 








SEP AUG SEP Change from Change from
2007 2007 2006 Prior Month Prior Year


Current Assets
  Cash* 64,176,118 64,989,776 49,695,058 (813,658) 14,481,059
  Program Deposits held in Escrow 6,975,642 6,950,137 2,177,053 25,505 4,798,589
  Receivables 36,852 37,138 92,261 (286) (55,409)
  Prepaid Expenses 477,387 526,950 77,004 (49,562) 400,384
  Advances to Vendors 1,032,996 488,320 966,626 544,676 66,370


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
   Total Current Assets 72,698,995 72,992,321 53,008,002 (293,326) 19,690,993


Fixed Assets
  Computer Hardware and Software 828,520 828,520 790,107 -                      38,413
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                      0
  Office Equipment and Furniture 31,805 31,805 65,620 -                      (33,816)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 973,667 973,667 969,070 -                     4,597
  Less Depreciation (886,814) (880,924) (747,077) (5,890) (139,737)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 86,853 92,743 221,993 (5,890) (135,140)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 36,412 36,412 36,412 -                      -                      
  Deferred Compensation Asset 36,012 34,508 19,180 1,504 16,833


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Other Assets 72,424 70,920 55,591 1,504 16,833


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Assets 72,858,273 73,155,984 53,285,586 (297,711) 19,572,686


============ ============ ============ ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 3,754,440 4,653,941 1,837,905 (899,502) 1,916,535
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 243,728 248,028 217,304 (4,299) 26,424
  Deferred/Unearned Revenue 5,000 5,000 5,000 -                      -                      


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 4,003,168 4,906,969 2,060,209 (903,801) 1,942,959


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 175,652 177,060 190,345 (1,407) (14,693)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 36,012 34,508 19,180 1,504 16,833
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 13,251 13,251 750 -                      12,501


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 224,916 224,819 210,275 97 14,641


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Liabilities 4,228,084 5,131,788 2,270,483 (903,704) 1,957,601


Net Assets
  Current Year Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 19,553,451 18,947,458 14,471,190 605,993 5,082,261
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 6,975,642 6,950,137 2,177,053 25,505 4,798,589
  Board Designated Net Assets - PGE 12,500,000 12,500,000 12,500,000 -                      -                      
  Board Designated Net Assets - P'Corp -                   -                   4,500,000 -                      (4,500,000)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 29,374,410 29,399,914 17,140,175 (25,505) 12,234,235
  Temp. Restricted Net Assets-Beg. of Year 226,686 226,686 226,686 -                      -                      


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Net Assets 68,630,189 68,024,196 51,015,103 605,993 17,615,085


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 72,858,273 73,155,984 53,285,586 (297,711) 19,572,686


============ ============ ============ ============= =============
*Committed to Approved Programs


BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET
September 30, 2007


(Unaudited)







 January February March April May June July August September Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,935,995$     4,713,766$     3,733,210$     3,257,960$     2,244,730$     767,185$        501,447$        (206,834)$       605,993$        19,553,452$      


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 23,338            23,099            23,100            7,501             7,170             9,673             6,766             6,621             5,890             113,158            
Deferred Rent Amortization (1,406)            (1,408)            (1,408)            (1,407)            (1,407)            (1,408)            (1,407)            (1,407)            (1,408)            (12,666)             


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable (2,333)            (11,344)          8,535             (5,843)            9,599             (3,922)            (6,213)            20,528            (3,751)            5,256                
Other Receivables 16,967            5,067             (4,871)            (5,500)            972                2,623             (9,708)            62                  4,036             9,649                
Advances to Vendors 309,115          301,027          (541,037)         224,790          (638,949)         311,239          202,773          345,545          (544,676)         (30,173)             
Other Assets 7,512             5,142             5,914             7,234             (30,582)          3,676             13,861            (478,060)         48,059            (417,244)           
A/P - Program Subcontracts 44,061            (478,910)         65,862            270,423          1,432,136       (611,586)         986,924          335,479          (895,972)         1,148,417          
A/P - Incentives (3,435,761)      -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (3,435,761)        
A/P - Professional Services (15,222)          16,781            (13,143)          (9,489)            20,644            (28,483)          27,189            (8,497)            (2,022)            (12,242)             
A/P - Operations (75,882)          31,845            (54)                 18,070            57,697            (66,776)          (22,716)          41,992            (1,508)            (17,332)             
Payroll and related accruals 6,620             27,020            (10,839)          15,311            (6,262)            (3,315)            9,842             (11,155)          (2,795)            24,427              
Other long-term liabilities -                 (2,646)            -                 -                 16,944            1,296             (18,740)          75                  -                 (3,071)               


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 813,004          4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202          1,690,018       44,349            (788,153)         16,925,870        


Investing Activites:


Acquisition/(Disposal) of Capital Assets (35,874)          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (3,356)            -                 -                 (39,230)             
Cash used in Investing Activities (35,874)          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (3,356)            -                 -                 (39,230)             


Cash at beginning of Period 54,265,120     55,042,250     59,671,689     62,936,958     66,716,008     69,828,700     70,208,902     71,895,564     71,939,913     54,265,120        


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 777,130          4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202          1,686,662       44,349            (788,153)         16,886,640        


Cash at end of period 55,042,250$   59,671,689$   62,936,958$   66,716,008$   69,828,700$   70,208,902$   71,895,564$   71,939,913$   71,151,760$   71,151,760$      


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2007







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-05 & 2008-B-01


2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007
January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,041,711          7,119,632        6,525,491        5,727,906        5,502,427        4,467,534        4,438,611        4,664,309        4,733,285         4,078,625        4,555,811        5,485,837         


  Investment Income 224,763            198,968           261,255           259,515           283,915           272,704           293,953           310,367           280,557           250,000           200,000           100,000           


Total cash in 6,266,474      7,318,600    6,786,746    5,987,421    5,786,342    4,740,238    4,732,564    4,974,676    5,013,842     4,328,625    4,755,811    5,585,837     


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 811,814            835,290           1,446,011        648,784           511,496           1,351,162        220,068           671,133           2,920,863         1,039,807        1,958,135        1,064,373         


    Incentives 4,008,889          1,270,029        1,511,745        976,287           1,382,467        2,198,130        2,083,920        3,111,688        2,197,618         3,290,569        4,062,453        6,748,496         


    Salaries and related expense 318,210            331,121           336,260           337,468           354,640           339,038           325,359           350,351           375,272           379,846           385,421           391,682           


    Professional services 146,199            198,709           152,383           201,102           308,139           332,535           321,770           250,599           253,657           524,281           508,156           508,556           


    General operating expenses 204,232            54,012             75,078             44,730             116,908           139,171           94,785             546,556           54,585             181,684           157,869           149,547           


Total cash out 5,489,344      2,689,161    3,521,477    2,208,371    2,673,650    4,360,036    3,045,902    4,930,327    5,801,995     5,416,187    7,072,034    8,862,654     


Net cash flow for the month 777,130            4,629,439        3,265,269        3,779,050        3,112,692        380,202           1,686,662        44,349             (788,153)          (1,087,562)       (2,316,223)       (3,276,817)       


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 54,265,120        55,042,250       59,671,689       62,936,958       66,716,008       69,828,700       70,208,902       71,895,564       71,939,913       71,151,760       70,064,197       67,747,974       


Ending cash & MM 55,042,250    59,671,689   62,936,958   66,716,008   69,828,700   70,208,902   71,895,564   71,939,913   71,151,760   70,064,197   67,747,974   64,471,157   


Escrow & Designated Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 19,247,454        19,272,701       19,295,555       19,321,014       19,332,502       19,373,606       19,399,218       19,424,889       19,450,137       19,475,642       24,513,527       24,561,557       
Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding -                       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                      5,000,000        -                     (127,138)          
Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 25,247              22,854             25,459             11,488             41,104             25,612             25,671             25,248             25,505             37,884             48,031             47,969             
Board Designated (Payments)/Funding -                     -                     (6,000,000)       


Ending Escrow & Designated Balance1
19,272,701    19,295,555   19,321,014   19,332,502   19,373,606   19,399,218   19,424,889   19,450,137   19,475,642   24,513,527   24,561,557   18,482,388   


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Actual Forecast 2007-F-05







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-05 & 2008-B-01


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow & Designated Cash Balance
Beginning Balance
Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding
Interest Paid on Escrow Balances


Board Designated (Payments)/Funding


Ending Escrow & Designated Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
January February March April May June July August September October November December


6,350,356        6,628,777        6,031,882        5,898,163        5,175,218        4,741,207        4,733,714        4,528,990        4,826,542         4,833,126        4,748,054        5,513,169        


228,389           231,197           241,006           251,614           257,319           258,900           259,327           259,091           258,129           256,207           243,818           198,604           


6,578,744    6,859,973    6,272,888    6,149,777    5,432,537    5,000,106    4,993,041    4,788,081    5,084,671     5,089,333    4,991,871    5,711,773    


1,064,374        2,453,882        2,428,028        1,265,078        1,191,445        2,055,285        1,191,845        1,192,045        2,095,647         1,224,285        1,224,285        1,446,784        


9,755,670        3,361,889        3,673,254        4,222,663        2,735,556        2,760,727        3,032,970        4,224,194        4,531,208         4,891,098        5,351,504        6,297,137        


515,399           515,399           515,399           515,399           515,399           515,399           515,399           515,399           515,399           515,399           515,399           515,399           


508,156           439,584           439,584           439,584           522,867           492,917           496,917           502,534           502,534           506,034           489,706           490,256           


160,887           166,144           156,038           220,605           212,739           212,523           171,376           164,661           185,004           158,667           153,525           148,327           


12,004,486   6,936,898    7,212,303    6,663,329    5,178,006    6,036,851    5,408,507    6,598,834    7,829,792     7,295,483    7,734,419    8,897,904    


(5,425,742)       (76,925)            (939,415)          (513,552)          254,530           (1,036,745)       (415,467)          (1,810,753)       (2,745,121)       (2,206,150)       (2,742,547)       (3,186,131)       


64,471,157       59,045,414       58,968,490       58,029,075       57,515,523       57,770,054       56,733,309       56,317,842       54,507,089       51,761,968       49,555,818       46,813,270       


59,045,414   58,968,490   58,029,075   57,515,523   57,770,054   56,733,309   56,317,842   54,507,089   51,761,968   49,555,818   46,813,270   43,627,140   


18,482,388       18,452,061       18,394,083       18,267,145       18,078,235       17,987,646       17,875,238       17,656,724       17,567,003       17,508,939       17,311,259       17,237,634       
(78,077)            (105,552)          (174,143)          (235,484)          (136,607)          (158,020)          (263,467)          (134,058)          (102,106)          (241,212)          (116,616)          (79,357)            
47,750             47,574             47,205             46,575             46,017             45,612             44,952             44,337             44,042             43,532             42,991             42,771             


-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                      -                     -                     -                     


18,452,061   18,394,083   18,267,145   18,078,235   17,987,646   17,875,238   17,656,724   17,567,003   17,508,939   17,311,259   17,237,634   17,201,047   


Budget 2008-B-01-NO838







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2007
(Unaudited)


September YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,775,711 2,383,504 392,207 24,322,362 21,994,924 2,327,438


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,634,347 1,593,782 40,565 15,500,821 14,870,682 630,139


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 283,321 278,725 4,597 8,021,819 7,750,777 271,043


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 26,835 24,912 1,924 704,951 700,177 4,774


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 13,070 27,800 (14,730) 120,952 194,600 (73,648)
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 4,733,285 4,308,723 424,562 48,670,906 45,511,160 3,159,746


Conservation Rate Credit - PGE -                183,333 (183,333) 550,000 1,100,000 (550,000)


Conservation Rate Credit - Pacificorp -                133,333 (133,333) -                800,000 (800,000)
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


Total Conservation Rate Credit -               316,667 (316,667) 550,000 1,900,000 (1,350,000)


Revenue from Investments 284,308 193,753 90,555 2,380,740 1,743,779 636,961
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 5,017,593 4,819,143 198,450 51,601,646 49,154,939 2,446,707
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 1,484,251 1,401,287 (82,964) 11,413,160 12,240,901 827,740


Incentives 2,197,618 3,174,884 977,266 14,433,295 16,250,069 1,816,774


Salaries and Related Expenses 372,477 367,397 (5,080) 3,092,146 3,320,974 228,829


Professional Services 251,635 524,281 272,646 2,152,849 4,665,064 2,512,215


Supplies 2,332 3,354 1,022 18,206 38,687 20,481


Telephone 2,595 6,346 3,750 27,665 57,113 29,448


Postage and Shipping Expenses 482 3,196 2,714 5,618 41,913 36,294


Occupancy Expenses 28,610 31,610 3,001 281,298 282,921 1,623


Noncapitalized Equipment and Depreciation 19,990 51,890 31,900 182,047 277,776 95,728


Call Center 10,394 16,042 5,648 121,126 161,950 40,824


Printing and Publications 21,962 11,392 (10,571) 88,260 127,725 39,465


Travel 6,748 16,517 9,769 72,366 155,651 83,285


Conference, Training and Meeting Expenses 5,625 19,249 13,623 87,222 170,068 82,845


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 0 1,550 1,550 338 13,550 13,212


Insurance 4,880 5,000 120 41,157 45,000 3,843


Miscellaneous Expenses 0 2,124 2,124 1,378 17,950 16,571


Dues, Licenses and Fees 2,002 4,641 2,639 30,064 45,208 15,143


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 4,411,600 5,640,758 1,229,158 32,048,195 37,912,517 5,864,322


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 605,993 (821,615) 1,427,608 19,553,451 11,242,421 8,311,029
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


IS-Acct-YTD-001







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 24,306,398 1,540,057 25,846,455 -                           25,846,455
Payroll and Related Expenses 670,783 494,279 1,165,062 762,616 296,520 1,059,136 2,224,198
Outsourced Services 992,497 401,000 1,393,497 187,056 180,657 367,713 1,761,210
Planning and Evaluation 512,613 61,684 574,297 10,635 10,635 584,932
Customer Service Management 230,011 25,020 255,031 -                           255,031


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 26,712,302 2,522,040 29,234,342 960,307 477,177 1,437,484 30,671,826


Program Support Costs


Supplies 3,215 2,616 5,831 3,872 2,396 6,268 12,099
Postage and Shipping Expenses 407 910 1,317 2,449 465 2,914 4,231
Telephone 2,196 1,968 4,164 1,712 389 2,101 6,265
Printing and Publications 49,451 5,863 55,314 3,987 23,653 27,640 82,954
Occupancy Expenses 62,096 45,697 107,793 60,845 28,260 89,105 196,898
Insurance 9,085 6,686 15,771 8,902 4,135 13,037 28,808
Equipment 2,578 1,897 4,475 2,526 1,201 3,727 8,202
Travel 25,358 12,040 37,398 21,043 1,740 22,783 60,181
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 15,009 7,592 22,601 47,073 3,895 50,968 73,569
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 250 250 88 88 338
Depreciation & Amortization 5,322 3,917 9,239 5,215 2,422 7,637 16,876
Dues, Licenses and Fees 19,823 912 20,735 5,131 3,345 8,476 29,211
Miscellaneous Expenses 417 126 543 349 86 435 978
IT Services 572,352 94,384 666,736 141,959 47,064 189,023 855,759


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 767,309 184,858 952,167 305,151 119,051 424,202 1,376,369


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 27,479,611 2,706,898 30,186,509 1,265,458 596,228 1,861,686 32,048,195


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.7%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2007







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding 18,845,963     11,907,506      8,021,819       704,951         120,952         39,601,191      5,476,399       3,593,315       9,069,714       -                48,670,906       
Conservation Rate Credit 550,000         -                 -                -                -                550,000          -                -                -                -                550,000            
Revenue from Investments -                -                 -                -                -                -                 -                -                -                2,380,740       2,380,740         


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 19,395,963 11,907,506 8,021,819 704,951 120,952 40,151,191 5,476,399 3,593,315 9,069,714 2,380,740 51,601,646
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------


EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 853,588         593,152          525,957         43,759           16,824           2,033,280        312,720         181,554         494,274         -                2,527,554         
  Program Delivery 4,131,595       3,177,030        1,295,146       122,194         56,987           8,782,952        9,735             61,737           71,472           -                8,854,424         
  Incentives 6,240,129       3,787,674        2,769,234       146,438         21,234           12,964,709      757,990         710,596         1,468,586       -                14,433,295       
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 341,299         227,726          178,899         12,061           3,924             763,908          50,297           33,106           83,403           -                847,311            
  Program Marketing/Outreach 537,852         372,107          683,152         37,499           17,270           1,647,880        143,577         34,742           178,319         -                1,826,199         
  Program Legal Services 3,707             2,582              3,807             190               50                 10,336            21,217           3,503             24,720           -                35,056              
  Program Quality Assurance 29,671           20,641            28,862           2,158             771               82,104            -                -                -                -                82,104              
  Outsourced  Services 108,785         39,539            47,287           1,508             -                197,119          122,405         53,840           176,245         -                373,364            
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 77,125           53,947            94,880           3,497             563               230,012          11,520           13,500           25,020           -                255,032            
  IT Services 240,381         154,692          161,878         11,526           3,875             572,352          60,025           34,359           94,384           -                666,736            
  Other Program Expenses 82,671           55,676            52,941           3,118             552               194,958          56,490           33,985           90,475           -                285,433            


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 12,646,803 8,484,767 5,842,043 383,949 122,049 27,479,611 1,545,976 1,160,922 2,706,898 -            30,186,509
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------


ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 530,171         355,693          244,906         16,096           5,116             1,151,982        64,809           48,667           113,476         -                1,265,458         
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 234,950         144,239          97,171           8,539             1,465             486,364          66,337           43,527           109,864         -                596,228            


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------


  Total Administrative Costs 765,121 499,932 342,077 24,635 6,581 1,638,346 131,146 92,194 223,340 -            1,861,686
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM & ADMIN EXPEN 13,411,924 8,984,699 6,184,120 408,584 128,630 29,117,957 1,677,122 1,253,116 2,930,238 -            32,048,195
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 5,984,039 2,922,807 1,837,699 296,367 (7,678) 11,033,234 3,799,277 2,340,199 6,139,476 2,380,740 19,553,452
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ============


Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/06 (Note 5) 11,385,547     (8,445,630)      6,870,551       93,292           117,839         10,021,599      25,517,626     9,189,002       34,706,628     4,348,508       49,076,735       
Interest attributed 1,740,000       1,160,000        -                -                -                2,900,000        -                1,700,000       1,700,000       (4,600,000)     -                   


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ============


 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 19,109,586 (4,362,823) 8,708,250 389,659 110,161 23,954,833 29,316,903 13,229,201 42,546,104 2,129,248 68,630,189


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2006 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


IS-ST-YTD-001-bu


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
YEAR TO DATE BY PROGRAM / SERVICE TERRITORY


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2007
(Unaudited)







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 2,140,415 1,517,501 3,657,916 3,126,691 81,744 3,208,435 6,866,351 7,223,101           356,750              
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 2,268,664 1,527,137 3,795,801 1,723,803 282,039 128,630 2,134,472 5,930,273 6,536,828           606,555              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 464,828 350,138 814,966 -                         814,966 833,913              18,947                


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Residential 4,873,907     3,394,776     8,268,683       4,850,494     363,783  128,630  5,342,907        13,611,590   14,593,842   982,252        


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 1,345,418 1,020,074 2,365,492 831,968 19,520 851,488 3,216,980 4,861,935           1,644,955           
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 1,865,023 670,384 2,535,407 500,355 25,281 525,636 3,061,043 3,453,391           392,348              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 722,946 544,569 1,267,515 -                         1,267,515 1,381,823           114,308              


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Commercial 3,933,387     2,235,027     6,168,414       1,332,323     44,801    -          1,377,124        7,545,538     9,697,149     2,151,611     


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 4,153,932 3,015,401 7,169,333 1,303 1,303 7,170,636 7,883,449           712,813              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 450,698 339,495 790,193 -                         790,193 842,274              52,081                


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Industrial 4,604,630     3,354,896     7,959,526       1,303            -          -          1,303               7,960,829     8,725,723     764,894        


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 13,411,924   8,984,699     22,396,623     6,184,120     408,584  128,630  6,721,334        29,117,957   33,016,714   3,898,757     
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 241,412 58,614 300,026 -                         300,026 718,926              418,900              
Open Solicitation 388,493 44,557 433,050 -                         433,050 663,218              230,168              
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 794,165 925,963 1,720,128 -                         1,720,128 2,358,856           638,728              
Utility Scale Projects 135,117 20,928 156,045 -                         156,045 312,449              156,404              
Wind 117,935 203,054 320,989 -                         320,989 842,354              521,365              


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 1,677,122     1,253,116     2,930,238       -               -          -          -                   2,930,238     4,895,803     1,965,565     
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 15,089,046   10,237,815   25,326,861     6,184,120     408,584  128,630  6,721,334        32,048,195   37,912,517   5,864,322     


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2007







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Three Months and Year to Date Ended September 30, 2007
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


QUARTER YTD QUARTER YTD


ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $42,766 $91,159 $48,393 $162,945 $319,976 $157,031 $35,326 $53,875 $18,549 $180,657 $200,300 $19,643


Legal Services 8,728 26,460 17,732 24,111 79,380 55,269 960 960 2,880 2,880


Salaries and Related Expenses 260,299 247,919 (12,380) 762,616 758,156 (4,460) 100,282 86,794 (13,488) 296,520 260,383 (36,137)


Supplies 240 2,762 2,522 747 8,287 7,541 150 150 946 450 (496)


Telephone 357 338 (19) 875 1,013 138 1,500 1,500 4,500 4,500


Postage and Shipping Expenses 314 788 474 1,449 2,363 914 13,150 13,150


Noncapitalized Equipment 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 300 300 28 900 872


Printing and Publications 39 150 111 162 450 288 5,110 2,375 (2,735) 21,876 30,325 8,449


Travel 8,045 13,525 5,480 21,036 40,575 19,539 967 1,625 658 1,737 4,875 3,138


Conference, Training & Mtngs 17,477 30,140 12,663 47,066 91,420 44,353 1,517 2,875 1,358 3,892 8,625 4,733


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 4,550 4,550 88 13,550 13,462


Miscellaneous Expenses 47 300 253 349 900 551 86 (86)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 1,365 1,231 (134) 4,516 7,134 2,618 822 1,191 369 3,059 3,574 515


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 29,428 29,952 524 86,904 89,539 2,635 13,248 12,113 (1,135) 40,364 36,209 (4,155)


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 48,460 71,411 22,951 141,959 216,725 74,766 16,066 23,675 7,609 47,064 71,851 24,787


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 3,716 5,003 1,287 10,635 15,026 4,391
------------------ ------------------ ---------------------- ------------------ ------------------ ---------------------- ------------------ ------------------ ---------------------- ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 421,281 535,688 114,406 1,265,458 1,654,494 389,036 173,338 187,433 14,096 596,228 638,022 41,794
========= ========= ============ ========= ========= ============ ========= ========= ============ ========= ========= ============


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Exp-Prog-YTD-003







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-


$10,000


$20,000


$30,000


$40,000


$50,000


$60,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry


Mar
ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


(i
n


 t
h


o
u


sa
n


d
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2007


$-
$1,000
$2,000
$3,000
$4,000
$5,000
$6,000
$7,000
$8,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry


Mar
ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2007


$-


$500


$1,000


$1,500


$2,000


$2,500


$3,000


$3,500


Ja
nu


ary
Feb


rua
ry


Marc
h


Apri
l


May


Ju
ne Ju


ly
Aug


us
t


Sep
tem


be
r


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s) Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-
$2,000
$4,000
$6,000
$8,000


$10,000
$12,000
$14,000
$16,000
$18,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Budget


Actual





